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Company Profile

The Company was founded in 2007, and its H shares were listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
in June 2015 (Stock Code: 1528) and its A shares were listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange in January 2018 (Stock
Code: 601828).

As a leading home improvement and furnishings shopping mall operator in China, the Group mainly engages in the
business of offering comprehensive services to the merchants, consumers and partners of the home improvement
and furnishings shopping malls under “Red Star Macalline” through the operation and management of both Portfolio
Shopping Malls and Managed Shopping Malls. The Group is also involved in pan-home furnishings consumption,
including internet home decoration, internet retail, as well as logistics and delivery services.

According to the statistics of Frost & Sullivan, the Group is a nationwide home improvement and furnishings shopping
mall operator in China which ranks first in terms of area of operational premises, the number of malls, and the
geographic coverage. As at the end of the Reporting Period, we operated 256 shopping malls with a total operating
area of 15,137,728 sq.m. in 177 cities in 29 provinces, municipalities and autonomous regions in China. The malls offer
more than 20,000 brands in total. According to the statistics of Frost & Sullivan, in 2017, the Group had a 13.5% market
share in the chain home improvement and furnishings retail mall sector and a 5.3% mall sector market share, owning
the largest relevant market share in China’s rapidly growing home improvement and furnishings retail industry.

The Group has been committed to “building warm and harmonious homes and enhancing taste for consumption
and home life”, and will continue to follow the operation and management mode of “market-oriented and
shopping-mall-based management”. The Company will further strengthen its cooperation with home improvement
and furnishings manufacturers and distributors, and persistently optimize the structure of brands operated by us in
home improvement and furnishings shopping malls. We are able to provide consumers with better services and better
understandings of the home culture philosophy.

In the future, the Group will continue to implement the two-pronged business model, with a focus on continuing
development of our asset-light business model and strategically expanding our shopping mall network nationwide in
order to further enhance our market share, and thereby persistently strengthening our market leadership in China’s
home improvement and furnishings industry. Meanwhile, we will gradually expand the application of the Internet
pan-home improvement and furnishings consumption business based on our physical shopping malls network and
strengthen the “Red Star Macalline” brand as the expert of home living in the minds of consumers with integrated online
and offline operations. As such, the Company aims at becoming China’s most professional and advanced “omni-channel
platform provider in home improvement and furnishings industry”.
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Financial and Operational Highlights

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

For the year ended 31 December
2017 2016

(Audited) (Audited, restated)

(in thousands of RMB,
except otherwise stated)

Revenue 10,959,513 9,436,082
Gross profit 7,796,319 6,823,314
Gross profit margin 71.1% 72.3%
Net profit 4,278,014 3,673,442
Net profit attributable to owners of the Company 4,077,898 3,397,183
Net profit margin attributable to owners of the Company 37.2% 36.0%
Net profit attributable to owners of the Company after deducting

non-recurring profit or loss 2,305,431 2,072,652
Net profit margin attributable to owners of the Company after deducting

non-recurring profit or loss 21.0% 22.0%
Earnings per share (basic) RMB1.13 RMBO0.94
Dividend per share (tax inclusive) RMBO0.32 RMBO0.42

Key Financial Performance Indicators

RMB million
12,000
10,960
10,000 9436
8,000 I~
4,000 - 4,078
3,397
2,000 [~ 2,073 2,305
0 J
Operating Net profit Net profit
revenue attributable attributable to
to owners of owners of
the Company the Company
after deducting
non-recurring
profit or loss
2016 2017
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Financial and Operational Highlights

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

As at 31 As at 31

December 2017 December 2016

Number of shopping malls 256 200
Operating area of shopping malls (sg.m.) 15,137,728 12,692,393
Number of Portfolio Shopping Malls 71 66
Operating area of Portfolio Shopping Malls (sg.m.) 5,705,954 5,083,326
Average occupancy rate of Portfolio Shopping Malls 97.6% 96.7%
Number of Managed Shopping Malls 185 134
Operating area of Managed Shopping Malls (sq.m.) 9,431,775 7,609,067
Average occupancy rate of Managed Shopping Malls 97.6% 96.2%
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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual result report of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2017 to all shareholders:

In 2017, the Group’s operating revenue amounted to RMB10,960 million; net profit attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to RMB4,078 million; and net profit attributable to owners of the Company after deducting non-
recurring profit and loss amounted to RMB2,305 million. We are willing to share our development outcomes with
shareholders while enjoying satisfactory financial results. It was pleased to announce at the 2017 Board meeting that
the 2017 cash dividend per share was RMBO0.32 (tax inclusive), representing a 54.7% dividend payout ratio of net profit
attributable to owners of the Company after deducting non-recurring profit and loss.

In recent years, with the continuous increase of China’s national income, and people’s higher requirement in quality
life, the home improvement and furnishings industry has entered a material strategic opportunities period of rapid
development. We should capitalize on the development opportunities arising from the home improvement and
furnishings industry, be committed to “building warm and harmonious homes and enhancing taste for consumption and
home life”, follow the operation and management mode of “market-oriented and shopping-mall-based management”,
continue to provide consumers with better and professional service, and strengthen the “Red Star Macalline” brand as
the expert of home living in the minds of consumers, and, meanwhile, grow into a new benchmark retailer in the home
improvement and furnishings industry to lead the industry in its evolvement.

CAPITALIZING ON THE DEVELOPMENT OPPORTUNITIES ARISING
FROM THE HOME IMPROVEMENT AND FURNISHINGS INDUSTRY

Home furnishing is closely related to people’s daily life and standard of living. Along with the growth in disposable
income, people’s enhanced standard of living and higher requirement in quality life, the home furnishing market in
China has experienced a rapid development in the past five years. The “overall stable and improving” development
trend, the continuous promotion of urbanization process and the increase of citizens’ income level provide favorable
conditions for the continuing development of social consumer goods market; meanwhile, compared with the overall
performance in social consumer goods market, the market performance of home improvement and furnishings industry
was stronger, which indicated the increasing domestic demand for home improvement and furnishings. In addition,
the second interior decoration and the consumption upgrade for home appliance also bring room for continuous
development for the industry.

According to the independent authoritative market research institutions, in 2017, the total retail sales of China’s home
improvement and furnishings industry reached a high level of nearly RMB4.5 trillion and the home furniture retail
market in the PRC recorded rapid growth of CAGR of 12.4% from 2012 to 2017; however, when it comes to per capita
consumption, there is still an obvious gap between China and developed countries, such as the United States and the
United Kingdom. Along with the continued steady growth in China’s macro economy and people’s constantly enhanced
taste and requirement in living, the industry will grow rapidly at a pace faster than that of GDP growth in the coming five
years.

Red Star Macalline Group Corporation Ltd.
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Chairman’s Statement

CONSOLIDATING OUR LEADING POSITION IN THE HOME
IMPROVEMENT AND FURNISHINGS INDUSTRY

According to the independent authoritative market research institutions, we are a nationwide home improvement and
furnishings shopping mall operator in China which ranks first in terms of area of operational premises, the number of
malls, the geographic coverage, and with the most relevant market share in China’s rapidly growing home improvement
and furnishings retail industry. As at the end of the Reporting Period, we have operated 256 shopping malls in mainland
China with a total operating area of more than 15,137 thousand sqg.m.. However, compared with the home furnishing
markets in United States and other developed countries, the market concentration of home furnishings industry in
mainland China is significantly lower. As one of the most influential home furnishings enterprises in mainland China, we
not only have absolute market superiority, but also have great room for growth and integration potential.

BUILDING A NEW BENCHMARK RETAILER IN THE HOME
IMPROVEMENT AND FURNISHINGS INDUSTRY, CONSTRUCTING
NEW LAYOUT OF RETAILS

In order to build the Group into a new benchmark retailer in the home improvement and furnishings industry, we will
continue to expand our business scale through applying the two-pronged development model of Portfolio Shopping
Malls and Managed Shopping Malls, take advantage of the existing network layout and influence of brand, and
proactively explore various scalable business. At the same time, we integrate the use of the Internet, big data and
other technologies, and develop comprehensive pan-home service system to provide consumers with one-stop service,
explore the platform value of the Company.

As one of the most influential home furnishings enterprises in mainland China, we have always been committed, with
a view to truly understand and serve the demands from consumers, to providing consumers with a reliable circulation
platform which may integrate sufficient home improvement and furnishings industry brands, providing professional
shopping guide service and in-depth experience service, assuring the quality and ecofriendly attributes of products
circulated on the platform, and offering reliable distribution, installation and after-sale services. Meanwhile, we
gradually expanded the application of the internet-related products and services in home improvement and furnishings
business on the basis of our physical shopping malls network, including introducing online shopping malls, online home
decoration, consumer financing and other expanding businesses, so as to address diversified demands of consumers
in an integrated and close-loop manner and enhance the integrated 020 experience of consumers. All these measures
are adopted to make our omni-channel circulation platform the most valuable one in the home improvement and
furnishings industry. We will continue to promote cross-boundary integration, online and offline integration as well
as synergy in various scope, unification of internal and external trading through new retail, and construct new layout
through integration and synergy.

2017 Annual Report



Chairman’s Statement

SEIZING THE OPPORTUNITIES AND PROMOTING FORWARD-
LOOKING DEVELOPMENT TO LEAD THE INDUSTRY IN ITS
EVOLVEMENT

Nowadays, the world has entered into a digital era, and the level of digitalization determines the long-term
competitiveness of an enterprise or institution, home improvement and furnishings industry is of no exception. We
are implementing a digitalized strategy, aiming to enhance the Group’s long-term competitiveness and embrace new
development opportunities by virtue of internet, big data, cloud computing and other information technologies to
continuously push forward informatized construction and by further upgrading and reconstruction of optimization of
management flow, transformation of financial functions, system research and development, information application and
other aspects.

Household intelligentization is another significant development trend of the home improvement and furnishings industry.
In the previous year, we have actively carried out strategic layout in the smart household field. At the same time, we
have attempted asset securitization in respect of properties of Portfolio Shopping Malls and deeply integrated upstream
and downstream resources via investments and mergers and acquisitions, in an effort to expand the business scale,
reinforce the strength of the Group, and to lead the industry in its evolvement.

The achievements made by the Company were reflective of the efforts of all individuals of Red Star Macalline. | would
like to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude, on behalf of the Board, to all staff for their hard work and
all shareholders and stakeholders for giving us trust and confidence. In the coming year, we will consistently adhere
to the “spirit of craftsman” to improve ourselves as well as promote our national living quality and spread culture of
furnishings through diligence and care in the home improvement and furnishings industry, and to gain more returns to
our shareholders.

CHE Jianxing
Chairman

28 March 2018

Red Star Macalline Group Corporation Ltd.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

INDUSTRY REVIEW

In 2017, facing the complex and volatile domestic and overseas economic environment, together with the effect of
policies such as the structural reforms of supply side policies, the appropriate expansion of total demand and the
steady promotion of reforms, the national economy maintained an overall stable and improving development trend,
which was better than expectations, and realized a steady and sound development.

According to the statistics of the National Bureau of Statistics of the People’s Republic of China, in 2017, the GDP of
China grew by 6.9% on a year-on-year basis calculated based on the comparable price, while the national disposable
income per capita increased by 9.0% on a year-on-year basis, with an actual growth rate of 7.3% after deducting price
factors. During the same period, the accumulative value of retail sales of social consumer goods increased by 10.2%,
while the accumulative value of retail sales of furniture category and construction and decoration material categories
increased by 11.5%, both on a year-on-year basis. According to the statistics of Frost & Sullivan, in 2017, the retail
sales of the home improvement and furnishings retail market in China increased to RMB2,953.2 billion, grew by 13.7%
on a year-on-year basis. The CAGR in the coming five years is expected to be 10.9%, and the growth in the industry will
be higher than that of China’s macro economy.

Retail Sales Valume (in billion) Growth rate (%)
6,000 CAGR=10.9% 100%
49514
5,000 4,506.2 80%
4,000 CAGR=124% 3,713.7 T
3,318.2 60%
2,953.2
3,000 2,597.6
2,375.0
L8729 2,116.5 40%
2,000 1,645.8 R
1,000 13.8% 13.0% 12.2% 13.7% 20%
0 0%

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018E 2019E 2020E 2021E 2022E

Retail Sales Value (left axis) —&— Growth rate (right axis)
Source: Frost & Sullivan

According to the statistics of Frost & Sullivan, in 2017, the Group had a 13.5% market share in the chain home
improvement and furnishings retail mall sector and a 5.3% mall sector market share in terms of sales volume, owning
the largest relevant market share in China’s rapidly growing home improvement and furnishings retail industry.

The “overall stable and improving” development trend, which was better than expectations, the continuous promotion
of urbanization process and the increase of citizens’ income level provide favourable conditions for the continuing
development of social consumer goods market; meanwhile, compared with the overall performance in social consumer
goods market, the market performance of home improvement and furnishings industry was stronger, which indicated
the increasing domestic demand for home improvement and furnishings. In addition, the second interior decoration and
the consumption upgrade for home appliance also bring room for continuous development for the industry.

2017 Annual Report



Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

1. Business development and presence: stable development of shopping malls and strategic presence
with a nationwide coverage

As at the end of the Reporting Period, we operated a total of 256 shopping malls with a total operating area of
15,137,728 sq.m. in 177 cities in 29 provinces, municipalities, and autonomous regions in China. Through the
two-pronged business model of Portfolio Shopping Malls and Managed Shopping Malls, we occupied properties
in prime locations of Tier | and Tier Il Cities, and at the same time accumulated extensive experience in
operating shopping malls, constantly strengthened the brand value, and set a relatively high barrier to entry for
other companies.

The following map sets forth the geographical distribution of our shopping malls as at the end of the Reporting
Period:

Heilongjiang

Inner Mongolia Aﬂ

Qinghai

Sichuan

A@ A liang., Chongging Ae

A 71 Portfolio Shopping Malls
. 185 Managed Shopping Malls

Red Star Macalline Group Corporation Lid. 11




Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

1. Business development and presence: stable development of shopping malls and strategic presence
with a nationwide coverage (Continued)

The following table sets forth the number and operating area of our Portfolio Shopping Malls and Managed
Shopping Malls in operation by region as at the end of Reporting Period:

Portfolio Shopping Malls Managed Shopping Malls
No. of Sub-total of No. of Sub-total of
Region((Municipality/ shopping Operating shopping Operating
Administrative Region) malls Area (m?) malls Area (m?)
| Beijing 4 282,894 1 82,440
| Shanghai 7 702,834 - -
| Tianjin 4 330,044 3 129,176
| Chongging 3 267,558 2 74,184
Northeast China 11 910,508 12 571,493
North China (excluding
Beijing, Tianjin) 6 362,837 29 1,484,957
| East China (excluding
Shanghai) 20 1,618,884 82 4,335,566
Central China 7 672,962 19 926,921
South China 4 246,464 8 423,468
Western China 5 310,968 29 1,408,570
Total 71 5,705,954 185 9,431,775
Note
(1) The information disclosed above is obtained according to the following statistic standards. The provinces, municipalities

and autonomous regions of the PRC are divided into 7 large regions and 4 municipalities (excluding Hong Kong, Macau and
Taiwan regions), among which, Northeast China includes Heilongjiang Province, Jilin Province, Liaoning Province; North
China (excluding Beijing and Tianjin) includes Shanxi Province, Hebei Province, Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region; East
China (excluding Shanghai) includes Shandong Province, Jiangsu Province, Zhejiang Province, Anhui Province, Jiangxi
Province, Fujian Province; Central China includes Hunan Province, Hubei Province, Henan Province; South China includes
Hainan Province, Guangdong Province, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region; Northwest China includes Shaanxi Province,
Gansu Province, Qinghai Province, Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region, Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region, Yunnan Province,
Sichuan Province, Guizhou Province, Tibet Autonomous Region; 4 municipalities are Beijing, Shanghai, Tianjin and Chongging
respectively.

12 2017 Annual Report




Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

1.

Business development and presence: stable development of shopping malls and strategic presence
with a nationwide coverage (Continued)

During the Reporting Period, we continued to strategically locate our Portfolio Shopping Malls in prime locations
in Tier | and Tier Il Cities, especially in prime regions in municipalities. As at the end of the Reporting Period,
we operated 71 Portfolio Shopping Malls covering a total operating area of 5,705,954 sg.m. with an average
occupancy rate of 97.6%. Among these Portfolio Shopping Malls, 18 Portfolio Shopping Malls, representing
25.4% of the total number of Portfolio Shopping Malls, were located in the four municipalities of Beijing,
Shanghai, Tianjin and Chongging. The operating area of the aforesaid Portfolio Shopping Malls was 1,583,330
sg.m., representing 27.8% of the total operating area of the Portfolio Shopping Malls. The same mall growth of
mature shopping malls ) during the Reporting Period was 5.4%. Such growth was due to the aggregated factors
of the increase in effective unit income from operation and operating area of mature shopping malls during the
Reporting Period. In addition, the replacement of business tax with value-added tax in 2016, which introduced
the separation of tax from price ®, also exerted impact on such growth. The same mall growth after disregarding
the impact of the replacement of business tax with value-added tax was 7.2%.

During the Reporting Period, we opened 7 new Portfolio Shopping Malls and closed 2 Portfolio Shopping
Malls. In addition, 2 Managed Shopping Malls were converted into Portfolio Shopping Malls, and 2 Portfolio
Shopping Malls were converted into Managed Shopping Malls. As at the end of the Reporting Period, we had 22
pipeline Portfolio Shopping Malls. We will continue to focus on the prime locations of Tier | and Tier Il Cities to
strategically expand our Portfolio Shopping Malls network in the future.

In addition, with a reputable brand name in the home improvement and furnishings industry and extensive
experience in shopping mall development, strength in tenant sourcing and operational management, we
continued to rapidly develop Managed Shopping Malls in Tier Ill Cities and other cities. We also established
a strict internal screening and reviewing mechanism to ensure steady and rapid development of our Managed
Shopping Malls. As at the end of the Reporting Period, we had 185 Managed Shopping Malls in operation
covering a total operating area of 9,431,775 sg.m., with an average occupancy rate of 97.6%. Among these
Managed Shopping Malls, 111 Managed Shopping Malls, representing 60.0% of the total number of Managed
Shopping Malls, were located at eastern China and northern China. The operating area of the aforesaid
Managed Shopping Malls was 5,820,524 sq.m., representing 61.7% of the total operating area of Managed
Shopping Malls. During the Reporting Period, we opened 53 new Managed Shopping Malls and closed 2
Managed Shopping Malls. In addition, 2 Managed Shopping Malls were converted into Portfolio Shopping Malls,
and 2 Portfolio Shopping Malls were converted into Managed Shopping Malls.

As at the end of the Reporting Period, among the pipeline Managed Shopping Malls, we have obtained land
use rights/land parcels for 350 contractual projects. Along with steady social and economic development of the
country, further development of urbanization strategy, and stable growth in disposable income per capita, we
will focus on increasing the rate of expansion of our Managed Shopping Malls business throughout China.

Notes:

(1) “Same mall growth of mature shopping malls” is the growth in operating income in the Reporting Period compared with the
same period in the prior year for all Portfolio Shopping Malls that were in operation for at least three financial years and were
still in operation as at the end of the Reporting Period. Through refined operational management, we improved the effective unit
operating income as well as optimized the operating area of shopping malls, which in turn contributed to the overall growth in
operating income. We refined the indicator of the same mall growth of mature shopping malls to better present the impact of the
operating businesses on the revenue and profit of the Group.

(2) Pursuant to the “Circular of the Ministry of Finance (“MOF”) and the State Administration of Taxation (“SAT”) regarding the
Pilot Program on Comprehensive Implementation of Value Added Taxes from Business Taxes Reform” (Cai Shui [2016] No. 36)
issued by the MOF and the SAT, the Group shall pay value-added tax instead of business tax for rental income and construction
business, etc. starting from 1 May 2016. For illustration purposes, we present the income for 2016 as the income after the
segregation of price and tax of the value-added tax.

Red Star Macalline Group Corporation Ltd.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

2. Business management: Continuous improvement of shopping mall operation and management
2.1 Tenant sourcing management

Cater to the consumption trend in the market, continuously optimize the brands and the categories
of merchandize in shopping malls to lead the home furnishings consumption trend

Based on our understanding of the home furnishings consumption trend, the research of all types of
best products and the analysis of the consumption trend in the home furnishings market of various cities,
we continuously adjusted the combination of product brand and category in shopping malls to cater
for various consumers, market situation and competition status. We continuously endeavor to introduce
flagship stores of major brands that meet consumers’ demand, improved the strategic layout of shopping
malls; meanwhile, we also continued to enhance our customized house-filling products in line with
the changing furnishing and decoration market, constantly explored and promoted the introduction of
designed products, carried out area expansion and image upgrading of household products for children,
and strived to create the smart home experience zone.

In addition, we continued to maintain diversified businesses to enrich category portfolio by combining
the surrounding environmental of the location of the shopping mall, property structure and characteristics
of consumption needs; we continued to incorporate experiential categories such as soft decoration
and catering; meanwhile, we established the “Home Decoration Experience Center” in 21 shopping
malls all over the country so as to meet consumers’ increasing demand of home decoration design,
which provided design consultation service for consumers and increased the flow volume in shopping
malls. As at the end of the Reporting Period, the operation area of new business initiatives including
soft decoration, home decoration design and catering have increased by 30% compared with the
corresponding period in 2016.

Continuously enhance the standards of our refined rental management to improve the sustainable
rental management mechanism

Based on the mode of continuous updating and optimization of rent pricing analysis on existing shopping
malls, we further improved the pricing instruments for rental of new shops, and conducted objective
valuation on the area and plan, flow of people and convenience of transportation, project hardware
and relevant supporting facilities, investment inclinations of dealers and other factors of the projects,
and calculated the guided pricing by integrating the investment and productivity of the projects. The
coverage rate of instrument utilization was 100%.

In respect of rental management, we established reasonable bid price for every display booth to attain
transparency of pricing of display booth, and laid a solid foundation for the establishment of a big
data system, realization of transparency and normative management. Meanwhile, we comprehensively
promoted the strategy of “one booth one price”, facilitating the contribution of high rental from
best-selling brands to lay a foundation for realizing the implementation of point deduction of rental.
Moreover, increase in tenant sourcing of area, to be leased, instant follow-up of abnormal changes of
display booth, timely alert of abnormal data and other measures contributed to the increase in overall
lease rate of shops in operation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

2. Business management: Continuous improvement of shopping mall operation and management
(Continued)

2.1 Tenant sourcing management (Continued)

Constantly strengthen the management of brand resources and enhance the value-added services
provided to our key customers

On the basis of expanding the cooperating scope of original categories and brands, we continued to
introduce the exploration of new products, strived to expand the branding resources management of soft
decoration, smart home, import and other categories, and constantly sourced quality brands through
investigation and research by category experts, brand rating and review conference and other means to
broaden and optimized the data base of brand resources.

For brand factory customers, we regularly studied the consumption trends in home improvement and
furnishings industry, analyzed competitive pattern of every factory in accordance with these consumption
trends and issued reports on the development of brand management; in view of the operating status of
the factories, we provided recommendations on customized product innovation, market development
and upgrade of terminal operating mode of the dealers, in order to promote innovation in product
development and the transformation and upgrade of the marketing mode. At the same time, we set up
key standards for selecting dealers from several dimensions such as number of shops under operation,
sales condition and operating concepts, established crucial data base of dealers, and provided brand
factories of new categories with dealer resources support.

We also look out for future business-expanding opportunities, and established key dealer service system,
including regular operating support, training enhancement and information push, so as to create and
strengthen the loyalty of dealers, laying a foundation for follow-up business expansion.

These measures have been widely recognized and praised by numerous brands that we cooperated with,
thus we have become the benchmarking enterprise that is truly able to provide value-added services
in the home improvement and furnishings industry. During the Reporting Period, we have entered into
strategic contracts with 132 brand factories.

Cater to the trend of consumption upgrading, step up our efforts in introducing global brand and continue
to build the international pavilions

During the Reporting Period, following the trend of consumption upgrading, we stepped up our efforts in
the introduction of global brands. In addition to the international pavilions established in Tier | and Tier
Il Cities, we also intensively penetrated into potential markets such as Changsha, Qingdao, Jinan and
Zhengzhou to promote the introduction of global brands. Meanwhile, we constantly expanded the data
base of dealers through extensive promotion of B2B product connection conference in domestic and
overseas market, conducted precise analysis and selection, and cultivated professional teams of dealers
to help the Company capture the high-end consumption market.

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the global brands we owned amounted to 3,157.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

2. Business management: Continuous improvement of shopping mall operation and management
(Continued)

2.2  Operational management
Improving customer satisfaction through “Word of Mouth Advertising” project

We comprehensively launched the “Word of Mouth Advertising” project, with specific requirements on
price, quality and service etc., by setting high standards for and strict requirements on shopping mall
operation, in order to improve customer satisfaction.

In terms of pricing, we continued to devote ourselves into guiding factories and distributors to make
reasonable pricing. Based on the Management Regulations for Price-clearly-marked Exhibition Room of
Red Star Macalline (AL E XS ERBEEREEEIEMETE)) developed jointly with the National Development
and Reform Commission, we exerted active efforts in rolling out such regulations in our shopping malls
nationwide, and interacted actively with local pricing bureaus in respect of price management. As at the
end of the Reporting Period, we had 146 shopping malls approved by local competent pricing authorities
in writing for the implementation thereof.

In terms of quality, leveraging on the Ministry of Commerce, the General Administration of Quality
Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine of the PRC, together with the China Quality Certification Center,
we launched the “Query Platform of Chinese Household Certified Products” in December 2015, which
realized the detection of counterfeit household products. As at the end of the Reporting Period, we
completed the system application training with 1,000 major brands, with over 20 million units of products
labeled accordingly. In addition, during the Reporting Period, we continued to run random tests on the
commodities sourced from factories and evaluate their product quality control systems, and released the
“2017 List of Green and Environmental Protection Home Furnishings Leading Brands Recommended by
Red Star Macalline”.

In terms of services, we continued to improve the services in our shopping malls in multiple dimensions.
Following the “Return Visit for One Million Customers” carried out last year, we upgraded this activity by
cooperating with hundreds of brand tenants and launched a 60-day promotion themed “Free Furnishing
Maintenance”, to put greater efforts in interacting with consumers and promoting home furnishing brands
while providing door-to-door home furnishing maintenance services for consumers, thus improving
customer satisfaction and sales conversion rate. As at the end of the Reporting Period, we had 170
shopping malls nationwide that had carried out this activity. Moreover, in order to improve the overall
service image of our brand, we designed, made and upgraded the uniforms in a unified manner for nine
types of employees in our shopping malls, and established unified service standards across the country,
which had been rolled out in our shopping malls across the country.

In terms of the credit system, we continued to optimize our tenant credit classification and evaluation
system, and evaluated our tenants from six perspectives, namely quality, price, delivery, service,
customer preference and performance of contract. During the Reporting Period, our credit platform,
namely the “credit classification management of tenants”, as one of the first sub-platforms for creditworthy
public services in Shanghai, was officially licensed by Shanghai Municipal Commission of Commerce in
June 2017. The “Business Credit Platform” of Shanghai Municipal Commission of Commerce shot a video
about the construction of Red Star Macalline credit system and released it as a promotion for reference
to others. Red Star Macalline was the only business representative to attend the 2017 Inter-department
Joint Meeting for Construction of Credit System of Shanghai Municipal People’'s Government. Mr. Zhou
Bo, the vice mayor of Shanghai, spoke highly of the Company and paid a visit to Red Star Macalline
in person. We also teamed up with over 20 platform businesses (including Alibaba and Suning) and
credit institutions to initiate the first cross-industry business credit alliance with the support of Shanghai
Municipal Development and Reform Commission. In addition, we launched the Credit Shanghai App,
bringing benefits to the public.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

2. Business management: Continuous improvement of shopping mall operation and management
(Continued)

2.2 Operational management (Continued)
Improving customer satisfaction through “Word of Mouth Advertising” project (Continued)

In addition, we launched the “Green Experience Center” program designed to provide consumers
with systematic decoration guidance, so that consumers will have an intuitive understanding about the
decoration procedures, how to identify the merits of goods correctly and decoration inspection tips,
so as to convey green consumption concept to consumers, and thus promote the sales of green home
furnishing brands. As at the end of the Reporting Period, the program has been adopted by 20 shopping
malls.

As at the end of the Reporting Period, our “Word of Mouth Advertising” project had been successfully
promoted in 205 shopping malls nationwide.

Improve operational management efficiency by means of digital space management

We consolidated the information of space and operation of shopping malls and converted complicated
data into user-friendly charts by using digital space management, and we systematically managed the
KPI indicators of our malls including occupation of exhibition space, rental rates, occupancy rate and
collection rate with our visualized space management platform, which improved the overall operation
efficiency of our malls.

Continuingly launch “Leading Green” campaigns to promote consumers’ green home life quality

In terms of environmental protection, we continued to promote the campaigns of “Leading Green”
brand appraisal, and initiated an omni-directional quality management system for pre-sales, sales and
after-sales, to ensure the standard of healthy living of each consumer. While improving the “Leading
Green” appraisal scientifically and professionally, we set and amended appraisal standards that better
reflect the industry development. Following the principle of “inspection at the place of origin and whole
process tracking”, we developed the application manual for factory labelling, set clear standards about
labels on package, specifications, brochures and advertisement for factories, outlets and dealers. We
offered professional advice to consumers for buying healthy and environment-friendly products. At the
same time, the “Green Household Consumption Festival” campaign was launched across our shopping
malls on an adhoc basis. As at the end of Reporting Period, 571 home furnishings brands were appraised
as “Leading Green” brand.

Red Star Macalline Group Corporation Ltd. 17




Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

2. Business management: Continuous improvement of shopping mall operation and management
(Continued)

2.3  Marketing management
Brand Management

Continuingly raise our level of brand communication so as to transmit our brand strategy of "Selecting
Global Top-notch Design Products”

We follow the trend and demand of consumption upgrading of Chinese consumers. Based on the
continuous and steady operation of our main business, we have comprehensively improved its brand
positioning, so as to transmit our brand strategy of “Selecting Global Top-notch Design Products”.

We leverage on nationwide large-scale promotional campaigns such as “The Two Days”, “May Day Big
Promotion”, “Luban Top-notch Design Products Festival” and “Family Day” and social marketing means to
promote the brand and actively transmit the brand concept of “Red Star Macalline — Specialist of Global
Top-notch Design Products”, thereby boosting the continued dissemination effectiveness of the brand.

We have created the unprecedented first stage show of world-class home furnishing — Luban Top-notch
Design Products Festival, and made the first contemporary interpretation of Luban Spirit - Ingenuity and
Innovation, thereby further strengthening the leading brand image and the Company's image as the home
furnishings expert, as well as brand connotation of inheriting the spirit of Luban.

Focusing on the concept of top-notch design products, we have conducted comprehensive upgrading
of mall displays, such as showcases and public space, to provide consumers with unique shopping
experience at home furnishing malls, and further enhance the individuality and reputation of the brand of
Red Star Macalline.

In terms of online platform, we launched the core communication positioning of “One Stop High-end
Home Decoration” on Red Star Macalline APP, effectively meeting the development trend of the consumer
market. The Company fully leveraged on its advantages of shopping mall experience and service to
provide consumers with one-stop shopping solutions.

We exported splendid home furnishing aesthetic concepts via WeChat and other social media platforms,
having in-depth interaction with consumers to constantly guide their brand knowledge and brand
preference, thereby achieving improvement in brand reputation.

At the same time, we also partnered with upstream brands to carry out brand promotion through quality
resources such as airport advertising, outdoor advertising and video advertising in first-tier cities to carry
out deep promotion on brand connotation of the top-notch design products.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

2. Business management: Continuous improvement of shopping mall operation and management
(Continued)

2.3 Marketing management (Continued)
Marketing management

Promote customer flow marketing and marketing digitalization to realize sustained growth in both
customer flow and sales

We made use of digital technology to continuously conduct R&D iterative Internet marketing tools for
designers, vendors, merchants, salespersons, and marketing personnel of Red Star Macalline, and
gradually achieved full traceability of internet traffic, assessment of all employees, orientation in all
situations, integration of all channels and reusability of full chain.

We focused on the needs of users, referred to consumption of big data to accurately split the decoration
and procurement node of users, and expanded the diversified communication between the Company
and users with modern marketing tools. We relied on staged recommendation services to put precision
marketing into practice, thereby improving consumption conversion and repurchase experience for new
and old users, of which H5 social marketing accumulatively launched 210,000 selection guides, achieving
10.11 million times of H5 exposure on precise users, while the service-oriented member call centers
increased consumption conversion rate of new members by 4.2 times, effectively realizing two-way flow
of social media and app users, and shopping mall consumers.

Based on the digital marketing model of “one code (QR-code), one voucher (discount voucher)”, and
by combining nationwide big promotion, we strengthened promotion 020 model, which regarded
the “voucher” as the core, to achieve promotion of rapid reuse while implementation of marketing
was undergone. With continuous iteration of the benefits of voucher and code, we effectively drove
spontaneous attention of members, while continuous upgrading of the voucher and code products
enhanced long-term interaction and loyalty cultivation during the member consumption week.

In addition, we have expanded our marketing traffic channels through cross-industry cooperation, and
actively discussed the possibility of cooperation with a number of banks, travel agencies, vehicles,
boutique hotels, life service, exquisite living e-commerce platform and other brands. We developed a
large number of potential customers through interaction across different industries and achieved a high
conversion rate of potential customer to customer.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

2. Business management: Continuous improvement of shopping mall operation and management
(Continued)

2.4 Property Management
Advocate energy saving and environmental protection and create green shopping malls

We advocated energy saving and environmental protection and devoted ourselves to constructing
energy-saving and environmentally friendly properties and building green shopping malls. We
managed energy and pollution sources through the wide application of LED energy and other
scientific and technological advancement, which benefited images of malls and continuously reduced
energy consumption. During the Reporting Period, electricity consumption in 54 malls decreased by
approximately 4.54% year-on-year. The product protection work in shipping malls achieved remarkable
results with rate of damage of floorings, walls, ceilings, lamps, doors and windows to nearly zero.

Improve the environment of shopping malls to enhance the shopping experience of our customers

We protected and improved the environment of shopping malls through source control, beautification
and repair, professional maintenance and other means. With respect to source control, we reduced
environmental damage through management of and control over loading and unloading by tenants,
renovation by tenants, construction by advertising companies, non-standard booth layout and other
works; with respect to beautification and repair, we provided training and granted certification to tile
repair professionals, prepared and launched microlectures, and beautified and repaired floor tiles of
shopping malls to improve shopping environment; with respect to professional maintenance, we improved
the environment of restrooms through inspection and renovation of ventilation facilities and other means;
and with respect to environmental protection, we completely confine and close renovation sites, and
conducted daily on-site control over daily production and disposal of garbage to prevent renovation sites
from polluting the environment of the shopping malls.

Strictly control safety in our shopping malls with standardized management, focused mainly on
prevention and prevented safety hazards through our staff and technology

During the Reporting Period, we continued to treat safety control as a significant task for the management
of shopping malls. We further optimized the management technique requirements and safety standards
in terms of high-risk fields, such as different industries, adjacent properties and contaminated sites.
Meanwhile, we organized safety self-inspection campaign, routing inspection and checks nationwide,
utilized professional instruments to identify safety risks of shopping malls, conducted third-party
risk assessment in particular for shopping malls with potential risks, and conducted standardization,
rectification and documentation of safety risks for shopping malls nationwide to effectively prevent
and control potential safety risks. We established mini fire stations and trained well-equipped and
skilled fire brigades to ensure that the new requirement of the shopping malls to “arrive at the scene
afters 90 seconds to confirm the level of emergency and for the fire brigade to arrive in three minutes
to form a fighting force”. In addition, as the safety risks of shopping malls still fully rely on people’s
sense of responsibility and initiatives, we continued to strengthen the professional trainings of property
management personnel and fully implemented performance evaluation on all staff to improve the
efficiency and initiatives of staff. During the Reporting Period, we continued to maintain “zero accident”
with respect to fire, personal injuries and key facilities and equipment throughout the year at all shopping
malls in the country, effectively managed and controlled safety risks and continuously upgraded safety
standards of shopping malls.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

3.

Expansionary Business: Robust Development

During the Reporting Period, the development of our expansionary businesses flourished. We carried out
upstream and downstream cross-border business extension and built up a business life community for pan-
home improvement and furnishings industry with the orientation on the “omni-channel platform service provider
for the pan-home improvement and furnishings industry” and by upholding the core concept “home”. During
the Reporting Period, our internet platform was officially launched, which provided consumers with industry
chain services for pan-home improvement and furnishings consumption ranging from home purchase to home
renovation and the purchase of household-related products. We also provided full-range and all-dimensional
logistics services to satisfy multiple needs of users on both ends of the platform so as to realise resources
sharing.

3.1

Internet-based pan-home consumption

We have established the internet-based platform building on the concept of “home”, which provides
consumers with industry chain services for pan-home improvement and furnishings consumption
ranging from home renovation to purchase of household-related products through the online and offline
integrative business model. We have fully integrated and shared the business resources of the online
home improvement and furnishings consumption platform with its offline real shopping mall network by
digitally transforming and upgrading the existing home improvement and furnishings mall. Through these
efforts, the Company succeeded in providing convenient and quality services and an interactive 020
experience to our customers. At the same time, we had achieved synergies between the offline business
and the expansionary business on the internet, further improving the overall operation efficiency and
maximizing value creation.

Internet-based home improvement

Home decoration business is an upstream extension in the home improvement and furnishings retail
industrial chain. As there is a high level of overlap between home furnishings consumers and home
decoration consumers, and most consumers are not in possession of the capability for overall design
and product matching, and need professional designers to offer suggestions in order to achieve better
decoration results, we carried out home decoration business to help consumers with product selection,
decoration style matching and product quality control, so as to further improve consumers’ experience
and enhance our reputation. As the industry pioneer in transformation and upgrade, our home decoration
business integrates the upstream and downstream industrial chain in the home decoration industry
by using the home furnishing shopping malls as a platform and our great brand impact. We provided
whole-package services integrating decoration design, hard decoration construction, sale of materials,
purchase of furniture and soft decoration for consumers, in order to improve the shopping experiences of
our consumers, and drive sales in our shopping malls.

We established an experienced design and construction professional team by the subsidiary, Shanghai
Betterhome Decoration Engineering Co., Ltd. (“BetterHome”), and set up home decoration stores
in our household decoration malls to provide customers with integrated whole-package service of
comprehensive design and decoration and create synergy effect with businesses of home decoration
malls, by which a unique business model of customer and supply chain sharing was created to reduce
customer acquisition costs of home decoration and shopping malls, increase re-purchase rate and
prices of customer orders, and improve consumers’ one-stop shopping experience and sales efficiency
of merchants. As of the end of the Reporting Period, we had 36 offline self-operated home decoration
stores, which were located in our shopping malls in cities including Beijing, Tianjin, Shanghai, Chonggqing,
Nanjing, Suzhou, Shenyang, Chengdu, Zhengzhou, Hefei and Shijiazhuang.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

3. Expansionary Business: Robust Development (Continued)
3.1 Internet-based pan-home consumption (Continued)
Internet-based home improvement (Continued)

During the Reporting Period, we further improved our internet home decoration platform focusing on
design, and completed its connection with the enterprise resource management system, the mobile
terminals and POS cash register system to achieve online and offline integration, which improved
management efficiency and user experience. Meanwhile, we further enriched online display of design
content and a series of home decoration tool services etc. in accordance with business development and
application scenarios. As at the end of the Reporting Period, our internet home decoration platform had
signed agreements with 2,364 high-end home decoration companies, recruited 26,367 designer members
who entered the platform and participated in the online and offline design activities of Red Star Macalline,
including 4,323 designers for home decoration design business cooperation and 29,516 customers
making reservation for home decoration through the platform.

We have been striving for excellence in the process R&D of design and construction with the aim of
satisfying the ever-changing demands of consumers while ensuring the quality and improvement of
service. During the Reporting Period, we passed the Shanghai High-tech Enterprise Certification and
obtained, once again, eight national patents for construction process, including “Indoor Waterproof
Structure”, “Plaster Line Structure”, “Anti-corrosive Door Stone” and “Smart Home Furnishing System”,
were awarded the “Golden Diamond Award 5A Demonstration Enterprise of Whole-package Decoration
Brand” by the Home Decoration Committee of the China Furniture & Decoration Chamber of Commerce,
and awarded the “May 1st Labour Certificate” by Shanghai Municipal Social System Trade Union.
Multiple designers were appraised as “2016-2017 Top 50 Outstanding Young Designers for Chinese
Interior Design in China”, “2016-2017 Top 100 New Potential Designers for Interior Design in China”,
“2016 Outstanding Designers for Chinese Architectural Decoration”, etc. by China Building Decoration
Association.

Internet retail

During the Reporting Period, we further upgraded and optimized our online retail platform to cover a
series of convenient services including products display, consultancy, membership marketing, online
transaction, guidance for offline stores in shopping mall and booking experience. Online and offline
interaction helps expand our Company’s communication channels with our consumers, enhance their
satisfaction and loyalty, and drive the overall consumption demand.

Our online retail platform is mainly materialized through mobile applications user portal, and it covers
a complete set of household-related products, including furniture, construction materials, electrical
appliance, furnishing and textile. While integrating certain tenant resources of the offline shopping malls
of Red Star Macalline, the Company proactively explored online brands and stores, thus providing more
abundant and diversified choices for consumers.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

3.

Expansionary Business: Robust Development (Continued)

3.1

3.2

Internet-based pan-home consumption (Continued)
Internet retail (Continued)

We promoted the “flash shopping” of hot commodities, coupon collection and various discounts and
promotions on the internet retail platform to stimulate consumers’ consumption and shopping needs
through discounts and promotions and achieved the conversion of consumers’ attention from online
platform to offline shopping malls which boosted the sales of the mall merchants. From the promotion of
“flash shopping” in September 2017 to the end of the Reporting Period, our internet retail platform has
completed a total of 11,000 orders for “flash shopping” with sales amount of RMB17.37 million. The sales
of offline stores through coupons on the online platform totalled 68,000 orders with transaction amount of
RMBZ2.44 billion.

As the offline physical store is still an important part of the consumer experience and decision-making
process the focus of the development strategy of the internet retail platform is to give full play to the
advantages of combining offline physical stores with the online stores to achieve the “integration of
online and offline businesses”. On one hand, we can use the online platform to provide unlimited long
tail exhibition space and examples of diversified scenarios for offline merchant and goods, breaking
the exhibition limitations of offline stores, so that consumers can obtain a more convenient and efficient
access to goods information and decoration inspirations to improve shopping experience; on the other
hand, we can make use of the wide layout of offline “Red Star Macalline” shopping malls to fully satisfy
consumers’ demand for the real experience of home decoration and furniture industry and provide
customers with a one stop service experience including goods purchase, promotional activities, logistic
distribution, after-sales protection and other services.

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Company has attracted 11,781 tenants to sign up for its
internet-based retail platform. Based on the self-developed new retail system, 42 offline shopping malls
of Red Star Macalline in 16 cities succeeded in connecting with the products and services from the online
platform.

Furnishings financial service: retaining and expanding our consumer and tenant base

During the Reporting Period, we provided consumers and financial institutions with consumer loan
information service, through cooperation with commercial banks, consumer finance companies and other
financial institutions which provided consumers with household consumer loans. The loans obtained
by the consumers can only be used in our shopping malls. During the Reporting Period, the amount of
consumer loans issued by financial institutions through the above channels reached RMB1,780 million,
and our relevant commission income was RMB23.6 million, which boosted businesses of tenants of our
shopping malls.

In addition, in order to establish a more effective group structure, simplify the Group’s business structure
and reduce the risk of related businesses, we entered into two equity transfer agreements with RSM
Holding in May 2017 and August 2017 respectively, and transferred all the equity interests held by us
in Shanghai Jiajinsuo Financial Information Service Co., Ltd. (LR &M EREBEREBER A A) and
Shanghai Huangpu Red Star Microfinance Co., Ltd. (L&A £/ EEE AR 2 7)) to RSM Holding and
its subsidiaries. For further details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 11 May
2017 and 28 August 2017, respectively.
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3. Expansionary Business: Robust Development (Continued)

3.3 Comprehensive logistic service: to satisfy multiple needs on both ends of the platform and achieve
resources sharing

During the Reporting Period, we continued to expand the terminal service ecosystem of the home
furnishings and furniture industry and provide professional distribution and installation services to our
tenants and customers to facilitate the “Last Mile” distribution, installation and after-sales services, and
to improve customer satisfaction and loyalty to the brands of our tenants as well as the brand of “Red
Star Macalline”. We have set up logistics trial centers in 7 cities, namely Nanjing, Wuxi, Shijiazhuang,
Changsha, Shenyang, Jinan and Qingdao, to provide one-stop shop professional services for customers
from purchase to professional product distribution and installation. As at the end of the Reporting Period,
more than 350 brands have commenced operations with our logistics service business which has a
storage area of more than 55,000 sg.m..

During the Reporting Period, we jointly developed a smart logistics system with the University of Hong
Kong. The system includes four sets of management service system, namely, warehouse management,
vehicle arrangement, customer service and merchant service, to support the whole-process management
of business cooperation, warehousing, delivery, after-sales service, evaluation and expenses. During
the Reporting Period, we started establishing the Smart Logistics 1.0 Project and have developed an
unmanned inventory technology with the RFID chip.

4. Upgrade and restructure the information technology infrastructure and to support the development of
internet-based platform

During the Reporting Period, focusing on the objective of “integration of online and offline businesses” of the
Company, we continued to promote construction of information infrastructures, thereby achieving satisfactory
results in optimization of management process, transformation of financial functions, system development and
data application, etc.

With respect to the optimization of management process, we promoted the target of paperless approval process
across the Group, achieving a paperless rate of 94%. We achieved the coverage of all management process,
and have improved internal management efficiency, and the satisfaction of tenants and in-house employees.

In terms of the transformation of financial functions, we further increased investment in research and
development, and have opened the business, finance, capital and taxation channels on the basis of mastering
the core business logic and design of underlying architectures, so as to promote the informatization and
intelligent transformation of financial functions, and achieve the integration of finance, taxation and capital of the
Group with the support of our information system.

During the Reporting Period, we launched the fully self-developed online and offline integration platform, namely
the “Dragon’s Wings” platform. The platform integrates the functional modules such as investment management,
commodity stores, transaction and promotion, payment and settlement, membership management, etc., forming
a standardized and intelligent business process, and accumulating a large amount of business data, which
provides a powerful system for the development of an internet platform business. As an upgraded version of the
“Star Cloud System”, the “Dragon’s Wings” platform has promoted the transformation to the internet retail model
by the Company. As at the end of the Reporting Period, the “Dragon’s Wings” platform has been launched in 66
shopping malls with the number of users reaching 133,000.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

4.

Upgrade and restructure the information technology infrastructure and to support the development of
our internet-based platform (Continued)

The “Dragon’s Eyes” system, an APP platform developed for in-house employees and internal management of
the Group, has achieved integration and full coverage of each internal system and management platform, and
provided favourable conditions for mobile office of all employees, and effectively improved the efficiency of our
employees and management efficiency of the Group.

We have also achieved progressive result in the establishment of a data centre and product development
and applications, completing the design of the “three vertical and three horizontal” structure based on main
data, application data and big data, and driven by data collection, data mart and intelligent data. Meanwhile,
we vigorously promoted the establishment and application of the data collection and distribution centre of
the Group, namely the “Red Star Data Centre”, to provide data support and services for the online and offline
business segments of the Group.

Meanwhile, we proactively conducted research and application of human-computer interaction technology,
virtual reality technology and data mining technology, etc. to further improve customers’ shopping experience,
promote sales of shops and create value-added service incomes by utilizing technologies and technological
innovations.

Highly efficient human resources management policies: to support the efficient business growth

During the Reporting Period, our human resources policies were strictly in line with our strategies and achieved
success in a number of aspects including system optimization, management of overall performance, talent
development and business support, human resources operation and employee relations.

In terms of system optimization, we have completed the establishment and optimization of 11 process systems,
including the recruitment system, onboarding system, performance organization system, on-leave system, the
system for regular employees, etc., and continued to optimize the functions of the PS (Oracle PeopleSoft) system
to improve the efficiency of human resources operations.

With regard to the management of overall performance, we have established a joint project team for performance
promotion to provide full coverage performance guidance for each operating department. During the Reporting
Period, we have launched the performance system, and guided each operating department to achieve various
performance indicators by disaggregating indicators at various levels from the perspective of organizational
performance. We have collected a total of 53 outstanding cases of performance guidance from multiple
dimensions, so as to guide the improvement of performance and management of all shopping malls and regions.

In terms of talent development, we have established a key training map for core positions, combining core
competence standards to foster and introduce the management of the Company, so as to effectively support the
operation and expansion of our home decoration shopping malls. We recruited and cultivated excellent university
graduates by “Star Motivation” program to attract and prepare talents for development of the Company. During
the Reporting Period, the “Star Motivation” program has introduced 315 graduates and the number of employees
recruited further increased. We have enhanced the employer brand recognition among young students and our
reputation in the industry through various activities such as Open Day, anniversary celebration and cooperation
with major well-known colleges and universities.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

5. Highly efficient human resources management policies: to support the efficient business growth
(Continued)

In terms of business support, we newly recruited 233 business development personnel during the Reporting
Period, organized talent development and outstanding case study activities to lay a sound foundation for
continuous expansion of our business through sharing and studying outstanding cases. During the Reporting
Period, we recruited 412 employees for business expansion of the Company, and further optimized the
assessment mechanism for employees of the logistics and storage business, contributed to the development of
business expansion, and established a human resources system in line with the business characteristics of the
Company.

During the Reporting Period, we have been awarded “The Best Enterprise University” by China Chain Store
& Franchise Association for seven consecutive years, “The Best Employer of the Year” by the Economic
Channel of CCTV and the Peking University for five consecutive years, the “Extraordinary Employer of the Year”
by Liepin.com (J2EE#3) and Market and Media Research Center of the Peking University, and “The Pioneer
Employer” by Tophr.net (38—#&JR), and won the “Outstanding Human Resources Management Award” by
51job.com (BIIREE).

We had a total of 22,621 employees as at the end of the Reporting Period.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The key financial performance indicators of the Company can generally be categorized into operating revenue, net
profit attributable to owners of the Company and net profit attributable to owners of the Company after deducting non-
recurring profit and loss. These indicators provide a measurement of our performance against the key drivers of the
Company. For details of the financial performance indicators, please refer to “Operating revenue” and “Net profit
attributable to owners of the Company, net profit attributable to owners of the Company after deducting non-recurring
profit and loss and earnings per share” on pages 27 to 28 and page 31 respectively.

1.

Revenue

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s revenue amounted to RMB10,959.5 million, representing an increase of
16.1% from RMB9,436.1 million in 2016, primarily due to stable development of relevant business in our Owned/
Leased Portfolio Shopping Malls and Managed Shopping Malls. During the Reporting Period, the increase in
revenue of 7.0% from the leasing and management fees of our Owned/Leased Portfolio Shopping Malls was
due to the increase in the number of malls and the operating area. The increase in revenue of 30.4% from our
Managed Shopping Malls during the Reporting Period was the result of a new revenue source from the Group’s
business expansion to provide consulting and tenant sourcing advisory services to property owners on one
hand, and on the other hand, the year-on-year increase in the number of newly opened Managed Shopping
Malls also brought a substantial increase in revenue from the Managed Shopping Malls.

The following table sets forth our revenue by business segment:

2017 2016

(Audited,

(Audited) Restated)

(RMB’000) (RMB'000)
Owned/Leased Portfolio Shopping Malls 6,394,482 58.3 5,975,408 63.3
Managed Shopping Malls 3,628,736 33.1 2,781,962 29.5
Sales of merchandise and related services 294,256 2.7 208,036 2.2
Others 642,039 5.9 470,676 5.0
Total 10,959,513 100.0 9,436,082 100.0

° Owned/Leased Portfolio Shopping Malls: The income rose from RMB5,975.4 million in 2016 to

RMB6,394.5 million in 2017, representing an increase of 7.0%, mainly due to the increase of operating
area, the average rent and management fee. As at the end of 2017, the number of Portfolio Shopping
Malls opened by the Group was 7 more than that at the end of 2016, with the corresponding increase in
the total operating area of 466,678 sg.m. At the same time, we adopted centralized management and
scale effect to create a marketing synergy for all shopping malls, and offered tenants promotions and
other value-added services, enhanced the operation and management level of the mall, to ensure that
the level of rent and management fees could be increased when the already opened mall renewed the
agreement with tenants . In 2017, the average operating income of real unit of Portfolio Shopping Malls
opened by the Group was RMB108/sg. m per month, which fell slightly compared with RMB113/sq. m
per month in 2016, mainly due to the separation of price and tax as a result of the change from business
tax to value-added tax, and the change of two matured Portfolio Shopping Malls into Managed Shopping
Malls during the Reporting Period. The same mall growth of mature shopping malls during the Reporting
Period was 5.4%. Such growth was due to the aggregated factors of the increase in effective unit income
from operation and operating area of mature shopping malls during the Reporting Period. In addition, the
replacement of business tax with value-added tax in 2016, which introduced the separation of tax from
price, also exerted impact on such growth. The same mall growth after disregarding the impact of the
replacement of business tax with value-added tax was 7.2%.
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1.

Revenue (Continued)

o Managed Shopping Malls: Revenue increased from RMB2,782.0 million in 2016 to RMB3,628.7 million
in 2017, representing an increase of 30.4%, It was the result of a new revenue source from the Group’s
business expansion to provide consulting and tenant sourcing advisory services to property owners on
one hand, and on the other hand, the year-on-year increase in the number of newly opened Managed
Shopping Malls also brought a substantial increase in revenue from the Managed Shopping Malls.

Cost of sales

The cost of sales of the Group mainly included staff salary, malls rent and fixed expenses etc. that were directly
related to the operation of our Owned/Leased Portfolio Shopping Malls. The cost of sales of the Group increased
from RMB2,612.8 million in 2016 to RMB3,163.2 million in 2017, representing an increase of 21.1%, mainly
because the number of operational staff and the salary and welfare increased due to the expansion of the
shopping mall network of the Company.

The following table sets forth our cost of sales by business segment:

2017 2016

(Audited,

(Audited) Restated)

(RMB’000) (RMB'000)
Owned/Leased Portfolio Shopping Malls 1,460,261 46.2 1,365,223 52.3
Managed Shopping Malls 1,309,962 41.4 933,462 35.7
Sales of merchandise and related services 202,426 6.4 134,553 5.1
Others 190,545 6.0 179,530 6.9
Total 3,163,194 100.0 2,612,768 100.0

o Owned/Leased Portfolio Shopping Malls: the cost of sales and services increased by 7.0% from

RMB1,365.2 million in 2016 to RMB1,460.3 million in 2017, mainly due to the increase of salary of relevant
staff in the newly opened shopping malls in the current period and the second half of the previous period
and the increase of provision of annual bonus in the current period.

. Managed Shopping Malls: the cost of sales of Managed Shopping Malls increased from RMB933.5 million
in 2016 to RMB1,310.0 million in 2017, representing an increase of 40.3%, mainly due to the significant
increase in the number of our Managed Shopping Malls opened as at the end of 2017 as compared with
that as at the end of 2016.
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3.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

In 2017, the Group’s gross profit was RMB7,796.3 million, representing an increase of 14.3% from RMB6,823.3
million in 2016. In 2017, the Group’s integrated gross profit margin was 71.1%, representing a decrease of
1.2 percentage points from 72.3% in 2016, mainly due to decrease in relevant gross profit margin of Managed
Shopping Malls arising from the increase in the number of newly opened Managed Shopping Malls.

The following table sets forth our gross profit margin by business segments:

For the year ended 31 December

2017 2016

(Audited,

(Audited) Restated)

Owned/Leased Portfolio Shopping Malls 77.2% 77.2%

Managed Shopping Malls 63.9% 66.5%

Sales of merchandise and related services 31.2% 35.3%

Others 70.3% 61.9%

Integrated gross profit 71.1% 72.3%
o Owned/Leased Portfolio Shopping Malls: Gross profit increased from RMB4,610.2 million in 2016 to

RMB4,934.2 million in 2017, representing an increase of 7.0%; gross profit margin in 2016 and 2017 is
77.2%, maintaining a stable level.

° Managed Shopping Malls: Gross profit increased from RMB1,848.5 million in 2016 to RMB2,318.8 million
in 2017, representing an increase of 25.4%; gross profit margin decreased from 66.5% in 2016 to 63.9%
in 2017, mainly due to decrease in relevant gross profit margin of Managed Shopping Malls arising from
the increase in the number of newly opened Managed Shopping Malls.

Distribution and selling expenses

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s distribution and selling expenses amounted to RMB1,513.8 million
(accounting for 13.8% of the revenue), representing an increase of 25.6% from RMB1,205.7 million (accounting
for 12.8% of the revenue) in 2016, primarily due to growing advertising and promotional expenses as a result of
the increase of the investment in advertisements and promotion for our newly opened shopping malls.

General and administrative expenses

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s general and administrative expenses amounted to RMB1,361.8 million
(accounting for 12.4% of the revenue), representing an increase of 45.6% from RMB935.1 million (accounting
for 9.9% of the revenue) in 2016, primarily due to increase in the number of staff for expansionary business,
and increase in the expenses of newly-added internet application platform research and development team
based on the establishment of the strategic layout of the omni-channel consumption platform for the pan-home
improvement and furnishings industry. At the same time, in order to fully stimulate employees’ incentive, the
Group increased the bonus and enhanced the staff remuneration standard. While boosting the performance of
the Group, the above measures brought a corresponding increase in labor costs.
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6. Financial expenses

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s financial expenses were comprised of interest of bank and other
borrowings, interest of financial lease and bond interests, etc.. Financial expenses increased from RMB877.7
million in 2016 to RMB1,131.8 million in 2017, representing an increase of 29.0%. During the Reporting Period,
the Group had new bank borrowings along with its operating business expansion, actively participated in the
expansion of financing channels through promotion of financial innovation, issued USD-denominated bonds and
commercial mortgage backed securities, which led to expanded financing scale. The issuance of RMB3 billion
domestic corporate bonds in the second half of 2016 also resulted in the increase in interest expenses. The total
interest expenses increased from RMB1,209.2 million in 2016 to RMB1,481.7 million in 2017, representing an
increase of 22.5%.

The financial expenses of the Group were mainly affected by relevant interest-bearing bank loans and bonds
balance required by property investment. With the completion of construction of the investment property and
the opening of the relevant malls, we will no longer capitalize interest expense associated with the investment
properties and record it as a cost. Capitalized interest expenses decreased from RMB248.9 million in 2016 to
RMB220.4 million in 2017, representing a decrease of 11.5% mainly due to the completion of the construction of
part of the shopping malls and the cessation of the capitalization.

7. Impairment loss of assets

The impairment loss of assets of the Group mainly includes provision for impairment of accounts receivable,
provision for impairment of other receivables as well as provision for impairment loss of available-for-sale
investment and intangible assets. The impairment loss of assets in 2017 was RMB283.4 million, among which
provision for impairment of accounts receivable was RMB146.4 million, mainly due to the basis of prudent
standards continuously followed by us to review the recoverability of trading receivables related to income
of Managed Shopping Malls and other receivables and provide impairment in accordance with the Group's
accounting policy.

8. Investment income

The investment income of the Group mainly includes long-term equity interest investment income calculated
by equity method, as well as investment income incurred from disposal of investment on subsidiaries. The
investment income in 2017 was RMB633.9 million, among which the investment income incurred from disposal
of investment on subsidiaries amounted to RMB494.7 million, mainly due to investment income incurred from
disposal of investment on Shanghai Jiajinsuo Financial Information Service Co., Ltd. (E/BR&FEmEERBEE
[RA 7)), Shanghai Huangpu Red Star Microfinance Co., Ltd. (/&4 E/NSEEZKAE R AR, Tianjin Red Star
Macalline International Home Furnishings Malls Company Limited (K24 2 XS EBEXREEHERAR]), Tianjin
Red Star Macalline International Home Furnishings Construction Material Company Limited (KE4T 2 =8| & B
FEENESERAR), Beijing Hehe Juzhong Advertising Company Limited (1t R4 B R ESEE AR A R]) and
Changzhou Red Star Plaza Business Management Co., Ltd. (F/N4 £ EBSREEREER A T).

9. Treasury Policies and Objectives

The Group adopted prudent liquidity risk management policies in order to maintain flexibility of fund utilization,
which include maintaining sufficient cash and funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.
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10. Income tax expenses

During the Reporting Period, the income tax expenses of the Group amounted to RMB1,708.0 million,
representing an increase of 51.4% from RMB1,128.1 million in 2016, which was mainly due to the increased
income tax payable resulted from increase in the Group’s operating profits and gains on disposal received by
the Group during the Reporting Period. As a result, the effective income tax rate increased from 23.5% in 2016
to 28.5% in 2017.

11.  Net profit attributable to owners of the Company, net profit attributable to owners of the Company
after deducting non-recurring profit or loss and earnings per share

During the Reporting Period, net profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted to RMB4,077.9 million,
representing an increase of 20.0% from RMB3,397.2 million in 2016; the net profit attributable to owners of the
Company after deducting non-recurring profit or loss amounted to RMB2,305.4 million, representing an increase
of 11.2% from RMB2,072.7 million in 2016. The above good performance was a comprehensive result of the
Group’s steady and rapid business growth, significant revenue growth, efficiency of the scale of cost, and
reasonable tax planning.

2017 2016

(Audited,
(Audited) Restated) Growth

(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
Profit attributable to owners of the Company 4,077,898 3,397,183 20.0%
Net profit margin attributable to owners of 37.2% 36.0% 1.2 percentage
the Company points
Net profit attributable to owners of the Company after 2,305,431 2,072,652 11.2%

deducting non-recurring profit or loss

Net profit margin attributable to owners of the Company 21.0% 22.0% -1.0 percentage
after deducting non-recurring profit or loss points

In 2017, the Group’s earnings per share was RMB1.13, as compared to RMB0.94 in 2016.
12.  Accounts receivable and other receivables

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the accounts receivable and other receivables of the Group amounted
to RMB2,901.9 million in total, of which accounts receivable amounted to RMB1,167.4 million, which were
mainly comprised of our uncollected initiation and entrance fees, business consulting fees and tenant sourcing
commissions to be paid by the partners of Managed Shopping Malls and construction consultation and
management fees to be paid by constructors, represented an increase of RMB367.6 million as at the end of 2017
as compared with that as at the end of 2016. The increase was primarily due to increase in the number of newly
opened Managed Shopping Malls, and increase in the business of consulting and tenant sourcing services
during the Reporting Period along with the expansion of business scale of the Group, leading to an increase in
the balance of accounts receivable.

At the end of the Reporting Period, the management of the Company has prudently reviewed the recoverability
of accounts receivable, and reasonably carried out provision for impairment.
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13.

14,

15.

Investment properties

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the book value of the Group’s investment properties amounted to
RMB70,831.0 million, representing an increase of 5.8% from RMB66,948.0 million as at the end of 2016,
mainly due to the increase in rent of our Portfolio Shopping Malls and advancement in construction progress
of investment properties under development during the Reporting Period. During the Reporting Period, the
Group’s investment properties realized gain on fair value changes of RMB1,996.2 million, which was mainly due
to the increase in rent and management fees level of Portfolio Shopping Malls in most of the cities during the
Reporting Period and the construction progression of shopping malls, resulting in an increase in the fair value of
investment properties. The Group will continue to collect rents by investment properties, and based on market
conditions, will consider disposing of certain investment properties in appropriate opportunities.

Capital expenditure

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s capital expenditure amounted to RMB6,148.6 million (2016:
RMB3,189.9 million), which was mainly attributable to the advancement in construction progress of investment
properties under development and the payments for purchasing offices during the Reporting Period.

Bank and cash balance and cash flow

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the bank and cash balance of the Group amounted to RMB10,626.9

million (of which, the balance of cash and cash equivalents amounted to RMB10,269.3 million), representing an
increase of RMB4,376.9 million from RMB5,892.4 million as at the end of 2016.

For the year ended 31 December

2017 2016

(Audited) (Audited, restated)

(RMB’000) (RMB’000)

Net cash from (used for) operating activities 6,518,359 3,983,929
Net cash from (used for) investment activities (6,011,114) (4,908,725)
Net cash from (used for) financing activities 3,873,637 1,268,756
Impact on cash and cash equivalent from change of exchange rate (4,013) -
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 4,376,869 343,960

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s net cash inflow from operating activities amounted to RMB6,518.4
million, representing an increase of 63.6% as compared with net cash inflow of RMB3,983.9 million in 2016,
was primarily due to increase in rental and management fee received in advance and adequate collection of
revenue related to Managed Shopping Malls. At the same time, with the increase in the number of newly opened
shopping malls, the year-on-year increase in deposits, warranties and pledges received, also brought positive
contribution to the increase in cash inflows from operating activities.
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15.

16.

Bank and cash balance and cash flow (Continued)

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s net cash outflow from investment activities amounted to RMB6,011.1
million, representing an increase of 22.5% as compared with net cash outflow of RMB4,908.7 million in 2016,
mainly due to the comprehensive result of the increase in payments of property expenditure and equity
investment of the Group during the Reporting Period and recovered disposal consideration funds from the
disposal of two Portfolio Shopping Malls in Tianjin during the Reporting Period.

In 2017, the Group’s net cash inflow from financing activities amounted to RMB3,873.6 million, representing an
increase of RMB2,604.8 million as compared with net cash inflow of RMB1,268.8 million in 2016, mainly due to
the increase in financing scale of the Group by issuing USD-denominated bonds amounted to US$300 million
and commercial mortgage backed securities amounted to RMB2.4 billion, and repayment of due mid-term notes
and private bonds of RMB1.9 billion during the Reporting Period.

The debt profile and debt ratio

As of the end of the Reporting Period, the total amount of debt of the Group was RMB28,445 million, of which
banks and other borrowings were RMB15,683 million, bonds payable were RMB10,383 million and commercial
mortgage backed securities payables were RMB2,378 million.

The following table sets out our profile debt:

As at 31 December As at 31 December
2017 2016

(Audited) (Audited)
(RMB’000) (RMB’000)

Bank and other borrowings

Bank loans, secured 1,365,535 9,705,833
Bank loans, unsecured 345,000 19,000
Other loans, secured 13,973,224 1,510,000

15,683,759 11,234,833
Fixed-rate borrowings 1,965,363 1,510,010
Floating-rate borrowings 13,718,396 9,724,823

15,683,759 11,234,833

The borrowings are repayable

Within one year or on demand 3,906,594 2,787,296
More than one year, but not exceeding two years 1,749,666 3,344,038
More than two years, but not exceeding five years 5,613,257 3,444,250
More than five years 4,414,242 1,659,249

15,683,759 11,234,833

Actual interest rate range
Fixed rate bank borrowings 3.15-4.46 4.75-7.59

Floating rate bank borrowings 2.30-7.59 4.41-6.41
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16. The debt situation and debt ratio (Continued)
As at 31 December As at 31 December
2017 2016
(Audited) (Audited)
(RMB’000) (RMB’'000)
Bonds
Unsecured medium-term notes
— Bonds due in 2017 - 894,941
- Bonds due in 2018 498,726 497,031
Private placement medium-term notes
— Private placement notes due in 2017 - 994,527
Corporate bonds
— Corporate bonds due in 2020 4,987,988 4,973,683
— Corporate bonds due in 2021 1,490,868 1,485,447
— Corporate bonds due in 2023 1,482,044 1,477,940
USD-denominated bonds
-USD-denominated bonds due in 2022 1,923,566 -
10,383,192 10,323,569

As at 31 December
2016

(Audited)
(RMB’'000)

As at 31 December
2017

(Audited)
(RMB’000)

Commercial mortgage backed securities payables 2,378,400 -

Among the total debt of the Group, the portion to be repaid in one year or on demand was RMB9,816.8 million;
the portion to be repaid more than one year but not more than two years was RMB3,190.8 million; the portion to
be repaid more than two years but not more than five years was RMB11,126.5 million; the portion to be repaid
over five years was RMB4,311.2 million; the Group shall timely repay the above loans at the maturity date of the
same.

The following table sets out our major debt ratio:

As at As at

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

(Audited) (Audited, restated)

Asset-liability ratio” 54.7% 51.0%
Net gearing ratio® 41.5% 39.7%

For the year ended 31 December

2017 2016
(Audited) (Audited)
Interest expenses coverage ratio® 3.20 3.63

Notes:

(1) Asset-liability ratio is calculated as the total liabilities divided by total assets as at the end of each period.

(2) Net gearing ratio means interest-bearing liabilities (including short-term borrowings, long-term borrowings, bond payables,
financial lease payables, and commercial mortgage backed securities payables) less cash and bank balance and then divided
by total equity at the end of each period.

(3) Interest expense coverage ratio is our adjusted EBITDA divided by our interest expenses before capitalization for each period.

Adjusted EBITDA represents profit before tax, adding back finance expenses, depreciation, amortisation and impairment loss,
further adjusted to exclude gain on fair value changes, Investment income, gains/(losses) from disposal of assets, other income,
non-operating income and non-operating expenses.
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17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

Credit rating

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the corporate credit rating of the Group was rated as BBB by Fitch
Ratings, Inc., with a stable outlook. Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC rated the Group as BBB, and the
outlook was rated as negative.

Assets with restricted ownership or use rights

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Group had pledged investment properties with book value of
RMB54,025.0 million for obtaining borrowings; and the restricted currency funds of RMB263.4 million for deposit
reserve placed with central bank and obtaining loans.

Contingent liabilities

On 8 November 2016, the Company provided 25% joint and several liability guarantee against the loan of
RMB2.5 billion provided by Haier Group Finance Co., Ltd. to Haier Consume Financing Co., Ltd. As at the end of
the Reporting Period, the balance of the loan was RMB1.6 billion (2016: RMB500 million).

Material acquisitions and disposals

On 16 May 2017, Yantai Red Star International Home Furnishings* (B4 EBEEREEEAR A A) (“Yantai
Red Star”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of a trust fund managed by Tianjin Changhe Shareholding
Investment Fund Management Company Limited* (REGMRELEE S ERE AR AR]) and Red Star Macalline
Home Furnishings Shopping Malls Management Company Limited* (AL2XIlEREHHEIEEGR A7) (“‘Red
Star Management”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the share swap agreement
pursuant to which Yantai Red Star has conditionally agreed to sell and Red Star Management has conditionally
agreed to acquire 100% equity interests in Zhengzhou Juankai Enterprise Management Consultation Company
Limited (B & M EEEAAABR A A) at a consideration of RMB2,650.0 million. The consideration shall
be payable by Red Star Management by way of selling its 100% equity interests in its two wholly-owned
subsidiaries, namely Tianjin Red Star Macalline International Home Furnishings Construction Materials Company
Limited* (KA EZSNEBBREEMES AR AR) and Tianjin Red Star Macalline International Home
Furnishings Malls Company Limited* (K24 £ X BEEKR R E ES B R AR, together with a cash payment. For
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 16 May 2017.

Save as disclosed above, as at the end of the Reporting Period, the Group had no material acquisition or
disposal of the subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the Reporting Period.

Capital Commitment

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the amount of capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition and
development of investment properties which the Group has contracted for but not recognized in the financial
statements was RMB2,654.9 million. In addition, the Group has entered into agreements with its partners,
pursuant to which the Group’s commitment to contributing funds for development of investment properties jointly
with the partners amounted to RMB589.9 million.
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22.

23.

24.

Future plans for major investments

Our future major investments of the Group are primarily capital expenditures in respect of acquisition and
construction of investment properties (including through acquisition of subsidiaries). We expect to capitalize on
secular growth trends in the home improvement and furnishings industry by strategically opening new shopping
malls in selected cities in China with attractive market attributes. As at the end of the Reporting Period, the
amount of which the Group has contracted for but not provided in the financial statements was RMB2,654.9
million. In addition, the Group has entered into agreements with its partners, pursuant to which the Group’s
commitment to contributing funds for development of investment properties jointly with the partners amounted to
RMB589.9 million. The capital commitment as disclosed in Note (XI).1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
on page 344 was primarily in relation to the development of our Portfolio Shopping Malls. It is one of our
strategies, and we expect to strengthen our market leadership through strategic expansion of our shopping mall
network and brand portfolio.

The source of the Group’s future major investment funds will mainly come from the cash of business operation,
bank loans, issuing bonds and the equity capital contributed by the Shareholders. We will adhere to a prudent
and rational financial management strategy, plan and arrange the investment and operating expenses based
on the cash inflow, expand financing channels while maintain a reasonable financial condition and debt ratio
level to provide better funding for business development in the future. Currently, we do not have detailed plans
for material investments except opening new shopping malls which are in our ordinary course of business.
Accordingly, we foresee that our major source of funding will be from our operating cash flow, revenue from our
shopping malls, borrowings from banks and other financing activities of the Group.

Foreign exchange risk

As at the end of the Reporting Period, financial assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the Group mainly included the US$300 million USD-denominated bonds issued on 21
September 2017 and certain deposits denominated in USD and HKD. To manage this additional risk exposure,
the management of the Company adopted relevant risk control measures to prepare for risk hedging, which
included enhanced internal control awareness and strategy, strengthened cooperation with international banks,
selection of appropriate forward and currency swaps and other hedging instruments, and close monitoring on
trends of foreign exchange market. We believe that foreign exchange risk related to such assets and liabilities
denominated in other currencies will not have a material impact on operating results of the Group.

Human Resources

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Group had 22,621 employees (31 December 2016: 19,060
employees). The Group signs labour contracts with employees according to the Labor Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the relevant provisions of the employee’s locality. The Group will determine the
employees’ basic wage and bonus level according to the employees’ performance, work experience and the
market wage standard, and shall pay social insurance and housing provident fund for the employees. In 2017,
the Group paid a total of RMB2,997.5 million for salary expenditure (2016: RMB2,164.0 million). Meanwhile, the
Group also kept investing resources to provide various education and training opportunities for the staff, aiming
to standardize the management work and improve the operation performance, and continuously improved the
knowledge and technical competence as well as professional practice competence of the employees.
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25.

Events after the Reporting Period

The Company has completed the A Share Offering on 16 January 2018, and the A shares of the Company were
listed and commenced trading on the Shanghai Stock Exchange on 17 January 2018 with stock code 601828.
The total number of issued shares of the Company after the A Share Offering is 3,938,917,038 (comprising
1,062,813,069 H Shares and 2,876,103,969 A Shares). For more details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 16 January 2018.

The Company issued 315,000,000 A shares at the issue price of RMB10.23 per A share. The total proceeds
raised amounted to RMB3,222.5 million and the net proceeds raised, after deducting the cost of the A Share
Offering of RMB172.5 million, amounted to RMB3,050.0 million (the “A Share Offering Proceeds”).

In order to improve the efficiency in the use of the A Share Offering proceeds, on 7 February 2018, the Board
has resolved to (i) use RMB48.12 million of the balance of A Share Offering Proceeds of the Harbin Songbei
Shopping Mall to fill in the gap between the A Share Offering Proceeds to be used and the actual self-owned
funds used of the Hohhot Yuquan Shopping Mall and Dongguan Wanjiang Shopping Mall and to use RMB35.334
million of the balance of A Share Offering Proceeds of the Tianjin Beichen Shopping Mall and RMB73.9 million
of the balance of A Share Offering Proceeds of the Harbin Songbei Shopping Mall to meet the future capital
requirements of the Urumchi Expo Mall; (ii) substitute the self-owned funds which the Company has previously
invested in the investment projects with the A Share Offering Proceeds of RMB1,677.58 million; (iii) temporarily
use not more than RMB500 million of the idle A Share Offering Proceeds to improve the liquidity of the Company,
and the period of such use shall not exceed 12 months (from the date when the A Share Offering Proceeds are
transferred from the special account to the date when the A Share Offering Proceeds are returned to the special
account); and (iv) use the balance of the A Share Offering Proceeds (RMB172.42 million) designated to the
Urumchi Expo Mall by way of a loan to support this investment project. For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 7 February 2018.

On 7 February 2018, the Company convened the twenty-third extraordinary meeting of the third session of the
Board and the Board approved the “General mandate for the issue of domestic debt financing instruments”
resolution to be proposed at the extraordinary general meeting to authorize the Board and authorized person
of the Board to issue debt financing instruments with a size of no more than RMB15.0 billion at an appropriate
timing. The above resolution is to be approved by the Company’s 2018 first extraordinary general meeting to be
held on 25 April 2018.
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RISKS FACTORS

1. Risks caused by slackened macro-economy and cyclical fluctuation of real estate industry

The recent years has witnessed China’s persistent slackened macroeconomic growth trend. In 2016, China’s
GDP showed 6.9% year-on-year growth, which was the lowest growth rate for the past 25 years, and it may
be further reduced in the future. The slowdown in macro-economic growth may slow down the expected
urbanization in China, and pose adverse effect to the improvement of residents’ disposable income and
standard of living. Meanwhile, the real estate industry, as the core industry subject to continuous regulation
of China, is closely related to the country’s macroeconomic development with the manifestation of the strong
cyclical characteristics. The potential adverse changes caused by slower growth of the macro-economy and
cyclical volatility of the real estate industry may weaken the demand for home improvement and furnishings retail
industry, and thus posing certain negative impact on the Company’s operating performance.

According to the data of Frost & Sullivan, the sales amount achieved in China’s home improvement and
furnishings industry in 2017 was RMB4.5 trillion, representing an increase of 12.7% on a year-on-year basis. The
industry growth rate was significantly higher than that of China’s macroeconomic overall growth. The Company
will actively seize favourable opportunities of the rapid development in the home improvement and furnishings
industry and increase the market share by the fast and steady expansion of the shopping mall network; while
improving economies of scale and operational efficiency and strengthening the sustained stability of profitability,
SO as to better cope with and withstand the risks associated with macroeconomic and industry volatility.

2. Risks associated with talent shortage and loss

As our business scale is under continuous development and expansion, demand for high-level management
talents and professionals increases continuously. If the Company’s reserve of talents cannot keep up with
the rapid development rate of the Group’s business, then it will pose an adverse impact on the Company’s
operational stability.

We have set up different personnel training and reserve plans for the fresh graduates, excellent employees and
supervisory employees, and we continue to invest resources to provide various types of education and training
opportunities so as to enhance their knowledge and technical level as well as the ability of business practices.
Meanwhile, the Company will continue to strengthen information construction so as to improve the efficiency of
business, and thus providing guarantee for the building of our pool of talents required for business expansion.

3. Risks associated with expanding business development

Based on the nationwide retail platform and the largest database of businesses and consumers in the Chinese
home improvement and furnishings industry, we plan to further develop the attractive Internet-related products
and services as well as the supply chain related products and services. Compared with our shopping mall
business, the business model and risks of expanding business may vary, but we may not have enough
experience to effectively manage such expanding business and the related risks. Such expanding business may
bring us new challenges and risks. If the expanding business failed to achieve the expected results, then our
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects as a whole may be adversely affected.

By relying on a strong industrial influence in the existing business accumulation, rich management experience
and national distribution network system, we will provide high-quality brand, market, customer and product
resources support for the implementation of the above-mentioned expanding business. It will flexibly select and
adjust the operating mode of operation and based on the market changes and business needs, so as to reduce
the uncertainty of expanding business and other related risks.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

We have persistently adhered to the mission of “building a warm and harmonious homeland enhancing consumption
and living taste”. In 2018 and thereafter, we will continue to follow the operation and management model of
“market-oriented management and shopping mall management”, provide better and more professional services for
consumers, consolidate our market leadership and strengthen the brand of “Red Star Macalline” of “Home Furnishings
Expert” in the consumers’ mind to build the most pioneering and professional “omni-channel platform provider in home
improvement and furnishings industry”.

Our future development plans are as follows:

1. To continue the implementation of two-pronged business model of Portfolio Shopping Malls and
Managed Shopping Malls and strengthen the market leadership through strategic expansion of
shopping mall network and brand portfolio

In terms of shopping mall network construction, we will fully ride the tide of the thriving trend showed in the
industry arising from the acceleration of urbanization, improvement in living standard and the increased
population mobility, and continue to expand our network of home furnishing malls in cities with attractiveness.
We will further strengthen the market leading position in Tier | and Il Cities through self-operation mode, and
continue to selectively open new home shopping malls in the core cities; at the same time, by relying on the
sound brand reputation, mature shopping mall development, tenant sourcing and operation and management
capabilities in the home improvement and furnishings industry, we will quickly penetrate into the Tier Ill Cities
and Other Cities through the asset-light managed business model, so as to further expand the operation
coverage of companies in the country, and thus accelerating market penetration. Meanwhile, the Company will
optimize the operation and management of shopping malls by means of upgrading and improving mall-based
infrastructure, analysis on applicable data, marketing, incentive mechanisms for mall-oriented management
team, etc. to further enhance the operational efficiency and performance of existing home shopping malls. In
terms of construction of brand portfolio, we will extend our outreach to broader consumer bases and advance
market segmentation to serve our merchants and in turn to further increase our market share leveraging on
our diversification brand strategy. Moreover, we are also exploring vigorously the possibility of property asset
securitization of owned furniture malls to promote the capital operating efficiency of enterprise.

2. To establish a comprehensive service system, striving to become new retail benchmark in home
decoration and furnishing industry

As one of the most influential brands in the home industry in China, we will, from the perspective of truly
understanding and satisfying the needs of consumers, always furnish consumers with a better and more in-depth
experience, more professional and all-round value-added services, and more convenient and humanized
service mode. We will provide a trustworthy circulation platform that can integrate a sufficient number of home
decoration and furniture industry brand commodities to satisfy the various needs and consumer Pain Points,
enhance the online and offline integration experience of consumers, establish the most valuable circulation
platform in home decoration and furniture industry, and strive to become new retail benchmark in the home
improvement and furnishing industry.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS (CONTINUED)

3. To enhance the long-term competitiveness of the enterprise through digital strategies

We are implementing digital strategies that aimed at promoting information construction on an ongoing basis,
further upgrading and restructuring of management procedures optimization, financial function transformation,
system research and development, data application and other aspects and enhancing the long-term
competitiveness of enterprise to meet new growth opportunities by making use of internet, big data, cloud
computing and other information technologies.

4. To actively make innovations and value capital market and financial instruments

We will proactively explore new business model and integrate upstream and downstream resources of home
decoration and furniture industry through investment, merger and acquisition and other means, and in particular
look for opportunities to enter the smart household field and offer services for enlarging enterprise scale,
strengthening corporate strength, preparing for the future and our leadership in the development of the industry.

5. To improve corporate governance, standardize the operation, and fulfill our social responsibility
We will make continuous improvement in our corporate governance structure, organizational process and

management mechanism, abide by national laws and business ethics and create the commercial atmosphere of
“standardized operation” as well as proactively undertake and fulfill social responsibility.
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Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHE Jianxing, aged 51, the founder of our Group, has been the chairman, an executive Director, the chief executive
officer and the general manager of our Company, since its establishment in June 2007. Mr. CHE is primarily responsible
for the overall management, strategic development and business planning of our Group. Mr. CHE has over 30 years of
industry experience. He started his career in furniture manufacturing in the late’80s. He then established Changzhou
Red Star Furniture Store* (/N4 2X{E4) in December 1990 and served as its general manager from 1990 to 1994.
He subsequently founded Red Star Furniture Group in June 1994 and served as its chairman of the board of directors
and chief executive officer from 1994 to 2007. Mr. CHE is Ms. CHEN Shuhong’s husband and Ms. CHE Jianfang'’s
brother. Mr. CHE is a member of the executive committee of All-China Federation of Industry & Commerce (FFZE2E T
¥4 E). Mr. CHE was awarded as the “Shanghai Outstanding Star” by Shanghai government, Shanghai Industry
& Commerce (LB TEZEEAE) and Shanghai Outstanding Enterprise Promotion Association (E/XE EE£RES)
in February 2014, the “Changzhou Outstanding Entrepreneur” by Changzhou government in January 2012 and the
“Working Model of Jiangsu Province” by Jiangsu Provincial People’s Government in April 2006. For Mr. CHE’s interest
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company, please refer to the section headed “Report of Directors” of this
annual report.

Ms. ZHANG Qi, aged 58, joined our Company in June 2012 and has been the vice chairman, an executive Director
and a vice general manager of our Company since then. Ms. ZHANG is primarily responsible for the business
development, strategy and investment planning, operating management of Managed Shopping Malls, construction
progress of Portfolio Shopping Malls, Internet financial segment, overall management of the Xingyijia* (£ Z4)
business, legal compliance and internal control of our Group. Prior to joining our Company, Ms. ZHANG served in
various positions in the Huangpu District office, Shanghai City of the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (*E
T8R7T) (“ICBC”), including the director of South Three Sub-branch, the secretary of the communist party branch of
South three sub-branch, the director of Nanjing Road East sub-branch, the vice director of deposit department, the
assistant director and the vice director, from July 1984 to September 1992. From September 1992 to January 2000,
she successively served as the vice president, the president and the secretary of the communist party committee of
Huangpu sub-branch and Jing’an sub-branch of the Shanghai branch of ICBC. From January 2000 to March 2008, Ms.
ZHANG worked in the Shanghai branch of ICBC, where she served in various positions, including the director of the
retail division and the securities clearing division, the assistant president, the vice president and the deputy secretary
of the communist party committee. From March 2008 to June 2012, Ms. ZHANG served as the general manager and the
secretary of the communist party committee of the private banking department of ICBC.

Ms. ZHANG studied in the Cadre Class of Financing Management (& gt & 12 %282 (£ ) at the Faculty of Economics of
Fudan University (8 B K&) from September 1985 to July 1987. She graduated with a master’s degree in finance from
Shanghai University of Finance Economics (/884 RE) in June 1998. Ms. ZHANG also completed the executive
master of business administration program jointly organized by Shanghai National Accounting Institute (/8B R &5 £
BT) and Arizona State University in October 2005. Ms. ZHANG completed the doctoral degree program jointly organized
by Shanghai Advanced Institute of Finance (/8= &£ Z0t) and Arizona State University in May 2016. Ms. ZHANG
was accredited by ICBC as a senior economist in August 1997. She received the honor of “Shanghai Financial Talent”
granted by Shanghai Financial Work Committee of Communist Party (£ F/8T 4 & T EZ 2 '€) and Shanghai Financial
Services Office (L/8M & @ARKEH A E) in March 2004,
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Ms. CHE Jianfang, aged 49, joined our Company in June 2007 and has been an executive Director and a vice general
manager of our Company since then. Ms. CHE is primarily responsible for merchandising management of our Group.
Prior to joining our Company, Ms. CHE worked as the general manager at the Changzhou Red Star Furniture General
Factory* (& /MNH AL E£FREEM) from 1990 to 1993, mainly responsible for general operation of the business. She served
as the general manager responsible for national investment operation at Red Star Furniture Group from 1994 to 2007.
Ms. CHE is Mr. XU Guofeng’s wife and Mr. CHE Jianxing’s sister. Ms. CHE completed the “Senior Executive Program
for China” jointly organized by China Europe International Business School (FFEXEFR TigE67) (“CEIBS”), Harvard
Business School and the School of Economics and Management of Tsinghua University (BZEKEB4LEEILER) in
December 2007. She also completed the China CEO Program jointly organized by Cheung Kong Graduate School of
Business (/L2 ft), Columbia Business School, the International Institute for Management Development and London
Business School in July 2011. Ms. CHE has studied the executive master of business administration program in PBC
School of Finance, Tsinghua University since March 2017. Currently, Ms. CHE serves as the vice-chairman of Shanghai
Entrepreneur Association (E/8M ¥R A €) and has always been committed to social welfare undertakings. She
further established Red Star Bright Fund (4L £ ¥ ¥ % %). For Ms. CHE’s interest in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company, please refer to the section headed “Report of Directors” of this annual report.

Mr. JIANG Xiaozhong, aged 48, joined our Company in June 2007 and has been an executive Director and a vice
general manager of our Company since December 2012. Mr. JIANG is primarily responsible for business development
and operation of our Group. Prior to joining our Company, from June 1994 to June 2007, Mr. JIANG served in various
positions at Red Star Furniture Group, including as secretary of the communist party branch committee, secretary of
the communist party committee and as vice president, primarily responsible for business operation, administration and
communist party committee related work.

Mr. JIANG completed a three-year correspondence course for cadre in administrative management at the Communist
Party School of Jiangsu Province (JT&%& ZE ) in July 1992. He graduated with an executive master of business
administration degree from the executive master of business administration program at Cheung Kong Graduate School
of Business (KL 2t) in September 2011.
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Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. CHEN Shuhong, aged 45, joined our Company in June 2007 and has been a non-executive Director since then. Ms.
CHEN is primarily responsible for overseeing our Company’s management and strategic development. Prior to joining
our Company, Ms. CHEN worked at the Changzhou Red Star Furniture General Factory* (S /N4 £ (E48) from
July 1992 to December 1993, and was mainly responsible for finance-related work. She then served as a manager of
Changzhou Home Furnishing Wholesale Center* (F/MEMERERLEEF L) from January 1994 to June 1999. Ms. CHEN
served as the chief financial officer of Red Star Furniture Group from June 1999 to June 2007. Ms. CHEN is Mr. CHE
Jianxing’s wife and Mr. CHEN Donghui’s sister.

Ms. CHEN obtained a college degree for adult higher education in accounting from Industrial College of Jiangsu
Province ((T# & T#26%) (now known as Changzhou University (&N AX2)) in 2003. She graduated with an executive
master of business administration degree from the executive master of business administration program of The Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology (F#&RH#HEAKE) in June 2012. For Ms. CHEN's interest in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company, please refer to the section headed “Report of Directors” of this annual report.

Mr. XU Guofeng, aged 51, joined our Company in June 2007 and has been a Director and a vice general manager of
our Company since December 2010. He has been a non-executive Director of our Company since he resigned as vice
general manager in November 2014. Mr. XU is primarily responsible for overseeing our Company’s management and
strategic development. Prior to joining our Company, Mr. XU served as a factory manager at the Changzhou Red Star
Furniture General Factory* (H/MH 4 £FX1E42M) from 1991 to 1994, where he was mainly responsible for production
and business operation. He then served as a vice president of Red Star Furniture Group from 1994 to 2007, where he
was mainly responsible for managing construction-related work and participating in the decision making for significant
events. Mr. XU is Ms. CHE Jianfang’s husband and Mr. XU Guoxing’s brother. Mr. XU completed a correspondence
course in business administration at Beijing Business Management Correspondence College (It R 487 & 12 (1% &b
in July 2004. He also completed the executive master of business administration program at Cheung Kong Graduate
School of Business (KL Zkt) in September 2011.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Mr. Joseph Raymond GAGNON, aged 40, joined our Company in December 2009 and has been a non-executive
Director of our Company since then. Mr. GAGNON is primarily responsible for participating in formulating our
Company’s corporate and business strategies. He joined Warburg Pincus Asia LLC, an affiliate of Warburg Pincus
(ERZEFILELE), in September 2005 and currently serves as its managing director and the head of its real estate
investment business in Asia. Mr. GAGNON previously worked for GE Capital from July 2000 to August 2005, where
he last served as a business development manager with GE Capital Real Estate in Tokyo. Mr. GAGNON has been a
director of Vingroup Joint Stock Company, a company listed on the Ho Chi Minh City Stock Exchange (stock code:
VIC), since July 2013. Mr. GAGNON also served as a non-executive director of Sunshine 100 China Holdings Ltd. ([
1007 B iR A BR A Al), a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 02608), from June 2011 to
September 2014.

Mr. GAGNON graduated with a bachelor of science degree in mathematical economics from Wake Forest University
in the United States in August 2000. On 14 June 2012, Mr. GAGNON was appointed as a director of Titan Investment
Group Limited (“TIGL"), a company incorporated in Hong Kong. TIGL was financially distressed at the time when Mr.
GAGNON was appointed as a director. Mr. GAGNON’s role included seeking means of reorganizing the TIGL group
for the benefit of its shareholders and creditors. On 18 June 2012, one of TIGL's shareholders made an application to
the British Virgin Island court for the appointment of liquidators to TIGL. On 17 July 2012, TIGL was appointed as the
liquidators as part of the reorganization process that Mr. GAGNON supported and assisted with implementing. On 17
September 2012, a consortium agreed to purchase substantially all of the assets of the TIGL group.

Mr. ZHANG Qiqi, aged 36, joined our Company in December 2010 and has been a non-executive Director of our
Company since then. Mr. ZHANG is primarily responsible for participating in formulating our Company’s corporate and
business strategies. He joined Beijing Warburg Pincus Investment Consulting Co., Ltd., an affiliate of Warburg Pincus in
July 2009 and currently serves as its managing director. Mr. ZHANG previously worked as an auditor and successively
a senior auditor at the Shanghai branch of PWC Consulting (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. from August 2003 to July 2007. Mr.
ZHANG graduated with a bachelor’'s degree in international economics and trade (English) from Shanghai International
Studies University (_LE/84MNEIEAER) in July 2003 and a master of business administration degree from the Booth School
of Business, University of Chicago, in June 2009.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LI Zhenning, aged 64, joined our Company in March 2012 and has been our independent non-executive Director
since then. He is primarily responsible for participating in the decision making for our Company’s significant events and
advising on issues relating to corporate governance, audit, strategy and investment, and the nomination, remuneration
and assessment of our Directors and senior management. Prior to joining our Company, Mr. LI engaged in investment
activities and acted as a financial consultant in his personal capacity from May 1995 to December 2002. He was an
independent director of Shanghai Zhangjiang Hi-tech Park Development Co., Ltd. (B8R ISRIEERERERDABR
A\]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600895), from May 2008 to April 2010. Mr. LI
founded Shanghai Rising Fund Management Company Ltd. (E/8E{E%EEE AR A A]) in December 1997 and has
been serving as its chairman of the board of directors since then. He has also been serving as the chairman of the
board of directors of Shanghai Juying Culture Communication Co., Ltd. (BB EX(LEEAR A 7)) since November
2006. Mr. LI graduated from Renmin University of China (B A K KE) with a bachelor's degree in western economics
in June 1982 and a master’s degree in economics in June 1985.

Mr. LEE Kwan Hung, aged 52, has been appointed as our independent non-executive Director since February 2015.
He is primarily responsible for participating in the decision making for our Company’s significant events and advising
on issues relating to the nomination of our Directors and senior management. From December 1992 to April 1994, Mr.
LEE worked in the Listing Division of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, where he successively served as a manager and
a senior manager, and was a partner of Woo, Kwan, Lee & Lo from April 2001 to February 2011. Mr. LEE is currently a
consultant at Howse Williams Bowers. He has been an independent non-executive director of several companies listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, including Embry Holdings Limited (Z#i52% AR A A]) (stock code: 1388) since
November 2006, NetDragon Websoft Inc. (HBEALEIER AR A R]) (stock code: 777) since June 2008, Asia Cassava
Resources Holdings Limited (2M/RZ & JRIZAZERAR]) (stock code: 841) since January 2009, Newton Resources
Ltd. (FTIEERAER A A]) (stock code: 1231) since December 2010, Tenfu (Cayman) Holdings Company Limited (X#&
(F2¥ER AR AR]) (stock code: 6868) since August 2011, China BlueChemical Ltd. (/&5 ML ER B B R A R]) (stock
code: 3983) since June 2012, Landsea Green Properties Co., Ltd. (BAsF&k B E B R /A F]) (stock code: 106) since July
2013, China Goldjoy Group Limited (fEI& %&£ E AR A7) (stock code: 1282) since November 2015, Fse Engineering
Holdings Limited (& #E R AR A 7)) (stock code: 331) since November 2015, and Ten Pao Group Holdings Limited
(REEBIERAR A (stock code: 1979) since November 2015. Mr. LEE was also an independent non-executive
director of Yuexiu REIT Asset Management Limited (#iFFHEEE IR AR A F]), which is the manager of Yuexiu
Real Estate Investment Trust (MFFEHEREETES) (stock code: 405), from November 2005 to October 2014, an
independent non-executive director of Far East Holdings International Limited (REIZREE AR A7) (stock code: 36)
from March 2012 to November 2014 and an independent non-executive director of Walker Group Holdings Limited (&
HEEBIEIRER AR (stock code: 1386) from February 2011 to March 2016, the shares of which or the units or shares
of the said management funds are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, and Futong Technology Development
Holdings Limited (B @FHTBERIER AR A A]) (stock code: 465) from November 2009 to November 2017. Mr. LEE
obtained his Bachelor of Laws (Honours) degree and Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from the University of Hong
Kong in 1988 and 1989, respectively. He was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 1991 and in the United Kingdom
in 1997.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Mr. DING Yuan, aged 48, joined our Company in March 2012 and has been appointed as our independent
non-executive Director since then. He is primarily responsible for participating in the decision making for our
Company’s significant events and advising on issues relating to corporate governance and audit. Mr. DING has more
than ten years of experience in teaching and researching financial accounting, financial statement analysis, corporate
governance and mergers and acquisitions. Mr. DING served as a tenured professor in accounting and management
control at the HEC School of Management in France from September 1999 to September 2006. Mr. DING has joined
the CEIBS since September 2006, and is currently serving as the Cathay Capital professor, vice president and dean
in Accounting. Since July 2013, Mr. DING has been serving as an independent non-executive director, the chairman
of the audit committee and a member of the nomination committee and the remuneration committee of Landsea Green
Properties Co., Ltd. (BiFF&k BHEBR A F]), a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 106).
He has been an independent non-executive director, the chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of
nomination committee and audit committee of Man Wah Holdings Limited (%3288 AR 2 a]), a company listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 1999) since December 2016. He is currently a director of Jaccar Holdings,
a private investment company. Mr. DING was an independent director and the chairman of the audit committee at
Anhui Gujing Distillery Co., Ltd. (28 &a FEBRMH AR A F]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock
code: 000596), from June 2008 to June 2011, and at TCL Corporation (TCLEB /AR A R]), a company listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000100), from June 2008 to June 2014. He has been a director and the
chairman of the audit committee of Maglndustries Corp., a company listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (stock code:
MAA), since July 2011 to June 2015. Mr. DING graduated with a doctor of philosophy degree in management science
from the College of Business Administration, Bordeaux IV University in France in May 2000.

Mr. QIAN Shizheng, aged 65, joined our Company in April 2016 and has been appointed as our independent
non-executive Director of our Company since then. He is primarily responsible for participating in the decision
making for our Company’s significant events and advising on issues relating to corporate governance, audit and the
remuneration and assessment of our Directors and senior management. Mr. QIAN has over 30 years of experience
in the theory and practice of finance and accounting. Mr. QIAN served as the Deputy Dean of the Department of
Accounting at Shanghai Fudan University from August 1983 to December 1997. During the period from January 1998
to June 2012, he served as the executive director and vice president of Shanghai Industrial Holdings Limited (_£)8
BEEILRARAT]), a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 363), and concurrently served
as the vice chairman of Haitong Securities Co., Ltd. (8B&EHF&RHER A F]), a company listed on both the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 600837) and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 6837). During the period from
June 2014 to February 2017, Mr. Qian served as an independent director at Shanghai Chengtou Holding Co., Ltd. (&
B ERR AR D B R A |]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600649). Mr. QIAN returned
to Shanghai Fudan University (£/818 8 K2) in July 2012 and is now a professor at the School of Management of
Shanghai Fudan University. Mr. QIAN is concurrently acting as an independent director at Shanghai Lujiazui Finance
and Trade Zone Development Co., Ltd. (L/BERERIE 5 EMAZERMHERAF]), a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 600663), Shanghai Laiyifen Co., Ltd., (L8 RF G M BRAE]) a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603777), Spring Airlines Co., Ltd. (B fZ=DBBRE A R]), a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601021) and Asia Cuanon Technology Co., Ltd. (38 LAIRERHEEM AR A F))*,
a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603378), Hanhua Financial Holding Co., Ltd. (B2 £12
f&1D B R /A F]), a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 3903), Jingrui Holdings Limited (&1
B R/AF]), a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 1862), Lonking Holdings Limited (9
Hfe TR BR AR, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 3339), respectively. Mr. QIAN
obtained his bachelor’s degree in economics from the Accounting Department at Shanghai University of Finance and
Economics in July 1983 and obtained his master’s degree in economics and PhD in management from Shanghai Fudan
University in January 1993 and July 2001, respectively.
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SUPERVISORS

Ms. NG Ellen Hoi Ying, aged 37, has been the shareholder representative Supervisor of our Company since December
2010, mainly responsible for overseeing business development and operations of our Company. Ms. NG currently
serves as a managing director of Warburg Pincus Asia LLC, an affiliate of Warburg Pincus. Ms. NG served as an analyst
in the investment banking division of Bank of America Merrill Lynch in Hong Kong from July 2003 to September 2005.
She joined Warburg Pincus Asia LLC in October 2005 and was promoted to her current position in December 2015. Ms.
NG graduated with a bachelor’s degree in economics from the University of Pennsylvania in May 2003. She has been a
CFA charterholder accredited by CFA Institute since September 2005.

Mr. ZHENG Hongtao, aged 51, joined our Company in January 2016 and has been an independent Supervisor. He has
been engaging in teaching and research work at Beijing National Accounting Institute (It REIZR €51 2z) as a director
of corporate governance and risk control center. Mr. ZHENG was a teacher at Guangdong Zhongkai Technology and
Economics College (BR 18 H M4 & Z6) from July 1995 to December 1996. From January 1997 to October 1997, Mr.
ZHENG was a researcher at the Rural Economics Research Center of the Ministry of Agriculture (B %3825 & B 5t
#0). From October 1997 to September 1998, Mr. ZHENG served as an investment project manager at the investment
banking division of Everbright Securities Company Limited (Yt RKZEH D BR A7) (which was subsequently listed on
both the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 6178) and the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601788)).

Mr. ZHENG participated in post-doctoral research in finance at Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (7 m B 4%
BUEAAE) from July 2002 to December 2006. He graduated from Huazhong Agricultural University (3EFP 2 2 K E2) with
a doctoral degree in agricultural economics and management and a master’s degree in agriculture in June 2001 and
June 1995, respectively.

Mr. ZHENG is currently an independent director of CNNC SUFA Technology Industry Co., Ltd., iHandy, Hebei
Changshan Biochemical Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd., Beijing Taikong Panel Industry Corp (It RAZEIRERHDBRAR]), a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300334), Venustech Group Co., Ltd. (RBAEZREER
it E x5 BBR A7), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002439), and CNFC Overseas
Fisheries Co., Ltd. (F/KEERFERMD AR A A, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
000798) since 2012, 2014 and 2017 respectively. In February 2010, Mr. ZHENG was named as a professor by the
Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic of China. Mr. ZHENG was an independent director of Tangshan Jidong
Cement Co., Ltd. (BILERICERD B R A F]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000401)
and Hengxin Mobile Business Co., Ltd. (B 8@ % (HER A F]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 300081) for the years prior to the date of this annual report.
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SUPERVISORS (CONTINUED)

Mr. CHEN Gang, aged 41, joined our Company in January 2016 and has been an independent Supervisor. Mr. CHEN
served as the senior manager and director of the investment banking division of Huatai United Securities Co., Ltd. (¥
tA B ABMRETAT), formerly known as United Securities Co., Ltd. (Bt& EA5ERET/A7]) and the general manager
of its investment banking (4) division of Shanghai from July 2001 to August 2006. From August 2006 to February 2007,
he served as an assistant of general manager of the headquarters of mergers and acquisitions financing department
of China Securities and the person in charge of the Shanghai branch of the company. From February 2007 to January
2010, he served successively as the vice general manager and the executive general manager of the investment
banking division of Zhongtai Securities Co., Ltd. (FZRFH KM B R A 7)), formerly known as Qilu Securities Co., Ltd. (%
B FHBR/AR]. From February 2010 to December 2016, he successively acted as assistant to president and general
manager of the investment banking division of Zhongshan Securities Co., Ltd., vice general manager of the OTC Market
division and general manager of the new third board business of Zhongshan Securities Co., Ltd. Since January 2017,
he has been appointed as general manager of the investment banking division in LC Securities. Mr. CHEN graduated
from Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications (It = # % K2) with a major in English for Science and
technology and a bachelor’s degree in engineering in July 1998. Mr. CHEN completed the finance courses (including
insurance courses) of the Economics College in Fudan University and obtained the master’s degree in economy in
July 2001, completed the world economy courses of the Economics College in Fudan University and obtained doctoral
degree in economy in July 2009, and engaged in post-doctoral research on politics in the International Relationships
and Public Affairs College in Fudan University and graduated in July 2012. Mr. CHEN is currently a part-time master
tutor at the School of Economics of the Fudan University and a master tutor in Shanghai Advanced Institute of Finance (=
BRIBAESHSRIEZLR). He is also a member of the Tenth Session of the Central Finance and Economics Committee
of China National Democratic Construction Association (FEIRFEEEF RFHEHMEEE). Mr. CHEN was accredited
as a Chinese Certified Public Accountant by Shanghai Institute of Certified Public Accountants (/8% )
in November 2004. In September 2009, Mr. CHEN was accredited by Jiangsu Office of Personnel (T# & AZEE) as a
senior economist. Mr. CHEN was listed in the first batch of sponsors in Chinese securities market in 2004.

Mr. PAN Ning, aged 51, has been the chairman of the Supervisory committee of the Company since February 2012.
He was previously a vice general manager of the Company from June 2007 to December 2011, mainly responsible
for overseeing the audit and evaluating investment decisions of the Company. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. PAN
worked as an officer successively at the Changzhou branch of the People’s Bank of China, the Changzhou branch
of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China and Changzhou Commercial Bank from November 1983 to March 2002.
Mr. PAN served as a vice president of Red Star Furniture Group from 2002 to 2007, mainly responsible for corporate
finance work.

Mr. PAN completed a part-time course in finance at Jiangsu Radio and Television University (T#EEERAZ) (now
known as Jiangsu Open University (TR HKEY)) in July 1991 and a postgraduate course in monetary banking at
Suzhou University (B J1KE) in June 1998. He completed the “Senior Executive Program for China” jointly organized by
China Europe International Business School, Harvard Business School and the School of Economics and Management
of Tsinghua University (BEARS&EEEIRERT) in December 2009. Mr. PAN completed the finance executive master
of business administration course in Shanghai Advanced Institute of Finance (/X BAZE SRS RZE) and
obtained his master’s degree in executive master of business administration in June 2016. Mr. PAN was accredited by
the Jiangsu branch of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China as an economist in June 1992.

Ms. CHAO Yanping, aged 47, has been the employee representative Supervisor of the Company since December
2010. Ms. CHAO has been serving as a general manager of the Company’s first development center since June 2007,
mainly responsible for overseeing business development and operations of the Company. She has also been serving as
an executive partner of Shanghai Hongmei Investment since February 2012. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. CHAO
worked as the general manager of Shanghai region in Red Star Furniture Group from 2002 to 2007, mainly responsible
for projects investment and development.

Ms. CHAO completed part-time study in business administration at the University of Shanghai for Science and
Technology (/&2 T RX2) in January 2010.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LIU Yuanjin, aged 63, joined our Company in June 2007 and has been a vice general manager of our Company. He is
primarily responsible for the business development and operations of our Company. Prior to joining our Company, Mr.
LIU worked at Changzhou Jugian Street Primary School (& /1T BAIE/NE2) from September 1971 to January 1977. Mr.
LIU was a member and a deputy secretary of the communist youth league committee of Tianning District, Changzhou
City from January 1977 to September 1981. From July 1985 to August 1997, Mr. LIU worked in the government of
Tianning District, Changzhou City, where he successively served as head of the industry department, head of the
planning economy department and the deputy district chief. From August 1997 to December 2003, Mr. LIU served as
deputy head and deputy secretary of the central management committee and a member of the party committee of the
Changzhou National High Technology Development Zone (FMMBIR ST 2), and concurrently served as the
deputy district chief and deputy secretary of the communist party committee of Xinbei District, Changzhou City. Mr. LIU
served as a vice president of Red Star Furniture Group from 2004 to 2007, mainly responsible for the development of
projects in their early stage.

Mr. LIU completed his studies in engineering management at Tianjin University (KZAX£) in July 1985. He completed
the “Senior Executive Program for China” jointly organized by CEIBS, Harvard Business School and the School of
Economics and Management of Tsinghua University (BZE RS EEIE &) in December 2007. He completed the
EMBA course of Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business (KT ZFt) in 2014. Mr. LIU is currently taking the CEO
course of China Europe International Business School.

Mr. XI Shichang, aged 43, joined our Company in July 2010 and has been the chief financial officer of our Company
since December 2010. He is primarily responsible for overseeing corporate finance and financial management of our
Company. Prior to joining our Company, from October 1999 to December 2002, Mr. X| worked at Shanghai Zhong Yong
Xin Accounting Firm (_E/&/k{Z€5HAIE5AT). From January 2003 to July 2010, Mr. XI worked at Deloitte & Touche
Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd.

Mr. XI graduated with a bachelor’s degree in finance from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics (_E/88 4K
&) in July 1995 and a master of business administration degree from the executive master of business administration
program at CEIBS in October 2013. Mr. X| has been a Certified Public Accountant accredited by Shanghai Institution of
Certified Public Accountants (/8= &5TAIHE) since June 2011,

Mr. LI Jianhong, aged 44, joined our Company in February 2013 and has been a vice general manager of our Company
since March 2013. He is primarily responsible for the investment and financing of our Company. Prior to joining our
Company, Mr. LI worked as the head of the finance department of Xiamen Customs in the 1990s. Mr. LI joined Man
Wah Holdings Ltd. (8{ZE# AR A A]), a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 01999) in
September 2000 and served as its executive director, chief operating officer and vice president from April 2005 to
October 2011.

Mr. LI graduated with a bachelor’s degree in accounting from Xiamen University (EF9AXZ) in July 1994, and obtained a
distance education degree in executive master of business administration from Peking University (1t = K2) in January
2007. Mr. LI obtained a master of business administration degree from Booth School of Business, University of Chicago
in March 2010. Mr. LI was accredited as a Chinese Certified Public Accountant by CICPA in June 2001.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. ZHANG Peifeng, aged 46, joined our Company in October 2008 and has been a vice general manager of our
Company since 30 December 2010. He is primarily responsible for the property management of our Company. Prior
to joining our Company, Mr. ZHANG worked in Whirlpool Corporation (China) (EBIZEMHEKILAF (FE)), a company
mainly producing household appliances, from September 1997 to March 1999. Mr. ZHANG then worked in Shanghai
B&Q Decoration and Construction Material Co., Ltd. (L8 B ZFEFKEEM AR A F]) from June 1999 to July 2005. From
August 2005 to November 2006, Mr. ZHANG worked at the Home Depot (China) (RS E (FE)), a company mainly
selling home furniture and construction materials. From January 2007 to May 2008, Mr. ZHANG worked in Best Buy
Commercial (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (A EBE¥% (8 AR ARF).

Mr. ZHANG graduated with a bachelor’'s degree in English literature from Qufu Normal University (#8RH&EAE) in July
1994 and a master’s degree in English language from Shanghai International Studies University (/84NEIFEARE) in
February 1997.

Mr. XIE Jian, aged 47, joined our Company in March 2011 and has been a vice general manager of our Company
since April 2011. He is primarily responsible for human resources, cultural promotion management, administration
and management of our Company. Prior to joining our Company, Mr. XIE served as a general manager responsible for
human resources and service quality of New World Department Store China Ltd. (¥t 525 & (R E) AR X 7)) from April
1995 to January 2011.

Mr. XIE completed his studies in politics and education at Wuxi Education College (% & 26%) in July 1990. He
obtained a bachelor’'s degree in business management through self-study examination from Nanjing University (F R
KE) in July 1995. Mr. XIE obtained a master of business administration degree from the executive master of business
administration program at Shanghai Jiao Tong University in June 2015. Mr. XIE was awarded as the “Excellent Trainer
of the Industry” by China Building Materials Circulation Association (FBEZEMELRBEHE) in November 2010 and was
appointed as “First Thinktank — Human Resources Expert” and “China Pioneer HR” in October 2013 by First Thinktank
(B—&JREE). He is currently serving as the MBA occupation tutor by Antai College of Economics & Management,
Shanghai Jiao Tong University (/82 BARELREREE SM) and the head of the Human Resources Committee of
the China’s Chain Stores by the CCFA. He entered the “2015 China Top 100 Individuals for Promoting the HR Reform”
selected in April 2015. The team led by Mr. XIE has been awarded “Best Corporate University” for 7 years in a row
since 2011 and has been granted “China Best Employer Award” for 5 years in a row since 2013. Mr. XIE is the deputy
director of the Business Development & Research Institute (Bl 3 2R ITAT), the lecturer of EMBA entrepreneurship
of Antai College of Economics and Management of Shanghai Jiao Tong University, the deputy director of CCFA,
the chief committee member of human resources committee and deputy chief committee member of fashion retail
committee.

Mr. GUO Binghe, aged 44, joined our Company in June 2007 and has been a vice general manager of our Company
since October 2011. Since December 2013, he has also been the secretary of the Board. He is primarily responsible for
legal compliance, corporate governance, internal control, investor relations and information disclosure of our Company
and providing support and assistance to the Board in the performance of its duties. Prior to joining our Company, Mr.
GUO worked in the investment banking division of Shenyin & Wanguo Securities Co., Ltd. (FIEBBEFRMD R A R])
from July 2001 to March 2004. He then worked in Skyone Securities Co., Ltd. (K—&5EGR A7) from March 2004 to
October 2005. From 2006 to 2007, Mr. GUO served as assistant chief financial officer of Red Star Furniture Group.

Mr. GUO completed his studies in English education at Anhui Education College (Z## & £63) (now known as Hefei
Normal University (& EETEEZ2F3)) in July 1998, and obtained a master’s degree in economics from Fudan University in
July 2001 and a degree of executive master of business administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business
(RIEEZT). Mr. GUO was accredited as an intermediate economist by Ningbo Municipal People’s Government in
January 2005.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. WANG Wei, aged 48, joined our Company in June 2007 and has been a vice general manager of our Company
since March 2013. He is primarily responsible for the business development and operation of our Company. Mr. WANG
has held several positions successively since joining our Company, including the general manager of Chongging
Red Star Macalline Shibo Home Living Plaza Company Limited (EE4I 2 XS EHEERELEEESERETAA) and
Chengdu Red Star Macalline Shibo Home Living Plaza Company Limited (X#4LE XS EHIERELTESERE
f£22 7)) from June 2007 to August 2008, the general manager of our operating center in the southwest region and
Shanghai from August 2008 to June 2009, the assistant president and the general manager of our operating center
in the Beijing-Shanghai Southwest region from June 2009 to August 2012 and the general manager of our operating
center in the Beijing-Shanghai Southwest region from September 2010 to August 2012. Prior to joining our Company,
Mr. WANG served as the assistant general manager of Wuhan GOME Electrical Appliances Ltd. (FV2BIZZE R GRAF])
from March 2004 to December 2005. From December 2005 to June 2007, Mr. WANG served as the assistant general
manager of the development center of Red Star Furniture Group, mainly responsible for the operation of shopping malls
in Changzhou and Xuzhou.

Mr. WANG graduated with a bachelor’s degree in Chinese from Hubei University (835 K&) in June 1992 and a master’s
degree in business administration from Wuhan University of Technology (E/Z#¥ T AX2) in June 2005. He graduated
from Renmin University of China with an EMBA in June 2015.

Mr. CHEN Donghui, aged 41, joined our Company in June 2007 and has been a vice general manager of our Company
since March 2013. He is primarily responsible for the development of online business of our Company. Mr. CHEN has
held several positions successively since joining our Company, including the general manager of the fourth operating
center and the general manager of Shandong, Northeast and North China regions from June 2007 to June 2010, the
assistant to the president and general manager of Northeast and North China regions from June 2010 to December
2013, the vice president from January 2014 to November 2017 and has concurrently served as the COO of the Internet
Division since December 2017. Prior to joining our Company, Mr. CHEN held several positions successively in Red Star
Furniture Group, including as its accountant from December 1994 to July 1996, the vice general manager in charge of
business operation of its several operating subsidiaries from July 1996 to August 2006, and the general manager of its
forth operation center and Shandong, Northeast and North China regions from August 2006 to June 2007. Mr. CHEN is
Ms. CHEN Shuhong’s brother.

Mr. CHEN completed the advanced course of business administration at Shanghai Jiao Tong University (E/8XBAZ)
in April 2005 and his studies in business administration through online education at East China Normal University (225
BM#3AE) in January 2014. He obtained his master’s degree in executive master of business administration in Shanghai
Fudan University (/8788 X&) in June 2016.

Mr. ZHANG Xian, aged 39, joined our Company in June 2007 and has been a vice general manager of our Company
since March 2015. He is primarily responsible for the general operation of shopping malls and management of the
pre-paid card, building materials collection and logistics businesses of our Company. Mr. ZHANG has held several
positions successively since joining our Company, including the vice general manager of the fourth operating
center, the vice general manager of Shandong and Northeast regions, and the general manager of Southern area of
Jiangsu Province from June 2007 to December 2010, the assistant president and the general manager of operation
and promotion center from December 2010 to January 2015. Prior to joining our Company, Mr. ZHANG held several
positions successively in Red Star Furniture Group, including the head of its human resources department and the
director of its president office from January 1999 to January 2005, the vice general manager of its fourth operation
center, the vice general manager of Shandong and Northeast regions, and the general manager of Southern area of
Jiangsu Province area from January 2005 to June 2007. Mr. ZHANG was awarded the honourable title of “Shanghai
Youth 4th Medal” in April 2016.

Mr. ZHANG graduated with a master’'s degree in business administration from Guangxi Normal University (& 78Rl & X 22)
in June 2013.
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Report of Directors

The Board of Directors is pleased to present this annual report together with the audited Consolidated Financial
Statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the end of the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE INFORMATION, GLOBAL OFFERING AND A-SHARE
LISTING

The Company was incorporated in the PRC on 6 January 2011 as a sino-foreign joint stock company with limited
liability. The Company’s H Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 1528)
on 26 June 2015.

The Company has completed the A Share Offering on 16 January 2018. The A Shares of the Company were listed and
commenced trading on the Shanghai Stock Exchange on 17 January 2018 with stock code 601828.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group operates as a leading home improvement and furnishings shopping mall operator in China principally
engaged in the operation of owned/leased portfolio shopping malls, managed shopping malls, sales of merchandise
and related services businesses. The principal activities of the Group are as follows:

owned/leased portfolio shopping malls including leasing floor areas to the tenants and providing comprehensive
and continuous operation and management support to them;

ii. managed shopping malls including providing initiation, consultation and management services to the Group’s
partners and the construction contractors to develop and manage the shopping malls under the Group’s own
brand; and

iii. sales of merchandise and related services including retail sales of home furnishing merchandise and providing
related decorating services.

Please refer to Note (VII).1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 287 for details of the principal activities
of the principal subsidiaries of the Group. There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the Reporting Period.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND OPERATING RESULTS

Please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 10 for a summary of financial
information and operating results of the Group for the end of the Reporting Period.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion on the Group’s future business development
are provided in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on page 7 as well as the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on page 10. Description of possible risks that the Group may be facing can be found in
the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 38. Also, the risk management objectives and
policies of the Group can be found in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” on page 84. Particulars of
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2017
are provided in Note (XII) to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 348 and the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on page 37. An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using key financial
performance indicators is provided in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 33.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

We are subject to certain environmental protection laws and regulations, including the Prevention and Control of
Water Pollution Law of the People’s Republic of China ({# AR XFEK5TA%E)), the Prevention and Control of
Atmospheric Pollution Law of the People’s Republic of China ({FZEARELMBKE54EHA)%)), the Prevention and
Control of Noise Pollution Law of the People’s Republic of China({FZE AR EXFIFIRIFRE5F5747%)), the Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste Law of the People’s Republic of China ((fF Z A R 1B E B2
SHERIREEGASRY), the Environmental Impact Assessment Law of the People’s Republic of China ({2 A R L ME RS
FEFB%)), the Administrative Regulations on Environmental Protection for Acceptance Examination upon Completion
of Buildings ((Z#:%18 B % TIRIFIRERIWEEIE)) and the Administrative Regulations on Environmental Protection for
Development Projects (%18 B IR IRIREE BIEH)).

Each of our property development projects is required under People’s Republic of China laws to undergo environmental
impact assessments. We must submit the relevant environmental impact study or report to the environmental authorities,
along with other required documents, for evaluation and approval by the authorized environmental protection
authorities. The approval from the relevant government authorities will specify the standards applicable to the
construction project with respect to areas such as air pollution, noise emissions and water and waste discharge. Such
measures are required to be incorporated into the design, construction and operation of the particular project. Upon
completion of each project, the relevant government authorities will also inspect the site to ensure that all applicable
environmental standards have been complied with.

We have taken and will continue to take specific measures to ensure our compliance with applicable environmental laws
and regulations, including (i) strictly selecting construction contractors and supervising the process of construction;
(ii) applying for review by the relevant government authorities in a timely manner after the project is completed; and
(iii) actively adopting environmentally friendly equipment and designs. We also undertake voluntary environmental
protection actions and make energy conservation and emission reduction our top considerations when designing
our property projects. In 2017, we incurred environmental compliance costs of approximately RMB131.69 million. We
expect the annual costs of compliance going forward to be substantially similar, assuming that there will not be any
material changes in environmental protection rules and regulations.

As at the end of the Reporting Period, none of our shopping malls had received any material fines or penalties associated
with any breach of any environmental laws or regulations since the commencement of their operations.

The Board has overall responsibility for our environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) strategy and reporting. The
Board is responsible for evaluating and determining our ESG-related risks, and ensuring that appropriate and effective
ESG risk management and internal control systems are in place. A confirmation regarding effectiveness of these
systems has been provided to the Board during the year ended 31 December 2017. A separate ESG report complying
with the disclosure requirements under Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules will be published by the Group separately, in
any event no later than three months after the publication of this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group and its activities are required to comply with the requirements of laws and regulations of China, including
but not limited to The Company Laws of the People’s Republic of China ({(F# AR HEFIE A FE)), The Law of the PRC
on Protection of Consumer Rights and Interest ((f2E AR FE MBS B & #E=IRE%)), The Law of Administration of Urban
Real Estate of the PRC ({(FZEAR KB T EHEEIEE)), Construction Law of the People’s Republic of China ({# %
ARFELMBIEEEL)), laws, regulations and other normative documents. The Group focuses on internal risk management
and control. The independent financial management center, legal department, internal control compliance department
are responsible for conducting analysis and review of the laws and regulations applicable to the Company within
the internal approval process and assign a professional team to effectively conduct management, inspections and
rectification, to ensure that the Group is in compliance with relevant laws and regulations in all major aspects.

The Group has complied with the requirements under the Companies Ordinance, the Listing Rules and the SFO for,
among other things, the disclosure of information and corporate governance. The Group has adopted the Model Code.

RELATIONS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The Group understands well that employees are valuable assets and thus offers competitive remuneration portfolio
to attract and motivate employees. The Group reviews the employees’ remuneration portfolio on a regular basis and
makes necessary adjustment to align the market standards. The Group also understands that it is of great importance
to maintain good relations with suppliers and customers for the realization of the short-term and long-term goals. For
the purpose of maintaining the competitiveness of brands and the leading position, the Group is committed to providing
premium products and services to customers. During the Reporting Period, the Group has no material and significant
dispute with suppliers and/or customers.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

For details of the Group’s key risks and uncertain factors for the end of the Reporting Period, please refer to page 38 in
the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”.
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BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Please refer to Note (V).20, 28 and 29 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 232 for details of bank loans
and other borrowings of the Group as of the end of the Reporting Period.

BONDS

On 14 July 2016, the issue of the second tranche Corporate Bonds of the Company was completed with an issue size of
RMB3,000,000,000 at coupon rates of 3.50% and 4.29% for Category | Bonds and Category Il Bonds, respectively, and
issue price at 100% of its principal value. Such Corporate Bonds are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. The net
proceeds from the Corporate Bonds are used to repay the loan of the Company and its subsidiaries. For further details,
please refer to the announcements issued by the Company on 8 July, 12 July and 15 July 2016, respectively. Bonds are
still outstanding as at 31 December 2017.

On 21 September 2017, Hong Kong Red Star Macalline Universal Home Furnishings Limited (BB 4 £ XslE2 K
EBR2AF]), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, issued US$300,000,000 of 3.375% guaranteed bonds due
in 2022 (the “Bonds”) and intended to use the net proceeds from such issuance to (i) invest in the development of
certain of the Group’s Portfolio Shopping Malls, (ii) purchase properties for the Group’s operational use, (iii) invest in or
acquire participants in the home improvement and furnishings business or related businesses, (iv) replenish working
capital of the Group and (v) apply to general corporate purposes of the Group. The Bonds are listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. For further details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 13 September and 15
September 2017, respectively.

Please refer to Note (V).30 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 242 for details of bonds of the Group for
the end of the Reporting Period.

The Group issued commercial mortgage backed securities during the Reporting Period, please refer to Note (V).33 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 248 for details of commercial mortgage backed securities.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Please refer to Note (XI).2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 345 for details of contingent liabilities of
the Group for the end of the Reporting Period.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

All investment properties we owned were for rental income, and they are subject to medium-term lease in the PRC. Set
out below are investment properties that are considered material by our Directors.

Market value in existing state as at

No. Property Existing Use the end of the Reporting Period
RMB’000
1. Shanghai Zhenbei Phase || Mall Shopping Mall 4,246,000
No. 1058 Zhenbei Road
Shanghai
The PRC

Red Star Macalline Group Corporation Ltd.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Market value in existing state as at
No. Property Existing Use the end of the Reporting Period

RMB'000

2. Shanghai Pudong Hunan Mall Shopping Mall 3,968,000
No. 518 Linyu Road
Pudong New Area
Shanghai
The PRC

3. Zhengzhou Shangdu Mall Shopping Mall 3,237,000
No. 1 Shangdu Road
Zhengdong New District
Zhengzhou City
Henan Province
The PRC

4. Nanjing Kazimen Mall Shopping Mall 3,233,000
No. 29 Kazimen Street
Qinhuai District
Nanjing City
Jiangsu Province
The PRC

5. Shanghai Wenshui Mall Shopping Mall 3,172,000
No. 1555 Wenshui Road
Baoshan District
Shanghai
The PRC

6. Beijing East Fourth-Ring Mall Shopping Mall 2,792,000
No. 193 East Fourth-Ring Middle Road
Chaoyang District
Beijing
The PRC
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Market value in existing state as at

Property Existing Use the end of the Reporting Period
RMB000
7. Shenyang Tiexi Mall Shopping Mall 2,731,000
No. 35 Bei Er East Road
Tiexi District

Shenyang City
Liaoning Province
The PRC

8. Shanghai Pudong Jingiao Mall Shopping Mall 2,441,000
No. 100 Jinzang Road
Pudong New Area
Shanghai
The PRC

9. Beijing West Fourth-Ring Mall Shopping Mall 2,285,000
No. 113 West Fourth Ring Road
Fengtai District
Beijing
The PRC

10.  Shanghai Zhenbei Phase | Mall Shopping Mall 1,907,000
No. 1058 Zhenbei Rood
Shanghai
The PRC

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Please refer to Note (V).12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 221 for details of the property, plant and
equipment of the Group for the end of the Reporting Period.

Red Star Macalline Group Corporation Ltd. 957




o8

Report of Directors

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The distributable reserves of the Company as at the end of the Reporting Period amounted to RMB4,470.6 million.

Please refer to the statement of changes in equity of the Company on page 120 and the balance sheet of the Company
on page 113 for the change in reserves of the Company and information about the statement of financial position of the
Company for the end of the Reporting Period.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARY,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

On 10 July 2017, pursuant to an agreement dated 16 May 2017 between Yantai Red Star, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the a trust fund managed by Tianjin Changhe Shareholding Investment Fund Management Company
Limited and Red Star Management, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Red Star Management
acquired 100% equity interests in Zhengzhou Juankai Enterprise Management Consultation Company Limited, a
subsidiary of Yantai Red Star, at a consideration of RMB2,650,000,000 (“Consideration”) which was paid by Red Star
Management by way of selling its 100% equity interests in Tianjin Red Star Macalline International Home Furnishings
Construction Materials Company Limited and Tianjin Red Star Macalline International Home Furnishings Malls Company
Limited, indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company (“Project Companies”), together with a cash payment of
RMB26,042,000 which represents the shortfall between the Consideration and the valuation of the equity interests of the
Project Companies.

For further details, please refer to the announcements made by the Company dated 4 May, 16 May, 18 May, 29 June
and 12 September 2017.

Save as disclosed above, as at the end of the Reporting Period, the Group had no material acquisition or disposal of
the subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the Reporting Period.
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FINAL DIVIDEND AND TAXATION RELIEF

The Board resolved to propose to the Shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting on 8 June 2018 for the
distribution of a final dividend of RMB0.32 per share for the year ended 31 December 2017 payable to the Shareholders
whose names are listed in the registers of members of the Company on 21 June 2018. The proposal for the distribution
of the final dividend above is subject to the consideration and approval of the Shareholders at the AGM.

Pursuant to the PRC Individual Income Tax Law ({1 ZEARFEFEEAFTERE)), the Implementation Regulations
of the PRC Individual Income Tax Law ({FZEARLMEEAFTEFRIAEHEED)), other laws and regulations and
relevant regulatory documents promulgated by the State Administration of Taxation of the PRC, the Company shall, as
a withholding agent, withhold and pay individual income tax at the rate of 10% for the individual holders of H Shares
in respect of the dividend for 2017 to be distributed to them. The individual holders of H Shares may be entitled to
certain tax preferential treatments pursuant to the tax treaties between the PRC and the countries (regions) in which the
individual holders of H Shares are domiciled and the tax arrangements between mainland China, Hong Kong or Macau.

For non-resident enterprise holders of H Shares, the Company will withhold and pay enterprise income tax at the tax
rate of 10% for such holders of H Shares pursuant to relevant regulatory documents of the State Administration of
Taxation of the PRC.

For investors of the Shanghai Stock Exchange investing in the H Shares of the Company, the Company will distribute
the cash dividend for 2017 to the Shanghai Branch of China Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation Limited
which, as the nominee of the investors of H Shares of Southbound Trading, will then distribute the cash dividends to
the relevant investors of H Shares of Southbound Trading through its depository and clearing system. Pursuant to the
Notice on the Tax Policies Related to the Pilot Program of the Shanghai-Hong Kong Stock Connect (Caishui [2014] No.
81) (KEBRNEBRREM SR 5 B B M s 5 2 A BRI /@A), for domestic individual investors, the Company shall
withhold and pay individual income tax at the rate of 20% on behalf of the investors. For domestic securities investment
funds, the tax payable shall be the same as that for individual investors. The Company will not withhold and pay the
income tax of dividends for domestic enterprise investors which shall report and pay the relevant tax themselves. The
record date and the date of distribution of cash dividends and other arrangements for the investors of Southbound
Trading will be the same as those for the holders of H Shares of the Company.

Should the holders of H Shares of the Company have any doubt in relation to the aforesaid arrangements, they are
recommended to consult their tax advisors for relevant tax impact in mainland China, Hong Kong and other countries
(regions) on the possession and disposal of the H Shares of the Company.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Please refer to Note (V).23 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 234 for details of retirement benefits of
the Group for the end of the Reporting Period.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The Group’s financial summary for the last five financial years is set out on page 426 of this annual report. This
summary does not form part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

Purchases from the largest supplier of the Group for the end of the Reporting Period represented approximately 26.4%
of the Group’s total purchases. The total purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for
approximately 30.6% of the total purchases of the Group for the end of the Reporting Period.

Sales to the largest third-party customer for the end of the Reporting Period represented approximately 0.7% of the
Group’s total revenue. The total sales attributable to the five largest third-party customers of the Group accounted for
approximately 2.1% of the Group’s total revenue for the end of the Reporting Period.

For the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or their respective Close Associates or any Shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interests in the five largest
suppliers or customers of the Group.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The donations by the Group for the end of the Reporting Period amounted to RMB10.9 million.

CONNECTED AND CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Among the related party transactions disclosed in Note X to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the following
transactions constitute continuing connected transactions and connected transactions for the Company and are
required to be disclosed in this annual report in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company
confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for all the continuing
connected transactions and connected transactions.
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CONNECTED AND CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

Continuing Connected Transactions
(i) Changzhou RSHFC Lease Agreement

On 1 April 2011, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Changzhou Macalline entered into a lease agreement
with Changzhou RSHFC, pursuant to which Changzhou Macalline will lease a piece of property from Changzhou
RSHFC for the operation and management of Changzhou Decoration Mall.

The Changzhou RSHFC Lease Agreement has an initial term of ten years commencing from its signing date.
Changzhou Macalline will pay annual rental and service fees in the fixed amount of RMB13.8 million per annum
for the initial three years, followed by a 10% increase for the fourth year and a 3% increase for each of the
remaining six years. Such pricing mechanism has been determined with reference to (i) the prevailing market
prices of similar properties in the same area; (ii) costs of acquisition of the property by Changzhou RSHFC;
and (iii) depreciation costs of the properties. During the term of the Changzhou RSHFC Lease Agreement,
Changzhou Macalline has the exclusive right to use the leased property. Subject to applicable laws and
regulations, the Changzhou RSHFC Lease Agreement may be renewed based on the parties’ negotiation
following the written notice from Changzhou Macalline at least two months before the expiry of the lease.

Since Changzhou RSHFC is an individual proprietorship enterprise established by Mr. CHE Jianxing in his
personal capacity, transferring the property to our Group by way of asset transfer would give rise to tax
implications for Changzhou RSHFC under the applicable PRC laws, which would ultimately be added to our
purchase price for such property. Accordingly, we decided to lease the property from Changzhou RSHFC for our
management and operation of Changzhou Decoration Mall.

As Changzhou RSHFC is wholly-owned by Mr. CHE, the transactions contemplated under the Changzhou
RSHFC Lease Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

For each of the years ended 31 December 2015, 2016 and 2017, Changzhou Macalline paid annual rental and
service fees of RMB15.5 million, RMB16.0 million and RMB16.4 million, respectively, to Changzhou RSHFC
pursuant to the Changzhou RSHFC Lease Agreement. The existing annual caps for the Changzhou Lease under
the Changzhou Lease RSHFC Lease Agreement expired as of 31 December 2017, the Board approved to set
the new annual caps for the Changzhou RSHFC Lease for the remaining term of the Changzhou RSHFC Lease
Agreement on 20 November 2017. Based on the pricing mechanism as described above, the annual caps for the
lease for each of the years ending 31 December 2018, 2019, 2020 and three months ending 31 March 2021 are
RMB19.0 million, RMB19.5 million, RMB20.0 million and RMB5.0 million, respectively. For further details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 20 November 2017.

For the Reporting Period, the rental and service fees paid and payable by Changzhou Macalline pursuant to the
Changzhou RSHFC Lease Agreement amounted to RMB16.4 million.
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CONNECTED AND CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)

(i) Contract management agreements with Xuzhou RSHFC, Xuzhou RSHFP, Yangzhou RSHFP, Jining Hongrui
and Shaanxi Hongrui

The Company entered into a contract management agreement and the supplemental agreement (the "Contract
Management Agreements"), as the case may be, with each of Xuzhou RSHFC, Xuzhou RSHFP, Yangzhou RSHFP,
Jining Hongrui and Shaanxi Hongrui (the “Associated Business Partners”), pursuant to which the Company
will manage and operate the home improvement and furnishings shopping malls owned by each respective
Associated Business Partner. As such contract management agreements are of the same nature and have been
entered into with parties connected with us by virtue of being the Associates of Mr. CHE Jianxing and Ms. CHE
Jianfang, these agreements have been classified as aggregated under the Listing Rules.

As such, the contract management transactions contemplated under the Contract Management Agreements
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Under each of the contract management agreements, the Company initially charged our Associated Business
Partners a fixed amount of the management fee ranging from RMB2.0 million to RMB6.0 million per annum, as
the case may be, which was in line with our pricing policy for contract management arrangements entered into
prior to 2013. In December 2013 and January 2014, the Company entered into supplemental agreements with
Xuzhou RSHFC, Xuzhou RSHFP and Jining Hongrui, under which the Company and the relevant Associated
Business Partners agreed to revise the pricing mechanism relating to the management fee from a fixed flat rate
to a percentage of the total amount of rental received by each respective Associated Business Partner, subject
to a minimum amount of the annual management fee. The adjustment was made after arm’s length negotiations
between us and each respective Associated Business Partner to reflect current market conditions. The terms
and conditions under our contract management agreements with Yangzhou RSHFP and Shaanxi Hongrui
remain unchanged, except that the Company waived part of the management fee payable by Shaanxi Hongrui
in 2014 on a one-off basis due to Shaanxi Hongrui’'s special request. Each of these five contract management
agreements is for a term ranging from seven to ten years commencing from its signing date.

The amount of the management fee under the five contract management agreements was determined based on:
(i) the local market conditions; (ii) our estimation of the future rental income level for each respective shopping
mall; and (iii) our respective business partner’s expectation of the future rental income.

For each of the years ended 31 December 2015, 2016 and 2017, the Company received management fees in
the total amount of RMB13.0 million, RMB12.5 million and RMB12.3 million under the five contract management
agreements with the Associated Business Partners. The existing annual caps for the five contract management
agreements expired as of 31 December 2017, the Board approved to set the new annual caps for the remaining
terms of each of the contract management agreements on 20 November 2017. Based on (i) the pricing
mechanism as described above, (ii) the market conditions, (iii) our current estimation of the future rental income
level for each respective shopping mall; and (iv) our respective business partner’'s expectation of the future
rental income, the annual caps for the management fees for each of the years ending 31 December 2018, 2019,
2020, 2021 and 2022 are RMB16.5 million, RMB14.5 million, RMB8.0 million, RMB6.8 million and RMB2.3 million,
respectively. For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 20 November 2017.

For the Reporting Period, the management fees received and receivable by the Company pursuant to these
agreements and these supplemental agreements amounted to RMB12.3 million.

Most of the home improvement and furnishings shopping malls managed and operated by us under the five
contract management agreements are located in Tier Ill Cities and Other Cities in the PRC. The Associated
Business Partners intended to leverage our operational experience and reputation through cooperation with us.
Our Directors believe that it is in our interest, and in line with our business strategy, to leverage the Associated
Business Partners’ knowledge and experience to expand our geographic coverage and improve our market
share and brand awareness in these new local markets, with relatively low capital need.
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CONNECTED AND CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)
(iii)  RSED Framework Agreement

One direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Xingyi Tonghui, entered into a pre-paid cards purchase
framework agreement (the “RSED Framework Agreement”) with RSED on 20 March 2015 and a supplemental
agreement dated 3 June 2015, pursuant to which, Xingyi Tonghui will sell our single-purpose pre-paid cards to
RSED and/or its subsidiaries (“RSED Group”) for its use as a promotion method in connection with its property
sales business. The RSED Framework Agreement has a term of three years from its signing date to 20 March
2018.

Under the RSED Framework Agreement, Xingyi Tonghui and RSED Group will enter into separate pre-paid card
purchase agreements on normal commercial terms which will set out the purchase price and the purchase
volume. The purchase price shall be determined after arm’s length negotiations by reference to the face value
of the pre-paid cards, the actual purchase volume, and the then market conditions. Xingyi Tonghui shall provide
facilities and services for cardholders to purchase products using the pre-paid cards.

RSED Group is primarily engaged in real estate development, operation and management of department stores,
and the construction and management of multipurpose complexes. Our cooperation with RSED Group could
promote the sales of our pre-paid cards and the performance of Xingyi Tonghui. It would also help to bring new
customers to our home improvement and furnishings shopping malls and as a result increase the sales of our
shopping malls.

RSED is an associate of RSM Holding, a Controlling Shareholder of the Company. As a result, RSED is
a Connected Person of the Company. The RSED transactions contemplated under the RSED Framework
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

The annual caps for the RSED Framework Agreement for each of the years ended 31 December 2015, 2016
and 2017 are RMB100 million, RMB150 million and RMB200 million, respectively, in terms of face value of the
pre-paid cards. Such annual caps were determined based on (i) the pricing mechanism as described above;
and (ii) an estimate of RSED Group’s purchase volume of our pre-paid cards, which is expected to increase
taking into account RSED Group’s current estimate of its contracted sales amount for 2015 to 2017, which is
RMB10,000 million, RMB15,000 million and RMB20,000 million respectively for each of the three years ended 31
December 2017.

For the Reporting Period, there is no actual amount occurred with RSED Group.

The Directors expect that no actual amount will occur with the RSED Group for the remaining term of the RSED
Framework Agreement therefore the Company does not propose to set the new annual cap for the RSED
Transactions under the RSED Framework Agreement for the period commencing 1 January 2018 and ending
on 20 March 2018 upon the expiry of the current annual caps of the RSED transactions. The Company does
not intend to seek renewal of the RSED Framework Agreement upon the expiration of the term of the RSED
Framework Agreement on 20 March 2018. For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 20 November 2017.
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CONNECTED AND CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)
(iv)  Lease Agreement with Shanghai Hongmei Properties in connection with the leasing of the Jinshan Property

On 25 September 2015, the Company entered into a lease agreement with Shanghai Hongmei Properties Limited
(EE®REEEHFR2AR) (“Shanghai Hongmei Properties”) in connection with the leasing of the Jinshan Property
(the “Lease Agreement”). In June 2016, the Company, Shanghai Red Star Macalline Kaiheng Household Co., Ltd.
(BB 2 EHEREERAR]) (“‘Red Star Macalline Kaiheng”), its wholly-owned subsidiary, and Shanghai
Hongmei Properties entered into a supplemental agreement, pursuant to which, the rights and obligations of the
Company under the Lease Agreement have been transferred to Red Star Macalline Kaiheng. Other than that, the
terms and conditions of the Lease Agreement remain the same.

The Jinshan Property is located at the area under development in Shanghai, the PRC, and the Group has
opened the first upscale large home improvement and furnishings shopping mall, namely, Shanghai Jinshan
Shopping Mall (/&€ 1LUE5), in the area in May 2016. The Directors believe that the lease could enable the
Group to enter into a neighboring market of Shanghai at reasonable costs and to further improve the Group’s
market share and brand awareness in Shanghai, which will help the Group to consolidate its leading position in
the Shanghai market and will be beneficial to its long-term development.

For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2017, the Red Star Macalline Kaiheng paid rent and other fees of
RMB 4.7 million and RMB 0.3 million. The annual caps in respect of the Lease Agreement based on the annual
rent and any other fees payable by the Company for each of the years ended 31 December 2016, 2017 and
2018 is expected to be RMB7 million, RMB9 million and RMB12 million, respectively. The rent payable in respect
of the lease pursuant to the Lease Agreement was determined following arm’s length negotiation between
the Company and Shanghai Hongmei Properties with reference to the prevailing pricing mechanisms of other
shopping malls operated by the Group in nearby areas and in similarly-ranked cities, the expected rent that may
be received by the Company from the tenants in connection with the shopping mall to be opened at the Jinshan
Property, and development stage of the home improvement and furnishings market in the local area.

For the Reporting Period, the annual rent and other fees paid and payable by the Red Star Macalline pursuant to
the Lease Agreement amounted to RMB0.3 million.

The Company, the Seller, the Project Company (defined in below section headed “Connected Transaction”) and
Shanghai Hongmei Properties entered into the Equity Transfer Agreement (defined in below section headed
“Connected Transactions”) dated 28 August 2017 in relation to the acquisition and disposal of the Project
Company which in turn holds the Jinshan Property. The transaction pursuant to the Equity Transfer Agreement
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company. For further details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 28 August 2017. Upon completion of the Transaction, Jinshan Property is no longer owned by
the Company’s Connected Person and the lease pursuant to the Lease Agreement in relation to Jinshan Property
no longer constitutes a continuing connected transaction for the Company.
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CONNECTED AND CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)
(v) Equity Transfer Agreement between RSM Holding and Shanghai Jiajinsuo Investment

On 11 May 2017, RSM Holding entered into an equity transfer agreement with Shanghai Jiajinsuo Investment
Holding Company Limited (E/BREMREZER AR AR]) (“Shanghai Jiajinsuo Investment”), pursuant to which,
Shanghai Jiajinsuo Investment conditionally agreed to sell and RSM Holding conditionally agreed to acquire
100% equity interests in Shanghai Jiajinsuo Financial Information Services Company Limited (88X €& @E
RS AR AR]) (the “Target Company”), for an aggregate consideration of RMB96,069,200 (the “Transaction”).
Upon completion of the Transaction, the Target Company will become a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of RSM
Holding.

Shanghai Jiajinsuo Investment is a direct non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and the Target Company
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Seller. As RSM Holding is a Controlling Shareholder of the Company, RSM
Holding is a Connected Person of the Company and the Transaction between RSM Holding and Shanghai
Jiajinsuo Investment constitutes a connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

The Transaction is an internal reorganization aimed at achieving a more efficient corporate structure and is
in line with the Company’s strategy to focus on its core business and realize sustainable profitability on an
on-going basis.

For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 11 May 2017.
(vi)  Acquisition of Jinshan Property from Shanghai Red Star Macalline Real Estate

On 28 August 2017, the Company entered into an equity transfer agreement with Shanghai Red Star Macalline
Real Estate Co. Ltd (b/B4EXSEBEEGMR A F) (“Shanghai Red Star Macalline Real Estate”), Shanghai
Jinshan Red Star Macalline Global Home Furnishing Company Limited (B & ILALE ENE2HRREBRAF)
(the “Project Company”) and Shanghai Hongmei Properties, pursuant to which, Shanghai Red Star Macalline
Real Estate conditionally agreed to sell and the Company conditionally agreed to acquire 100% equity
interests in the Project Company which in turn holds the Jinshan Property for an aggregate consideration of
RMB520,000,000 (the “Transaction”).

As Shanghai Red Star Macalline Real Estate is an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of RSM Holding, a
Controlling Shareholder of the Company, Shanghai Red Star Macalline Real Estate is a Connected Person of the
Company and the Transaction between Shanghai Red Star Macalline Real Estate and the Company constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Upon completion of the acquisition contemplated under the Transaction, the Group will no longer incur rental
costs thereby enhancing the recurrent profit and loss of the Group. In addition, the shopping mall at Jinshan
Property has been in operation over a year and its business operation is entering the maturity stage. The primary
purpose of the Transaction is to acquire the Jinshan Property rather than to enjoy the operating profits of the
shopping mall located at the Jinshan Property. The Transaction will allow the Group to further consolidate
its leading position in the portfolio shopping mall market in Shanghai and will be beneficial to the long-term
development of the core business of the Group. Upon completion of the Transaction, Jinshan Property is no
longer owned by the Company’s Connected Person and the lease pursuant to the Lease Agreement in relation to
Jinshan Property no longer constitutes a continuing connected transaction for the Company.

For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 28 August 2017.
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CONNECTED AND CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)

(vii)  Transfer of Equity Interests in Shanghai Huangpu Red Star Microfinance

On 30 August 2017, the Company and its two wholly-owned subsidiaries, Beijing Red Star Macalline
International Home Furnishings Construction Materials Company Limited (1t RAL 2 =l iR REEM ESER
‘A7) and Nanjing Red Star International Home Furnishings City Company Limited (B R BB AL 2 R B & AR
2 |]) (collectively as the “Sellers”), entered into the equity transfer agreements to dispose of their 100% equity
interests in Shanghai Huangpu Red Star Microfinance Co., Ltd. (b8 & R4 E/NEERERAT) (the “Target
Company”). Pursuant to the equity transfer agreements, (1) the Company conditionally agreed to sell and
RSM Holding conditionally agreed to acquire 70% equity interests in the Target Company; and (2) the Sellers
conditionally agreed to sell and Fuzhou Red Star Commercial Management Company Limited and Kunming Red
Star Commercial Management Company Limited conditionally agreed to acquire 30% equity interests in the
Target Company, for an aggregate consideration of RMB201,410,000 (the "Transactions").

As RSM Holding is a Controlling Shareholder of the Company, RSM Holding is a Connected Person of the
Company and the Transactions constitute connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The Transactions are part of an internal restructuring process aimed at improving corporate efficiency and
streamlining the Company’s corporate business structure as well as disposing of its interests in the Target
Company out of the Group after taking into account the overall strategies of the Group.

For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 30 August 2017.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of Listing
Rules with respect to all of its continuing connected transactions and connected transactions.

The independent non-executive Directors, after taking into consideration of factors such as market environment,
transaction amounts, corporate governance, have confirmed that the abovementioned continuing connected
transactions and connected transactions for the year ended 31 December 2017 were entered into by the Group: (i) in
the ordinary and usual course of its business; (ii) on normal commercial terms; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing them and on terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.

The Company has assigned the finance department to monitor the continuing connected transactions. The finance
department will prepare relevant information and materials in relation to the continuing connected transactions and
submit the same to the Secretariat of the Board of Directors for compliance checking before submitting all relevant
information and materials to the Board for consideration. All relevant information will be attached as appendices to
the board resolutions. In relation to those continuing connected transactions conducted during the Reporting Period,
the finance department and the Secretariat of the Board of Directors have reviewed and considered the relevant
information and materials to ensure compliance with relevant requirements (such as not exceeding the annual caps and
ensuring the transactions are carried out in accordance with their respective terms) so as to protect the interests of our
Shareholders.

The auditor of the Company has issued the independent assurance report on continuing connected transactions
containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the abovementioned continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, confirming that (i) nothing has come to their attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the abovementioned continuing connected transactions have not been approved by the Board
of Directors, (ii) for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group, nothing has come to their
attention that causes the auditor to believe that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance with
the pricing policies of the Group, (iii) nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that the
transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the terms of the relevant agreements
governing such transactions; and (iv) with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the abovementioned continuing
connected transactions, nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that the amounts have
exceeded the maximum aggregate annual value disclosed in the Prospectus and the previous announcement dated 25
September 2015. A copy of the independent assurance report on continuing connected transactions has been provided
to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Please refer to Note (V).34 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 249 for details of movements in the
Company'’s total issued shares for the end of the Reporting Period.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

There was no equity-linked agreement entered into by the Company for the end of the Reporting Period.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company'’s listed securities.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM GLOBAL OFFERING

The net proceeds from the Global Offering amounted to approximately RMB5,573.3 million. The Board resolved on 31
July 2015 to change the intended use of part of the net proceeds from the Global Offering. For further details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 31 July 2015.

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Company has utilized 89% of the net proceeds in total for the development
of nine Portfolio Shopping Malls, investment or acquisition of other home improvement and furnishings retailers and
other market participants, refinancing of our existing indebtedness, development of our O20 business and information
technology systems, working capital and other general corporate purposes.

After the Reporting Period, due to the re-orientation of business strategy and to better adapt to changing market
conditions, the Company intends to change the use of the net proceeds from the Global Offering to maximize the
growth opportunities of the Company. On 16 January 2018, the Board has resolved to change the use of approximately
RMB543 million of the remaining net proceeds from the Global Offering intended for (i) the development of Shenyang
Yuhong Mall, one of the nine Portfolio Shopping Malls; (ii) investment or acquisition of other home improvement
and furnishings retailers and other market participants; and (iii) development of our O20 business and information
technology systems as disclosed in the Prospectus to the Company’s working capital and for other general corporate
purposes. For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 16 January 2018.

The Company issued 315,000,000 A shares at the issue price of RMB10.23 per A share. The total proceeds raised
amounted to RMB3,222.45 million and the net proceeds raised, after deducting the cost of the A Share Offering of
RMB172.4422 million, amounted to RMB3,050.0078 million (the “A Share Offering Proceeds”).

In order to improve the efficiency in the use of the A Share Offering Proceeds, on 7 February 2018, the Board has
resolved to (i) use RMB48.1204 million of the balance of A Share Offering Proceeds of the Harbin Songbei Shopping
Mall to fill in the gap between the A Share Offering Proceeds to be used and the actual self-owned funds used of the
Hohhot Yuquan Shopping Mall and Dongguan Wanjiang Shopping Mall and to use RMB35.3335 million of the balance
of A Share Offering Proceeds of the Tianjin Beichen Shopping Mall and RMB73.9002 million of the balance of A Share
Offering Proceeds of the Harbin Songbei Shopping Mall to meet the future capital requirements of the Urumchi Expo
Mall; (ii) substitute the self-owned funds which the Company has previously invested in the investment projects with
the A Share Offering Proceeds of RMB1,677.5799 million; (iii) temporarily use not more than RMB500 million of the idle
A Share Offering Proceeds to improve the liquidity of the Company and the period of such use shall not exceed 12
months (from the date when the A Share Offering Proceeds are transferred from the special account to the date when
the A Share Offering Proceeds are returned to the special account); and (iv) use the balance of the A Share Offering
Proceeds (RMB172.4201 million) designated to the Urumchi Expo Mall by way of a loan to support this investment
project. For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 7 February 2018.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Reporting Period are:

Executive Directors

Mr. CHE Jianxing (Chairman)
Ms. ZHANG Qi (Vice Chairman)
Ms. CHE Jianfang

Mr. JIANG Xiaozhong

Non-executive Directors

Ms. CHEN Shuhong

Mr. XU Guofeng

Mr. Joseph Raymond GAGNON
Mr. ZHANG Qigqi

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. LI Zhenning

Mr. DING Yuan

Mr. LEE Kwan Hung

Mr. QIAN Shizheng

Each of our Directors entered into a contract with the Company in December 2016. In accordance with Article 90 of the
Articles of Association, the Directors shall be elected at general meetings for a term of three years, which is renewable
upon re-election when it expires.

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the interests and short positions of our Directors, Supervisors and chief executive
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of our associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein; or (c) to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code, were as follows:
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SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY AND
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

(i) The Company

Approximate

Number of percentage in Approximate
Nature of underlying relevant class percentage in
Name of Shareholders  Title Class of Shares interest shares held of Shares total Shares"
CHE Jianxing (B2)®  Chairman, Chief Executive  Domestic Shares  Interest of 2,480,315,772 96.85% 68.44%

Officer and Executive controlled (Long Position)

Director corporation

CHEN Shuhong (BBR41)®  Non-executive Director Domestic Shares  Interest of spouse  2,480,315,772 96.85% 68.44%

(Long Position)

Notes:

(1) As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Company had 3,623,917,038 issued Shares in total, comprising of 2,561,103,969
Domestic Shares and 1,062,813,069 H Shares.

(2) Mr. CHE Jianxing indirectly holds 68.44% of the issued Shares in total of the Company through his 92.00% direct interest in
Red Star Macalline Holding Group Company Limited (4L £ %85 ZREEAFR A F]) (“RSM Holding”), a limited liability company
incorporated in the PRC, and is deemed to be interested in the 2,480,315,772 Domestic Shares held by RSM Holding for the
purpose of the SFO.

(3) Ms. CHEN Shuhong is the spouse of Mr. CHE Jianxing. Under the SFO, Ms. CHEN Shuhong is deemed to be interested in the
same number of Shares in which Mr. CHE Jianxing is interested.
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SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY AND
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (CONTINUED)

(i)  Associated Corporation

Approximate

Name of Associated Equity interest in percentage in the
Name of Director Corporation Nature of interest the Associated Corporation  Associated Corporation'”

CHE Jianxing (B E) RSM Holding™ Beneficial interest 46,000,000 92%
(Long position)

CHE Jianfang (£15) RSM Holding™ Beneficial interest 4,000,000 8%
(Long position)

Note:

(1) RSM Holding is the investment holding company of the Company, which is held as to 92% by Mr. CHE Jianxing and as to 8%
by Mr. CHE Jianxing’s sister, Ms. CHE Jianfang and therefore an “associated corporation” of the Company within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO. As at 31 December 2017, RSM Holding held 2,480,315,772 Domestic Shares of the Company which
accounted for approximately 68.44% of the total issued Shares of the Company, of which 135,910,236 shares held by RSM
Holding (representing approximately 3.75% of the total number of issued shares of the Company) are subject to the charge
granted by RSM Holding in favor of AVIC Capital Co., Ltd. ({5t m AR A A]). 372,870,460 shares held by RSM Holding
(representing approximately 10.29% of the total number of issued shares of the Company) are subject to the charge granted by
RSM Holding in favor of Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co. Ltd. Putuo Branch (/& B R ERRITRNDBRABIEFEZT).
For further details of the charges, see the section headed “Share Charges by the Controlling Shareholders” in the Prospectus.

Save as disclosed above, as at the end of the Reporting Period, none of our Directors, Supervisors or chief executive
has any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or associated
corporations (a) which will have to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO) or (b) which will be required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in
the register referred to therein or (c) which will be required to be further notified to the Company and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares which will have
to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
and which will be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein, as well
as persons (other than the Directors, Supervisors or chief executive of the Company), or corporations deemed, directly
and/or indirectly, to be interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote
in all circumstances at our general meetings were as follows:

Approximate Approximate

Class of Capacity/ Number of  percentage in relevant percentage in

Name of Shareholders Shares nature of Interest Shares interested class of Shares" total share capital”

RSM Holding Domestic Shares  Beneficial owner 2,480,315,772 96.85% 68.44%
(Long position)

Warburg Pincus & Co.? H Shares Interest of controlled 419,225,069 39.44% 11.57%
corporation (Long position)

Warburg Pincus Partners GP LLC? H Shares Interest of controlled 419,225,069 39.44% 11.57%
corporation (Long position)

Warburg Pincus Partners, L.P.? H Shares Interest of controlled 419,225,069 39.44% 11.57%
corporation (Long position)

Warburg Pincus Real Estate | GP, LLC®  H Shares Interest of controlled 419,225,069 39.44% 11.57%
corporation (Long position)

Candlewood Investment SRL? H Shares Other 272,947,335 25.68% 7.53%
(Long position)

Warburg Pincus Real Estate | LP.? H Shares Interest of controlled 272,947,335 25.68% 7.53%
corporation (Long position)

Springwood Investment SRL? H Shares Other 146,277,734 13.76% 4.04%
(Long position)

WPRE | Redstar Manager LLC? H Shares Interest of controlled 146,277,734 13.76% 4.04%
corporation (Long position)

WPRE | Redstar, L.P.? H Shares Interest of controlled 146,277,734 13.76% 4.04%
corporation (Long position)

UBS Trustees (B.V.1.) Limited® H Shares Trustee 100,000,000 9.4% 2.76%
(Long position)

Xi Xi Development Limited® H Shares Interest of controlled 100,000,000 9.4% 2.76%
corporation (Long position)

New Fortune Star Limited®® H Shares Interest of controlled 100,000,000 9.4% 2.76%
corporation (Long position)

China Lesso Group Holdings Limited® H Shares Interest of controlled 100,000,000 9.4% 2.76%
corporation (Long position)

Fuhui Capital Investment Limited® H Shares Interest of controlled 100,000,000 9.4% 2.76%
corporation (Long position)

Wong Luen Hei® H Shares Person who set up a 100,000,000 9.4% 2.76%
discretionary trust (Long position)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(1)

As at 31 December 2016, the Company had 3,623,917,038 issued Shares in total, comprising of 2,561,103,969 Domestic Shares and
1,062,813,069 H Shares.

Warburg Pincus Real Estate |, L.P. is the sole quota-holder of Candlewood Investment SRL (“Candlewood”). Warburg Pincus Real Estate |,
L.P is wholly-controlled by Warburg Pincus Real Estate | GP, LLC.

WPRE | Redstar, L.P. is the sole quota-holder of Springwood Investment SRL (“Springwood”). WPRE Redstar Manager LLC is the general
partner of WPRE | Redstar, L.P.. Warburg Pincus Real Estate | GP, LLC is the managing member of WPRE Redstar Manager LLC.

Accordingly, Warburg Pincus Real Estate | GP, LLC is deemed to be interested in the shareholding interest of each of Warburg Pincus
Real Estate I, L.P., Candlewood Investment SRL, WPRE Redstar Manager LLC, WPRE | Redstar, L.P. and Springwood Investment SRL in
the Company pursuant to the disclosure requirements under the SFO.

Warburg Pincus Partners, L.P. is a member of Warburg Pincus Real Estate | GP, LLC. Warburg Pincus Partners GP LLC is a general
partner of Warburg Pincus Partners, L.P.. Warburg Pincus & Co. is the managing member of Warburg Pincus Partners GP LLC.

Accordingly, Warburg Pincus & Co. is deemed to be interested in the shareholding interest of each of Warburg Pincus Partners GP
LLC, Warburg Pincus Partners, L.P., Warburg Pincus Real Estate | GP, Warburg Pincus Real Estate I, L.P., Candlewood Investment
SRL, WPRE Redstar Manager LLC, WPRE | Redstar, L.P. and Springwood Investment SRL in the Company pursuant to the disclosure
requirements under the SFO.

272,947,335 H Shares held by Candlewood are subject to the charge granted by Candlewood in favor of Bank of China Limited Macau
Branch.

146,277,134 H Shares held by Springwood are subject to the charge granted by Springwood in favor of Bank of China Limited Macau
Branch.

UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited who is the trustee and sole shareholder of Xi Xi Development Limited (“Xi Xi Development”) which in turn
is the sole shareholder of New Fortune Star Limited (“New Fortune Star”) which in turn holds 68.28% of China Lesso Group Holdings
Limited (“China Lesso”) which in turn is the sole shareholder of Fuhui Capital Investment Limited (“Fuhui Capital”). The trust was
established by Mr. Wong Luen Hei on 22 March 2017.

Accordingly, UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited is deemed to be interested in the shareholding interest of each of Xi Xi Development, New
Fortune Star, China Lesso and Fuhui Capital in the Company pursuant to the disclosure requirements under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at the end of the Reporting Period, the Company is not aware of any other person (other
than the Directors, Supervisors or chief executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Please refer to the section headed “Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” for biographical details of the
Directors, Supervisors and senior management of the Company.

2017 Annual Report



Report of Directors

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT AND CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

The re-election of each Director was approved by Shareholders at the 2016 third extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 30 December 2016. Each of our Directors entered into a contract with the Company in December
2016. The principal particulars of these service contracts comprise:

(a) a term of three years commencing from the date on which the relevant Shareholders’ approvals for the
appointment were obtained; and

(b) termination provisions in accordance with their respective terms.

Each independent non-executive Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation for every two sessions, while other
Directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation for every three sessions.

No Director has an unexpired service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without payment of compensation (other than normal statutory obligations).

Ms. NG Ellen Hoi Ying, the shareholder representative Supervisor, Mr. PAN Ning and Ms. CHAO Yanping, the employee
representative Supervisors, as well as Mr. ZHENG Hongtao and Mr. CHEN Gang, the independent Supervisors, entered
into service contracts with the Company in December 2016.

The principal particulars of these service contracts comprise:

(a) a term of three years commencing from the date on which the relevant Shareholders’ approvals for the
appointment were obtained (save as from the date on which the third session of the supervisory committee
commences for the employee representative Supervisors); and

(b) termination provisions in accordance with their respective terms. The Supervisors may be re-appointed for
successive reappointments.

No Supervisor has an unexpired service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation (other than normal statutory obligations).

Save as disclosed in this annual report, as at the end of the Reporting Period, none of the Directors and the Supervisors
or entities connected with the Directors and the Supervisors was materially interested, either directly or indirectly, in
any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation to the business of the Group to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party.

Red Star Macalline Group Corporation Ltd.

73




74

Report of Directors

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in this annual report with regard to those connected transactions entered into with our Controlling
Shareholders, as at the end of the Reporting Period, there is no other contract of significance entered into between us
and our Controlling Shareholders.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts of the Directors, the Company has not entered into any contract with any individual,
firm or body corporate to manage or administer the whole or any substantial part of any business of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2017.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2017 and up to the date of this annual report, there was or is, any
permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of any of the Directors and Supervisors (whether made
by the Company or otherwise) or an associated company (if made by the Company). The Company has arranged
appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and senior officers of the Group as of
the end of the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, Mr. CHE and his Close Associates continue to hold interests in certain businesses
which are in competition, or are likely to compete (the “Restricted Business”), with the core operations (i.e. the business
of operating and managing home improvement and furnishings shopping malls in the PRC) of the Group (the “Core
Operations”).

1. Greenland Jinniu Shopping Mall

Mr. CHE, through Chengdu Property (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of RSED), holds 50% equity interest in
Greenland Jinniu, which in turn holds Chengdu Jinniu Shopping Mall and its corresponding assets and liabilities.
Such 50% equity interest was disposed by the Company to Chengdu Property in the process of disposal of
our equity interest in companies engaging in real estate development business in 2011 considering Greenland
Jinniu primarily engages in real estate development business and Chengdu Jinniu Shopping Mall was then at the
stage of construction-in- process. In order to consolidate the Group’s Core Operations and minimize potential
competition and conflict of interests with the Controlling Shareholders, the Company entered into a repurchase
framework agreement in December 2011 (as supplemented by two supplemental agreements), pursuant to
which the Company was granted an option to repurchase, among others, Chengdu Jinniu Shopping Mall. In
anticipation of the opening of Chengdu Jinniu Shopping Mall, our Group entered into a contract management
agreement with Greenland Jinniu in November 2013, pursuant to which our Group would operate and manage
Chengdu Jinniu Shopping Mall under our own brand, pending repurchase of the shopping mall. After Greenland
Jinniu Shopping Mall commenced operations for more than two year since August 2014, our Directors
considered that its business operations have reached a mature stage. On 23 October 2015, the Company
entered into the Repurchase Agreement with Chengdu Property, pursuant to which the Company agreed to
repurchase 50% of the interest in Chengdu Jinniu Shopping Mall (held by Chengdu Property through Greenland
Jinniu). For further details, please refer to the Prospectus — “Relationship with Our Controlling Shareholders” and
the Company’s announcement dated 23 October 2015. As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Company has
not exercised the repurchase option as referred to in the Repurchase Agreement.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS (CONTINUED)

2. Property held by Changzhou RSHFC

Changzhou Macalline, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has leased a piece of property from
Changzhou RSHFC for the operation and management of Changzhou Decoration Mall. Changzhou RSHFC is an
individual proprietary enterprise ({8l A& & {b2£) established by Mr. CHE under the PRC laws. Prior to April 2011,
Changzhou RSHFC had used the property to operate its Portfolio Shopping Mall then named as “Changzhou Red
Star Mall”. In order to consolidate the Group’s Core Operations and minimize potential competition and conflict
of interests with the Controlling Shareholders, Changzhou RSHFC ceased to engage in home improvement and
furnishing shopping mall business from April 2011 and leased property to Changzhou Macalline in view of the
transfer of such property to the Group would give rise to tax implications.

We have adopted corporate governance measures to manage potential conflict of interest between the Group
and the Controlling Shareholders. As the transactions contemplated under the Repurchase Agreement in
relation to the repurchase of 50% interest in Chengdu Jinniu Shopping Mall constitutes connected transactions,
the Directors who have a material interest have abstained from voting on the board resolution to approve the
transactions. For further details, please refer to “Connected and Continuing Connected Transactions” of this
annual report.

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and in this annual report, none of Directors and Controlling Shareholders
has interest in business which is in competition, or is likely to compete, with the Company.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

In order to ensure that there is no competition between our Core Operations and the other business activities of Mr.
CHE and his Close Associates, Mr. CHE and RSM Holding have entered into a non-competition undertaking (the
“Non-Competition Undertaking”) in favor of our Company, under which they have undertaken that they will not and will
use their best efforts to procure that their respective Close Associates (other than any member of our Group) will not,
directly or indirectly, whether as principal or agent, either on their own account or in conjunction with or on behalf of
any person, firm, or company, engage, participate or hold any right or interest in any Restricted Business.

Under the Non-Competition Undertaking, Mr. CHE and RSM Holding have, among others, (i) undertaken to offer new
business opportunity in any Restricted Business to the Company on terms and conditions no less favorable than those
offered to them or their respective Close Associates; (ii) undertaken to assist our repurchase of the relevant shopping
malls, including Chengdu Jinniu Shopping Mall; and (iii) granted an option and right of first refusal for the Company to
purchase the property leased from Changzhou RSHFC. For further details, please refer to the Prospectus — “Relationship
with Our Controlling Shareholders”.

Mr. CHE and RSM Holding have confirmed their compliance with the Non-Competition Undertaking during the Reporting
Period. The independent non-executive Directors have also reviewed the compliance with the Non-Competition
Undertaking by the Mr. CHE and RSM Holding and are satisfied that they have complied with the undertakings.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’, Supervisors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions
in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, at no time during the Reporting Period was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries or holding company or any subsidiary of the Company’s holding company, a party to any
arrangement that would enable the Directors or the Supervisors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or the Supervisors or any of
their spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the
Company or any other body corporate or had exercised any such right.
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EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Please refer to Note (X).5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 338 for details of the emoluments of the
Directors, Supervisors and senior management and the five highest paid individuals of the Company.

The table below shows the remuneration of senior management by band:

2017 2016

(numbers of senior (numbers of senior
management) management)

1-1,000,000
1,000,000-1,500,000

1,500,000-2,000,000 2 5
2,000,000-2,500,000 4 2
2,500,000-3,000,000 1 3
3,000,000-3,500,000 2 1
3,500,000-4,000,000 = -
4,000,000-4,500,000 = 1

REMUNERATION POLICY AND DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration of our employees consists of basic salary and performance bonuses. The Company conducts annual
evaluations of our employees, supplemented by random checks from time to time. The evaluation results are linked
directly with the employees’ compensation. Selected employees with outstanding work performance and records are
promoted to management positions.

In accordance with the applicable PRC laws and regulations, as well as compulsory requirements of the local
authorities where our shopping malls are located, the Company contributed to various social insurance plans such as
pension contribution plans, medical insurance plans, unemployment insurance plans, maternity insurance plans and
work injury insurance plans for our employees. The amount of required contribution as a percentage of our employees’
salaries varies from place to place, depending on relevant salary levels, location of the operation and other factors
such as the average age of our employees.

Our Directors receive compensation in the form of Directors’ fees, salaries, housing allowances and other allowances,
benefits in kind, the employer’s contribution to the pension schemes and discretionary bonuses.

Please refer to Note (X).5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 338 for details of the Directors’
remuneration for the end of the Reporting Period.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE FROM THE INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. LI Zhenning, Mr. DING
Yuan, Mr. LEE Kwan Hung and Mr. QIAN Shizheng, the confirmation of their respective independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company has duly reviewed the confirmation of independence of each of these Directors.
The Company considers that the independent non-executive Directors have been independent from the date of their
appointment to the end of the Reporting Period and remain so as at the date of this annual report.
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MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Company was not involved in any material litigation or arbitration and no
material litigation or claims were pending or threatened against the Company so far as the Company is aware.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

During the Reporting Period, except deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, the
Company has complied with the provisions of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules, which sets out principles of good corporate governance in relation to, among other matters, the Directors, the
chairman and chief executive officer, board composition, the appointment, re-election and removal of directors, their
responsibilities and remuneration and communications with shareholders. Our Directors are satisfied that sufficient
corporate governance measures have been put in place to manage conflicts of interest between our Group and the
Controlling Shareholders and/or Directors to protect the interest of our minority shareholders. Please refer to section
headed “Corporate Governance Report” on page 85 for details.

AUDITOR

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants
LLP, the PRC auditor of the Company.

The Company has not changed its auditor in any of the preceding three years.

In light of the alignment of accounting standards for the Company under the China Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises (“CASBE") in relation to the application requirement for the A share listing of the Company, the Board shall
propose to cease to re-appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the international auditor of the Company, subject to the
approval by the Shareholders at the forthcoming AGM. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP,
the Company’s PRC auditor, is a PRC audit firm approved by the MOF and the CSRC to provide auditing services in
accordance with the CASBE to PRC incorporated issuers. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP
will be the only auditor auditing the Company’s financial statements in accordance with the CASBE and undertaking
the role of international auditors in compliance with the Listing Rules upon the approval of the Shareholders. For further
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 23 August 2017.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group and the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association or the laws of the PRC.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Hong Kong Stock Exchange had granted a waiver under Rule 8.08(1)(d) of the Listing Rules to accept a lower
public float percentage of the Company’s issued share capital (the “Minimum Public Float”) on the conditions that:

the Minimum Public Float of the Company should be at the highest of (a) 15.10%; (b) such percentage of Shares
held by the public after completion of the Global Offering; and (c) such percentage of Shares held by the public
after the exercise of the over-allotment option;

ii. the Company will confirm sufficiency of public float in successive annual reports after Listing; and

iii. the Company will implement appropriate measures to ensure continual maintenance of the Minimum Public Float
prescribed by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

The over-allotment option has not been exercised. Accordingly, the Company has complied with the public float
requirement which is at the highest of such percentage (being 15.10%) of Shares held by the public immediately after
the Global Offering. Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors as at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the waiver.

VOTING BY POLL

During the Reporting Period, all votes of shareholders were taken by poll in the annual general meeting and
extraordinary general meetings of the Company. Pursuant to the Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, all votes of
shareholders will be taken by poll except where the chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates
purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands.

CLOSURE OF REGISTERS OF MEMBERS

The Registers of Members will be closed from Wednesday, 9 May 2018 to Friday, 8 June 2018, during which periods no
transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the forthcoming AGM, unregistered
holders of shares of the Company shall lodge share transfer documents with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration before 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 8 May 2018. In
order to qualify for the proposed final dividend (subject to the approval by the Shareholders at the forthcoming AGM),
unregistered holders of shares of the Company shall lodge share transfer documents with Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at the above mentioned address for registration before 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 8 May 2018.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

During the Reporting Period, there was no change in information of Directors and Supervisors of the Company.
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FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

Please refer to the section headed “Outlook and Prospects” on page 39 for future development of the Company.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

A Share Offering and Listing

The Board is pleased to announce that the Company has completed the A Share Offering on 16 January 2018. The
A Shares of the Company were listed and commenced trading on the Shanghai Stock Exchange on 17 January
2018 with stock code 601828. The total number of issued shares of the Company after the A Share Offering is
3,938,917,038 (comprising 1,062,813,069 H Shares and 2,876,103,969 A Shares). For further details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 16 January 2018.

The Company issued 315,000,000 A shares at the issue price of RMB10.23 per A share. The total proceeds raised
amounted to RMB3,222.45 million and the net proceeds raised, after deducting the cost of the A Share Offering of
RMB172.4422 million, amounted to RMB3,050.0078 million (“A Share Offering Proceeds”).

In order to improve the efficiency in the use of the A Share Offering Proceeds, on 7 February 2018, the Board has
resolved to (i) use RMB48.1204 million of the balance of A Share Offering Proceeds of the Harbin Songbei Shopping
Mall to fill in the gap between the A Share Offering Proceeds to be used and the actual self-owned funds used of the
Hohhot Yuquan Shopping Mall and Dongguan Wanjiang Shopping Mall and to use RMB35.3335 million of the balance
of A Share Offering Proceeds of the Tianjin Beichen Shopping Mall and RMB73.9002 million of the balance of A Share
Offering Proceeds of the Harbin Songbei Shopping Mall to meet the future capital requirements of the Urumchi Expo
Mall; (ii) substitute the self-owned funds which the Company has previously invested in the investment projects with
the A Share Offering Proceeds of RMB1,677.5799 million; (iii) temporarily use not more than RMB500 million of the idle
A Share Offering Proceeds to improve the liquidity of the Company and the period of such use shall not exceed 12
months (from the date when the A Share Offering Proceeds are transferred from the special account to the date when
the A Share Offering Proceeds are returned to the special account); and (iv) use the balance of the A Share Offering
Proceeds (RMB172.4201 million) designated to the Urumchi Expo Mall by way of a loan to support this investment
project. For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 7 February 2018.
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IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (CONTINUED)

Propose to Issue Debt Financing Instruments

On 7 February 2018, the Company convened the twenty-third extraordinary meeting of the third session of the Board
and the Board approved the “General mandate for the issue of domestic debt financing instruments” resolution to be
proposed at the extraordinary general meeting to authorize the Board and authorized person of the Board to issue debt
financing instruments with a size of no more than RMB15.0 billion at an appropriate timing. The above resolution is to
be approved by the Company’s 2018 first extraordinary general meeting to be held on 25 April 2018.

By Order of the Board
CHE Jianxing
Chairman

Shanghai, 28 March 2018
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Report of Supervisors

MEETINGS OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE AND RELEVANT
RESOLUTIONS

The Supervisory Committee convened a total of three meetings in 2017, and details of the relevant meetings and
the resolutions are as follows:

(1)

The first meeting of the third session of the Supervisory Committee was convened on 20 March 2017. The
resolution in respect of the Report of the Supervisory Committee for the year ended 31 December 2016,
the resolution in respect of the 2016 profit distribution plan of the Company, and the resolution in respect
of re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP and Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu as the audit institutions of the Company for the year of 2017 were reviewed and passed.

The second meeting of the third session of the Supervisory Committee was convened on 28 August 2017.
The resolution in respect of the financial statements (IFRSs) for the six months ended 30 June 2017, the
resolution in respect of the financial statements (CASBE) for the first half of 2017, the resolution in respect
of the interim dividend for the six months ended 30 June 2017, the resolution in respect of the interim
report and interim results announcement for the six months ended 30 June 2017, and the resolution in
respect of the Report on Self-evaluation of Internal Control of the Company as at 30 June 2017 were
reviewed and passed.

The second extraordinary meeting of the third session of the Supervisory Committee was convened on 7
December 2017. The resolution in respect of the 2017 third quarterly financial statements of the Company
was reviewed and passed.

Red Star Macalline Group Corporation Ltd.

81




Report of Supervisors

2. INDEPENDENT OPINION OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE
REGARDING CERTAIN MATTERS

(1) Statutory compliance: during the year of 2017, members of the Supervisory Committee continued
to supervise the Company’s operations through attending Board meetings, reviewing reports on
special projects, conducting onsite inspections and meetings with staff, conducting audit and specific
survey. With reference to various regulations, the Supervisory Committee was of the opinion that the
decision-making process was lawful, the internal control was effective, and the Directors and the
senior management of the Company have diligently carried out their duties, and there is no behavior of
violation of the laws, regulations, the Articles of Association, nor had they prejudiced the Company’s and
Shareholders’ interests. The Supervisory Committee had reviewed the Company’s internal control report
for the year 2017, and was of the view that the report reflected the actual situation of the Company’s
corporate governance and internal control, and agreed to publish the relevant report.

(2) Financial monitoring: during the Reporting Period, the Supervisory Committee diligently performed its
duty of monitoring the Company’s financial situation, including reviewing the Company’s operations and
its risks and providing audited opinions to each periodic report. The Supervisory Committee was of the
opinion that the Company’s financial report reflected a true and fair view on the Company’s financial
position and operating results.

(3) Use of Proceeds
Use of proceeds from the listing of A Shares

The Company has completed the A Share Offering on 16 January 2018. The A Shares of the Company
were listed and commenced trading on the Shanghai Stock Exchange on 17 January 2018 with
stock code 601828. The total number of issued shares of the Company after the A Share Offering is
3,938,917,038 (comprising 1,062,813,069 H Shares and 2,876,103,969 A Shares). For more details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 16 January 2018.

The Company issued 315,000,000 A shares at the issue price of RMB10.23 per A share. The total
proceeds raised amounted to RMB3,222.45 million and the net proceeds raised, after deducting the
cost of the A Share Offering of RMB172.4422 million, amounted to RMB3,050.0078 million (the “A Share
Offering Proceeds”).

In order to improve the efficiency in the use of the A Share Offering Proceeds, on 7 February 2018,
the Board has resolved to (i) use RMB48.1204 million of the balance of A Share Offering Proceeds of
the Harbin Songbei Shopping Mall to fill in the gap between the A Share Offering Proceeds to be used
and the actual self-owned funds used of the Hohhot Yuquan Shopping Mall and Dongguan Wanjiang
Shopping Mall and to use RMB35.3335 million of the balance of A Share Offering Proceeds of the Tianjin
Beichen Shopping Mall and RMB73.9002 million of the balance of A Share Offering Proceeds of the
Harbin Songbei Shopping Mall to meet the future capital requirements of the Urumchi Expo Mall; (ii)
substitute the self-owned funds which the Company has previously invested in the investment projects
with the A Share Offering Proceeds of RMB1,677.5799 million; (iii) temporarily use not more than RMB500
million of the idle A Share Offering Proceeds to improve the liquidity of the Company and the period of
such use shall not exceed 12 months (from the date when the A Share Offering Proceeds are transferred
from the special account to the date when the A Share Offering Proceeds are returned to the special
account); and (iv) use the balance of the A Share Offering Proceeds (RMB172.4201 million) designated
to the Urumchi Expo Mall by way of a loan to support this investment project. For further details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 7 February 2018.
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2. INDEPENDENT OPINION OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE
REGARDING CERTAIN MATTERS (CONTINUED)

(3) Use of Proceeds (Continued)
Use of proceeds from the listing of H Shares

The net proceeds from the global offering amounted to RMB5,573.3 million, used for the development
of 9 Portfolio Shopping Malls, investment or acquisition of other home improvement and furnishings
retailers and other market participants, refinancing of our existing indebtedness, development of our 020
business and information technology systems, working capital and other general corporate purposes. The
Board resolved on 31 July 2015 to change the intended use of part of the net proceeds from the Global
Offering. For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 31 July 2015.

As of the end of the Reporting Period, the Company cumulatively used 89% of the proceeds from the
global offering in the abovementioned fund raising investment projects.

After the Reporting Period, due to the re-orientation of business strategy and to better adapt to changing
market conditions, the Company intends to change the use of the net proceeds from the Global Offering
to maximize the business development opportunities of the Company. On 16 January 2018, the Board
has resolved to change the use of approximately RMB543 million of the remaining net proceeds from
the Global Offering intended for (i) the development of Shenyang Yuhong Mall, one of the nine Portfolio
Shopping Malls; (ii) the investment or acquisition of other home improvement and furnishings retailers
and other market participants; and (iii) the development of our O20 business and information technology
systems as disclosed in the Prospectus to the Company’s working capital and for other general corporate
purposes. For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 16 January 2018.

(4) Stock incentive plan: during the Reporting Period, the Company has no stock incentive plan.

(5) Major asset acquisitions and disposals: during the Reporting Period, the Company did not conduct any
major asset acquisitions and disposals.

(6) Connected and continuing connected transactions: During the Reporting Period, the Supervisory
Committee paid close attention to the continuing connected transactions of the Company for the year,
including: (i) the Lease Agreement entered into with Changzhou RSHFC, (ii) the Contract management
agreements entered into with Xuzhou RSHFC, Xuzhou RSHFP, Yangzhou RSHFP, Jining Hongrui and
Shaanxi Hongrui, (iii) the RSED Framework Agreement entered into with RSED, (iv) the Lease Agreement
entered into with Shanghai Hongmei in connection with the leasing of the Jinshan Property. In addition,
the Supervisory Committee has also considered and reviewed the proposed new annual caps of the
above continuing connected transactions. During the Reporting Period, the Supervisory Committee has
considered and reviewed the connected transactions entered into by the Company including (i) the
Equity Transfer Agreement between RSM Holding and Shanghai Jiajinsuo Investment; (ii) Acquisition of
Jinshan Property from Shanghai Red Star Macalline Real Estate; and (iii) Transfer of Equity Interest in
Shanghai Huangpu Red Star Microfinance.

In the future, with the further development of the Company’s businesses, the Supervisory Committee will, based on its
existing work nature, firmly implement the Company’s established strategies and policies, fulfill its duties as prescribed
by national laws and regulations as well as the Articles of Association, and supervise the Company to operate in such a
way as to practically guarantee and safeguard the legitimate interests of the Company and Shareholders.

Red Star Macalline Group Corporation Ltd.
Supervisory Committee

28 March 2018
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The Group is committed to high-standard corporate governance so as to protect the interests and legal rights of the
Shareholders and to promote the Company’s value and accountability. H Shares of the Company were listed on the
main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on 26 June 2015, and A Shares of the Company were listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange on 17 January 2018.

The Company adopted the following corporate governance principles and practices:

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Other than deviation from code provision A.2.1, during the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with the
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code, Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, which sets out the principles of
good corporate governance principles in relation to, among other matters, the directors, the chairman and the
chief executive, board composition, the appointment, re-election and removal of directors, their responsibilities and
remuneration; and communications with shareholders. Directors are satisfied that sufficient corporate governance
measures have been put in place to manage conflicts of interest between the Group and the Controlling Shareholders
and/or Directors to protect the minority Shareholders’ interests.

DEVIATION FROM CODE PROVISION A.2.1 OF THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

Mr. CHE Jianxing (“Mr. CHE") is the Chairman and chief executive officer of the Company. In view of Mr. CHE'’s
experience, personal profile and his roles in our Group as mentioned above and that Mr. CHE has assumed the role of
chief executive officer and the general manager of the Group since June 2007, the Board considers it beneficial to the
business prospect and operational efficiency of the Group that Mr. CHE, in addition to acting as the Chairman of the
Board, continues to act as the chief executive officer of the Company. While this will constitute a deviation from Code
Provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, the Board believes that this structure will not impair the balance
of power and authority between the Board and the management of the Company, given that: (i) decision to be made
by our Board requires approval by at least a majority of our Directors and that the Board comprises 4 independent
non-executive Directors out of the 12 Directors, which is in compliance with the Listing Rules requirement of one-third,
and we believe that there is sufficient check and balance in the Board; (ii) Mr. CHE and the other Directors are aware
of and undertake to fulfill their fiduciary duties as Directors, which require, among other things, that he acts for the
benefit and in the best interests of the Company and will make decisions for the Group accordingly; and (iii) the
balance of power and authority is ensured by the operations of the Board which comprises experienced and high
caliber individuals who meet regularly to discuss issues affecting the operations of the Company. Moreover, the overall
strategic and other key business, financial, and operational policies of the Group are made collectively after thorough
discussion at both Board and senior management levels.

The Board will continue to review the effectiveness of the corporate governance structure of our Group in order to assess
whether separation of the roles of Chairman and chief executive officer is necessary.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ and Supervisors’ securities transactions on terms
as required under the Model Code. The Company has made specific queries to the Directors and Supervisors, and all
Directors and Supervisors have confirmed their compliance with the provisions set out in the Model Code during the
Reporting Period.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Board comprises 12 Directors, including 4 executive Directors, 4
non-executive Directors and 4 independent non-executive Directors. The following list sets forth the information in
respect of the current members of the Board.

Positions Date of Re-appointment"

Mr. CHE Jianxing® Chairman and Executive Director 30 December 2016
Ms. ZHANG Qi Vice Chairman and Executive Director 30 December 2016
Ms. CHE Jianfang Executive Director 30 December 2016
Mr. JIANG Xiaozhong Executive Director 30 December 2016
Ms. CHEN Shuhong Non-executive Director 30 December 2016
Mr. XU Guofeng® Non-executive Director 30 December 2016
Mr. Joseph Raymond GAGNON Non-executive Director 30 December 2016
Mr. ZHANG Qiqi Non-executive Director 30 December 2016
Mr. LI Zhenning Independent non-executive Director 30 December 2016
Mr. DING Yuan Independent non-executive Director 30 December 2016
Mr. LEE Kwan Hung Independent non-executive Director 30 December 2016
Mr. QIAN Shizheng Independent non-executive Director 30 December 2016

Notes:

(1) The Directors were re-elected at the extraordinary general meeting held on 30 December 2016.

(2) Mr. CHE Jianxing is the husband of Ms. CHEN Shuhong and the brother of Ms. CHE Jianfang.

(3) Mr. XU Guofeng is the husband of Ms. CHE Jianfang.

Biographies of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” of this
annual report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Board Composition (Continued)

During the Reporting Period, the Board complied with the requirements of appointing at least three independent non-
executive Directors (among whom at least one independent non-executive Director holds the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or relevant financial management knowledge) set out in Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules at any time.

The Company also complied with the requirements of appointing independent non-executive Directors, accounting for
one-third of the members of the Board set out in Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. Independence of each independent
non- executive Director has been confirmed in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and the Company
regards them as independent.

The Company regards increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its
strategic objectives and its sustainable development. In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board.

All Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) enabled the Board with different valuable experiences
in business and professional knowledge so that the Board of Directors could fulfill its function efficiently and effectively.
The independent non-executive Directors were invited to join the Audit Committee, the Remuneration and Evaluation
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Strategy and Investment Committee.

Board Meeting

In accordance with the Articles of Association, the board meetings are divided into regular meetings and provisional
meetings. Board meetings shall be convened at least four times a year and be called for by the Chairman. A notice of
at least 14 days shall be sent to all Directors before the meeting is convened so that they may attend the meeting and
include any relevant matters for discussion in the meeting agenda.

Other than the connected transactions to be reviewed by the Board set out in the Articles of Association, Board
meetings shall be attended by more than half of the Directors.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Committee meetings shall record all matters considered and decisions made by the
Board and Committees, including all questions raised by the Directors. Drafts and final versions of the minutes of the
Board meetings and Committee meetings are/will be sent to each Director within a reasonable period of time after the
meeting.

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and in this annual report, to the best knowledge of the Company, there are no
financial, business, family, or other material relationships among members of the Board.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Appointment, Re-election and Re-appointment of Directors

In accordance with the provisions set out in the Articles of Association, the Directors shall be elected by the general
meeting of Shareholders and shall serve three-year terms. Upon expiration of the term, the Directors may be re-elected
and re-appointed. Each independent non-executive Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation once every
two sessions. The Company has implemented a set of effective programs to the appointment of new Directors.
The Nomination Committee and Remuneration and Evaluation Committee have priority to discuss nomination of the
new Directors and shall submit proposals to the Board. New directors shall be elected by the general meeting of
Shareholders.

The Company has entered into service contracts or appointment letters for a service term of three-year with all Directors
(including the non-executive Directors).

Directors’ Training
Introductory and Continuous Professional Development

All newly appointed Directors are granted with necessary induction training and information so as to have an
appropriate understanding of the operating status and business of the Company as well as their responsibilities under
relevant laws, rules, provisions and articles. The Company also arranges periodical seminars for the Directors in order
to provide the latest information on any development and changes in the Listing Rules, and other relevant laws and
regulations. The Directors are also informed about the performance, current status and prospect of the Company
regularly, so as to fulfill their responsibilities.

Trainings attended by all Directors in the Reporting Period are as below:

Name of Directors Training Description

CHE Jianxing A B
ZHANG Qi A B
CHE Jianfang A, B
JIANG Xiaozhong A, B
CHEN Shuhong A, B
XU Guofeng A, B
Joseph Raymond GAGNON A, B
ZHANG Qiqi A, B
LI Zhenning A, B
LEE Kwan Hung A, B
QIAN Shizheng A, B

Notes:

A. Trainings related to governance of listed company and directors’ responsibility, organized by law firms, compliance advisor, external

auditor and etc.;

B. Reading provisions connected to company governance, Directors’ responsibilities and internal control risk management and attending
lecture, forum and conference, etc.

Red Star Macalline Group Corporation Ltd.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Duties Performed by the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for the general meeting of Shareholders and performs the following duties: to approve
and supervise all policy issues, overall strategy, budgeting, internal control and risk management system, material
transactions (especially the transactions in which the parties with conflict of interest may be involved), Director
appointment and other material financial and operating affairs. The Directors may seek independent professional
opinions when fulfilling their duties, and the cost will be borne by the Company. The Company also encourages the
Directors to seek independent consultation with senior management of the Company.

The senior management is responsible for daily management, administration and operation of the Group, and the Board

shall discuss the authorization function and duty periodically. Any material transactions established by the management
shall be approved by the Board in advance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for establishing the corporate governance policy of the Company and fulfilling the following
corporate governance duties:

1. To develop and review the corporate governance policy and routines of the Company;

2. To review and monitor training and continuous professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

3. To review and monitor policies and routines of the Company in compliance with the requirements of all

applicable laws and regulations;

4. To establish, review and monitor code of conduct and compliance guidelines suitable for the employees and
Directors (if available); and

5. To review the Company’s compliance with the disclosure requirements as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code and Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE

The Company has purchased appropriate insurance against the litigations raised against the Directors during the
Reporting Period.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board delegates responsibilities to various committees. In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and regulations,
the Corporate Governance Code, the Company has established four Board committees, namely the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Strategy and Investment Committee.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

We have established an Audit Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules and Code Provision C.3 and Code Provision D.3 of the Corporate Governance Code. The Audit Committee
consists of three independent non-executive Directors as at the end of the Reporting Period, namely Mr. DING Yuan,
Mr. LI Zhenning and Mr. QIAN Shizheng. Mr. DING Yuan, who holds the appropriate professional qualifications as
required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules, serves as the chairman of the Audit Committee. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee include, but not limited to, the following:

° proposing the appointment or change of external auditors;

. overseeing the internal audit system of the Company and its implementation;

o maintaining close communication between the internal auditors and external auditors;

. examining the financial information of the Company and its disclosure, and auditing significant connected

transactions as authorized by the Board;

o Monitoring integrity of the Company’s financial statements, annual reports and accounts, interim reports, other
periodic reports, agreed proceedings, audit reports (hereinafter referred to as the “Materials”) and reviewing
significant judgments on financial reporting set out in the Materials. Making judgments on the completeness,

accuracy and truthfulness of the preparation and disclosure of the Company’s financial reports;

o examining the rationality, efficiency and implementation of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Company and its subsidiaries and branch offices, and making recommendations to the Board;

o providing comments regarding the performance of internal auditors;

° overseeing the corporate governance of the Company, making recommendations to the Board, and reviewing
the corporate governance report disclosed in our annual report; and

° dealing with other matters that are authorized by the Board.

Red Star Macalline Group Corporation Lid. 89




Corporate Governance Report

AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee has performed its duties with due prudence in accordance
with the requirements of Company Law, the Articles of Association, the Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee
of the Board of the Company and the relevant laws and regulations. The Audit Committee convened three meetings,
details of which are set out below:

Name of Meeting Time of Meetings Contents of Meeting Attendance at the Meeting

Audit Committee 20 March 2017 1. To review and discuss the report prepared by the  Mr. DING Yuan, Mr. LI
auditor of the Company in respect of the annual Zhenning and Mr. QIAN
results of the Group as of 31 December 2016; Shizheng

2. To review and make recommendation to the
Board of the Company about the audited financial
statements, results announcement and annual
report as of 31 December 2016;

3. To review and make recommendation to the
Board of the Company about the audited financial
statements for the years of 2016, 2015 and 2014 of
the Group for its A-share IPO application;

4. To review and make recommendation to the
Board of the Company about the profit distribution
program of the Company for the year 2016;

5. To consider and make recommendation to the
Board of the Company about the resolution of re-
appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA,
Ltd and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the audit
institutions of the Company for the year 2017;

6. To review and propose to the Board of the
Company in respect of the expected ongoing
connected transaction of the Company for the year
2017;

7. To review the summary of internal audit work
of internal audit center for the year 2016 and
proposed working plan for the year 2017;

8. To review the corporate governance report of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2016;

9. To review and make recommendation to the
Board of the Company about the resolution of
the self-evaluation report of internal control of the
Company as of 31 December 2016.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

Name of Meeting

Time of Meetings Contents of Meeting Attendance at the Meeting

23 August 2017

28 August 2017

The Resolution on Alignment in the Disclosure of Mr. DING Yuan, Mr. LI
Financial Statements in accordance with China Zhenning and Mr. QIAN
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises in Shizheng
Domestic and International Markets and Adjustment of
Fair Value of Investment Properties in accordance with
PRC Accepted Asset Valuation Standards

1. To review and discuss the report prepared by the  Mr. DING Yuan, Mr. LI
auditor of the Company (the “Auditor”) to the Audit Zhenning and Mr. QIAN
Committee in respect of the financial statements of Shizheng
the Group for the first half 2017;

2. To review and make recommendation to the
Board of the Company about the resolution
on the draft of the financial statements for the
first half 2017;

3. To review and make recommendation to the
Board of the Company about the proposal of
the interim dividend for the six months ended
30 June 2017;

4. To review and make recommendation to the
Board of the Company about the draft of the
interim results announcement of the Group
to be published on the websites of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) and the Company prepared in
accordance with Financial Statements of the
PRC Standards for the six months ended 30
June 2017;

5. To review and make recommendation to the
Board of the Company about the draft of the
interim report of the Group to be published on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company for the six months ended 30 June
2017;

6. To review the summary of internal audit work
of the Group in the first half of 2017 and
proposed working plan in the second half of
2017;

7. To review and make recommendation to the
Board of the Company about the proposal of
the self-evaluation report of internal control of
the Group as of 30 June 2017.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

The Audit Committee oversees and monitors the risk management and internal control systems of the Company on
an ongoing basis and review with our external auditors and management periodically, not less than annually, the
scope, adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s corporate accounting and financial controls, risk management
and internal control systems, and any related significant findings regarding risks or exposures and consider
recommendations for improvement of such controls. The review should cover all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls. Further details regarding the annual review conducted by the Audit Committee
are set out in the section headed “Risk Management and Internal Control”.

REMUNERATION AND EVALUATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Remuneration and Evaluation Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with
Code Provision B.1 of the Corporate Governance Code.

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee consists of three Directors, including

one executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHE Jianxing, Mr. LI Zhenning and

Mr. QIAN Shizheng. Mr. QIAN Shizheng serves as the chairman of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee include, but are not limited to, the following:

° formulating the remuneration plans for Directors, Supervisors and members of the senior management in
accordance with the terms of reference of the Directors, Supervisors and members of the senior management
and the importance of their positions as well as the remuneration benchmarks of relevant positions in other

comparable companies;

° the remuneration plans include, but are not limited to, criteria and procedures of performance evaluation, the
main evaluation system as well as the main reward and penalty scheme and system, etc.;

o making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management;

o examining the performance of Directors, Supervisors and members of the senior management of our Company,
and conducting annual performance evaluation;

° supervising the implementation of our Company’s remuneration plan and incentive system; and

° dealing with other matters that are authorized by the Board.
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REMUNERATION AND EVALUATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee has performed its duties with due
prudence in accordance with the requirements of Company Laws, the Articles of Association, the Terms of Reference
of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee of the Board and the relevant laws, regulations. The Remuneration and
Evaluation Committee convened one meeting, details of which are set out below:

Name of Meeting Time of Meetings Contents of Meeting Attendance at the Meeting
Remuneration and 20 March 2017 1. To review on the performance of Mr. QIAN Shizheng, Mr.
Evaluation Committee duties and annual performance CHE Jianxing and Mr. LI
assessment of Directors, supervisors Zhenning attended the
and senior management of the meetings

Company for the year 2016;

2. To review and propose to the
Board of the Company in respect
of the remuneration and incentives
system of Directors, supervisors
and senior management of the
Company for the year 2017.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with Code
Provision A.5 of the Corporate Governance Code. As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee
consists of three Directors, including one executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
CHE Jianxing, Mr. LEE Kwan Hung and Mr. LI Zhenning. Mr. LI Zhenning serves as the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include, but are not limited to, the following:

° making recommendations to the Board on size and composition of the Board in accordance with our Company’s
operating activities, asset size and shareholding structure;

o researching and developing criteria and procedures for the election of the Board members, general managers
and other members of the senior management, and making recommendations to the Board;

° conducting thorough investigation on suitable candidates for Directors, general managers and other members of
the senior management, and making recommendation to the Board;

° reviewing and examining candidates for Directors, general managers and other members of the senior
management and making recommendations to the Board; and

° dealing with other matters that are authorized by the Board.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee has performed its duties with due prudence in
accordance with the requirements of Company Law, the Articles of Association, the Terms of Reference of the
Nomination Committee of the Board and the relevant laws, regulations. The Nomination Committee convened 1 meeting,
details of which are set out below:

Name of Meeting Date of Meetings Contents of Meeting Attendance at the Meeting

Nomination Committee 20 March 2017 1. To review the structure, number Mr. LI Zhenning, Mr. CHE
of persons, constituents and the Jianxing and Mr. LEE
diversity of members of the Board Kwan Hung attended
of the Company (the “Board”), the meeting

various committees under the
Board, general manager and other
senior management persons in
2016;

2. To review the principle of
director’'s nomination of the third
session of the board of directors,
and continue to play the role
of directors in the strategy and
governance of the Company.

STRATEGY AND INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

We have established a Strategy and Investment Committee with written terms of reference. As at the end of the
Reporting Period, the Strategy and Investment Committee consists of five Directors, including three executive Directors,
one non- executive Director and one independent non-executive Director: namely Mr. CHE Jianxing, Ms. ZHANG Qi,
Mr. JIANG Xiaozhong, Mr. ZHANG Qiqi and Mr. LI Zhenning. Mr. CHE Jianxing serves as the chairman of the Strategy
and Investment Committee.

The primary duties of the Strategy and Investment Committee include, but are not limited to, the following:

o researching and recommending to the Board the long-term development and strategic plans of our Company;

o researching and recommending to the Board material investments, financing proposals, capital operation and
asset management of our Company, which must be approved via Board meetings or shareholders’ meetings in
accordance with the Articles of Association;

° researching and recommending to the Board matters that are material to the development of our Company;

° checking the implementation of above-mentioned matters that are approved via Board meetings or shareholders’
meetings; and

o dealing with other strategic matters that are authorized by the Board.

2017 Annual Report



Corporate Governance Report

STRATEGY AND INVESTMENT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Strategy and Investment Committee has performed its duties with due
prudence in accordance with the requirements of Company Law, the Articles of Association, the Terms of Reference of
the Strategy and Investment Committee of the Board and the relevant laws, regulations. The Strategy and Investment
Committee convened 2 meetings, details of which are set out below:

Name of Meeting Time of Meetings Contents of Meeting Attendance at the Meeting

Strategy and Investment 20 March 2017 1.  the development strategy of the Mr. CHE Jianxing, Ms.

Committee Company; ZHANG Qi, Mr. ZHANG
Qigi, Mr. JIANG
2. the development plan of the Xiaozhong and Mr. LI
Company’s A-Share proposed to be Zhenning attended the
issued by the Company during the meetings
current year (2017) and the upcoming
two years;

3. to formulate and implement
assumptions for the development
plan;

4. major difficulties faced when
implementing the development plan;

5. the relationship between the operation
development plan and current
operations;

6. effect of the proposed A-Share
issuance to attain the abovementioned
business development goal.

28 April 2017 1. In relation to the development Mr. CHE Jianxing, Ms.
strategies on the Internet. ZHANG Qi, Mr. ZHANG
Qiqi, Mr. JIANG
Xiaozhong and Mr. LI
Zhenning attended the
meeting
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF BOARD MEETINGS

Attendance record of all Directors to the general meetings, Board meetings and committee meetings during the
Reporting Period are as below:

Number of Number of
attending/ Number of attending/

Number of convening attending/ convening Number of

Number of attending/ Remuneration convening Strategy and attending/

attending/ convening and Evaluation Nomination Investment convening general

convening Board  Audit Committee Committee Committee Committee meeting of

Director's Name meetings meetings meetings meetings meetings Shareholders

CHE Jianxing 23/23 - 11 11 22 4/4

ZHANG Qi 23/23 - - - 2/2 4/4

CHE Jianfang 23/23 - - - - 4/4

JIANG Xiaozhong 23/23 - - - 2/2 4/4

CHEN Shuhong 23/23 - - - - 4/4

XU Guofeng 23/23 - - - - 4/4
Joseph Raymond

GAGNON 23/23 - - - - 4/4

ZHANG Qiqi 23/23 - - - 2/2 4/4

LI Zhenning 23/23 33 11 11 2/2 4/4

DING Yuan 23/23 33 - - - 4/4

LEE Kwan Hung 23/23 - - 11 - 4/4

QIAN Shizheng 23/23 33 1/1 - - 4/4
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DIRECTORS’ FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REPORTING
RESPONSIBILITY

The Directors are fully aware of their responsibility of preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2017 so as to provide a true and fair view of the situation of the Company and the
Group as well as the results and cash flows of the Group.

The management has provided necessary explanation and information to the Board, thus the Board is able to evaluate
the financial statements of the Company which are submitted for approval of the Board with full knowledge. The
Company has also provided continuously updated information about performance, status and prospect of the Company
to all members of the Board.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties with respect to any event or situation which may pose
important threat to the sustainable operation of the Group.

Statement of the Directors’ reporting responsibilities of Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company made by
auditors of the Company is recorded in Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 111 to 112 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has established the risk management and internal control systems, monitored and reviewed their
effectiveness on an ongoing basis in compliance with Paragraph C.2 of the Corporate Governance Code. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, to promote effective
and efficient operation, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems on an annual basis, and
assesses all important monitoring aspects including financial monitoring, operation monitoring and compliance
monitoring as per five internal control elements, namely, internal environment, risk assessment, control activities,
information and communication and internal supervision and make sure the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions to ensure that effective risk management and internal control systems are in place.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL ORGANISATIONAL
SYSTEM

The Company has established a complete risk management and internal control organisational system, which consists
of the Board, the Audit Committee, the Internal Control Management Committee (a sub-committee under the Audit
Committee), the Internal Control Compliance Department, the Audit Department and all divisions of the Company.
Various functions of the Company form the first line of defence of risk management and internal control, which are
responsible for the direct identification and management of the risks arising in the course of business during our daily
operation, and developing response strategies and specific solutions. The Internal Control Compliance Department
and Internal Control Management Committee form the second line of defence of risk management and internal control,
which is responsible for building and maintaining the comprehensive risk management framework of the Company,
and coordinating the establishment of risk management between various functions of the headquarter and different
regions and shopping malls. The Audit Department and the Audit Committee forms the third line of defence, which is
responsible for conducting independent supervision which involves supervision and examination to determine if the
Company is able to conduct risk management and internal control in accordance with relevant policies, systems and
processes for risk management and internal control, and if such measures are effective. The Board undertakes the
ultimate responsibility for the establishment and perfection of the risk management and internal control systems as well
as the effective implementation of risk management, and acts as the ultimate decision-making body in the Company
with respect to risk management and internal control.

In addition, the Board arranges adequate training courses and related budget in respect of the risk management and
internal control systems on an annual basis, and has also conducted periodic training on the concept, knowledge,
process of risk management and methods of internal control to ensure the adequacy of management resources in risk
management and internal control.
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CARRYING OUT RISK MANAGEMENT WORK

In order to better cope with the changing market environment and ensure the realization of the Company’s business
objectives, in 2017, the Company initiated the construction of a comprehensive risk management system at the
company-wide level. The system is designed to manage various potential risks to which the Company is exposed in
the course of operation through procedures and measures of risk identification, risk assessment, risk response, risk
reporting and monitoring. The Company has systematically established a database for risks based on the status quo of
our current business and management, with a view to achieving comprehensive identification of and response to risks.

On the basis of risk identification, the Company has established the major risk evaluation criteria from two dimensions,
namely the probability of occurrence and the magnitude of influence of relevant risks. Various forms of measures,
including risk questionnaire, risk investigation and interviews, as well as forum for risk assessment, were conducted
to carry out the multilevel and comprehensive risk assessment work. These measures are developed to identify major
risk areas affecting the objectives of the Company and to specify the priority and allocation of resources on risk
management.

In order to align the risk points with specific control measures and responsibilities of different roles in the management
system, and to ensure sufficient control of such risks, the Company implements basic risk management measures of
internal control through specific business processes, including preparation and disclosure of financial reports, inside
information processing and disclosure and other management procedures and internal control measures for significant
procedures in accordance with laws, regulations and regulatory requirements of Listing Rules.

In respect of external information and communication, the company developed information disclosure and reporting
management rules, such as Information Disclosure Management System, News Release and News Spokesman System,
etc., to establish a standardized information collection, collation, validation and disclosure of the insider control
program, which identified the message security measures. Before the information is completely disclosed to the public,
the Company will ensure that the information is absolutely confidential. For information which confidentiality is difficult
to maintain or is already leaked, our Company will disclose the relevant information in a timely manner, so as to ensure
the effective protection of investors and the interests of related parties.

The major risks to which the Company are exposed will vary with the changes in internal and external business
environment and business situations. The Company will continuously monitor the information on significant risks and
changes in risks arising from the operation and management of the different risk liability departments and conduct
supervision and evaluation on whether each of the departments is able to carry out risk management and the
effectiveness of their efforts in accordance with relevant provisions, with a view to further improve the risk management
mechanism.
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OPERATION OF INTERNAL CONTROL MECHANISM

The management of the Company has set up the Internal Control Management Committee, which leads the Internal
Control Compliance Department in the overall planning, design and guidance in relation to the building of the risk
management and internal control management system. In 2017, the Internal Control Compliance Department played
a leading role in the establishment of the internal control evaluation working group, which carried out self-evaluation
of internal control and assessment of the effectiveness of the design and implementation of internal control for the
Company’s main business and matters. For all deficiencies in internal control as identified in the assessment, the
management of the Company has developed feasible rectification plans and promoted the implementation of such
rectification. The Internal Control Compliance Department has followed up on such areas subject to rectification, and
continued to monitor the progress and the overall effectiveness of the rectification of deficiencies, thus achieving the
organized operation of overall internal control.

The Board and the Audit Committee are responsible for the continuous supervision and review of the effective
implementation of the Company’s risk management and internal control management system and the deficiencies of
internal control. Specific supervision and review is carried out by the Audit Department. The Audit Department exercises
the right of audit supervision independently without any interference from other departments, units and individuals. This
mechanism is designed to maintain the independence, impartiality and authority of the internal audit function.

The Board has reviewed risk management and internal control work carried out in 2017. There has been no significant
risk control failure, and no significant risk control weakness has been identified within the Company. The management
processes including financial report and information disclosure of the Company are in strict compliance with the Listing
Rules. The Board has reviewed the risk management and internal control work conducted by the Company during the
Reporting Period and considers the risk management and internal control system effective and sufficient within the
Group.
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ALIGNMENT IN THE DISCLOSURE OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE CASBE

Since the date on which the H Shares of the Company became listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, the Company
has been preparing its financial statements under both the CASBE and the IFRS. According to the “Consultation
Conclusions on Acceptance of Mainland Accounting and Auditing Standards and Mainland Audit Firms for Mainland
Incorporated Companies Listed in Hong Kong” published by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in December 2010,
PRC incorporated issuers listed in Hong Kong are allowed to prepare their financial statements in accordance with
the CASBE and PRC audit firms approved by the MOF and the CSRC are allowed to audit these financial statements
prepared in accordance with the CASBE (the “Arrangement”).

Pursuant to Articles 151 and 152 of the Company’s articles of association, the financial statements of, interim results
or financial data announced or disclosed by the Company, shall be prepared in accordance with the relevant PRC
accounting standards and regulations as well as the IFRS or the accounting standards generally accepted in the
jurisdiction of the overseas listing place. As confirmed by our PRC counsel, we are allowed to adopt the CASBE to
prepare and disclose our financial statements under the articles of association.

In view of the Arrangement and in order to facilitate the application process with the CSRC in relation to the proposed
A share offering by the Company as well as to improve the efficiency and reduce the cost of disclosure and audit
expenses, the Board passed a resolution on 23 August 2017 to approve the disclosure of financial statements for the
Company under the CASBE. For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 23 August
2017.

ADJUSTMENT OF FAIR VALUE OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE PRC ACCEPTED ASSET VALUATION
STANDARDS

CSRC has received the A share listing application of the Company in May 2016. According to the application
requirements for A share listing, valuation on investment properties for the purpose of preparing financial statements
under the CASBE should be conducted in accordance with the related guidelines and requirements for asset valuation
of real estate in the PRC. As such, the Board passed a resolution on 23 August 2017 to engage an independent
qualified PRC valuer, using the PRC accepted asset valuation standards, to conduct a valuation on the fair value of the
Company’s investment properties accordingly. When preparing the financial statements using the CASBE, reference
is made to valuation performed based on the PRC accepted asset valuation standards and adjustment would have to
be made to the valuation method previously used. Due to the adoption of the PRC accepted asset valuation standards,
certain financial line items contained in the financial statements of the Company disclosed in accordance with the
CASBE such as investment properties, total assets of the Group, total equity and profit attributable to owners of the
Company may be different from such financial line items contained in the financial statements of the Company prepared
under the IFRS for the years ended 31 December 2016.

For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 23 August 2017 and the 2017 interim report
of the Company dated 26 September 2017.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Statement of the Company’s external auditor related to the reporting responsibilities of consolidated financial
statements is recorded in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 111 to 112 of this annual report.

Remuneration of the Company’s external auditor Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP paid/
payable for the year ended 31 December 2017 was RMB6.5million. The external auditor also provide non-audit service
for the year ended 31 December 2017 with remuneration of RMBO0.5 million.

CESSATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INTERNATIONAL AUDITOR AND
APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS

During the Reporting Period, the Company re-appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as its international auditor for
2017 for a term of one year, who was responsible for the auditing of the Company’s financial statements prepared in
accordance with the IFRS. In view of the Arrangement and the successful listing of the Company’s A Shares on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange on 17 January 2018, the Board resolved to propose to the Shareholders in the forthcoming
annual general meeting on 8 June 2018 for the cessation of appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the
international auditor of the Company for the year ending 31 December 2018. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public
Accountants LLP (“Deloitte”), the Company’s PRC auditor, is a PRC audit firm approved by the MOF and the CSRC
to provide auditing services in accordance with the CASBE to PRC incorporated issuers. The Company will propose
that Deloitte will be appointed as the only auditor auditing the Company’s financial statements in accordance with the
CASBE and undertaking the role of international auditors in compliance with the Listing Rules going forward.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. GUO Binghe, the company secretary of the Company, is responsible for raising corporate governance-related
suggestions to the Board, and ensuring compliance with policies and procedures of the Board, applicable laws, rules
and regulations.

In order to maintain high-standard corporate governance and ensure that the Company complies with the Listing Rules
and applicable Hong Kong laws, we also appointed Ms. LEUNG Suet Lun, a manager of the listing services department
of TMF Hong Kong Limited, as an assistant company secretary, to work closely with and provide assistance to Mr. GUO
in the discharge of his duties as the company secretary.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, Mr. GUO and Ms. LEUNG have already completed professional training of no
less than 15 hours in accordance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, respectively.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The Company believes that effective communication with Shareholders is very significant to the investor relations
enhancement and investors’ understanding of the Company’s business, performance and strategies. We are also
deeply convinced of the importance of disclosing information of the Company in time without preservation to the
Shareholders and investors knowledgeably.

The annual general meeting of Shareholders of the Company provides the shareholders with opportunities to
communicate with the Directors directly. The chairman of the Board and directors of the committees will attend the
meeting if possible, to answer questions raised by the shareholders. The external auditor of the Company will attend
the meeting and answer the questions regarding auditing items, preparation and contents of the auditor’s report,
accounting policy and independence of the auditor.

The Company adopted a shareholder communication policy so as to promote the effectiveness of communication
and establish a bridge between the Company and its Shareholders. Further, a website (www.chinaredstar.com) and
enquiry channels for the investors (e-mail: ir@chinaredstar.com) are also available. The Company will release the
latest information about the business operation and development, corporate governance practices and other latest
information to the public on the website.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

In order to protect shareholders’ interest and rights, the Company will submit the items for the review of the
Shareholders’ general meeting in the form of an independent resolution. The resolution submitted to the Shareholders’
general meeting will be voted pursuant to the Listing Rules, and the voting result will be published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company in time after the meeting.

Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting Convening and Proposal

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, where the Shareholders separately or jointly holding more than 10% of the
Shares request the Board to convene an extraordinary Shareholders’ meeting or Shareholders’ class meeting, the
following procedures shall be followed:

1. Shareholders who separately or jointly hold more than 10% of the Shares may request the Board to convene
an extraordinary Shareholders’ meeting or Shareholders’ class meeting by signing a written requirement or
several copies with the same format and to illustrate the subject of the meetings. The Board shall convene an
extraordinary Shareholders’ meeting or Shareholders’ class meeting as soon as possible upon the receipt of the
aforesaid written request. The Shareholders shall calculate the aforesaid number of shareholdings as of the date
of the submission of the written requirement.

2. If the Board fails to issue a notice of meeting within 30 days upon the receipt of the aforesaid written request,
the Supervisory Committee may convene a meeting itself within four months upon the Board’s receipt of such
request; if the Supervisory Committee fails to convene and chair the meeting, the Shareholders who separately
or jointly hold more than 10% of the Shares of our Company for more than 90 consecutive days may convene
and preside over themselves, of which the convening procedure shall be at best the same as if convened by
the Board. If the Shareholders call and convene a meeting by themselves due to the Board being unable to
convene a meeting in accordance with the aforesaid requirement, the expenses reasonably incurred therefrom
shall be borne by the Company and be deducted from the amounts due to the relevant Directors as a result of
negligence of duty.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting Convening and Proposal (Continued)

A general Shareholders’ meeting convened by Shareholders themselves shall be chaired by a person elected by the
convener. If no chairman is recommended, the chairman can be elected from the Shareholders. If for any reason the
Shareholders cannot elect a chairman, the meeting shall be chaired by the attending Shareholder (including proxy)
representing most voting Shares at the meeting.

The Shareholder(s) holding, separately or jointly, 3% or more of the total shares of our Company may put forward
extempore proposals to the Company 10 days prior to the convening of the general meeting by submitting the
proposals in writing to the convener. The convener shall issue a supplementary notice of the general meeting to the
Shareholders within two days upon the receipt of the proposals.

Queries Made to Board of Directors

The Shareholders may send queries for attention of the Board to ir@chinaredstar.com by e-mail.

Articles of Association

For the year ended 31 December 2017, there had been no alternations to the Articles of Association. The existing
Articles of Association are published on the websites of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Company respectively,

while the amended Articles of Association will be effective and valid upon Shareholders' consideration and approval at
the extraordinary general meeting of the Company on 25 April 2018.
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INTRODUCTION

This social responsibility report does not constitute an ESG report under Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules. An ESG
report complying with the disclosure requirements under Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules will be published by the
Group separately.

RESPONSIBILITY TO THE INDUSTRY

As a leading brand in the home furnishing circulation industry, Red Star Macalline has been committed to promoting
the development and reform of the industry through profound market researches and strategic innovations. Red Star
Macalline has been making positive efforts in the introduction and development of new brands and new business
models. XingyieHome Loan (£ %X EE) was launched to provide unsecured, unguaranteed and low-cost credit
services for personal home furnishing consumption. We will collaborate with financial institutions in the future, engaging
financial institutions to offer on-site services to satisfy consumers’ requirements. We will also promote the “Home Loan”
series to become a flagship service for the whole industry.

As a leading company in the home furnishings industry, Red Star Macalline encourages home furnishing enterprises
to focus on originality and adhere to the principle of originality and innovated design, in order to provide customers
with better products and improve Chinese residents’ home improvement tastes. On the design exhibition of 23th China
International Furniture Expo held in 2017, we built an original design platform and staged the DESIGN DREAM SHOW.
On the fashion forum of TALK, we invited famed design masters to present their insight and promoted our ambition in
developing Chinese design.

RESPONSIBILITY TO OUR PARTNERS

We are committed to a set of code of business conduct focusing on integrity and share benefits with suppliers. We
monitored the environment-friendliness of products supplied, set strict supplier selection and assessment mechanism,
thus ensuring that all products and brands in Red Star Macalline malls meet environmental requirements. We had
close supervision on the environment and social risk of suppliers and urged them to perform environmental and social
responsibilities.

As for cooperation with our business partners, we made analysis of each supplier's competitive landscape and issued
a brand operation and development report on a regular basis to give brand-specific improvement suggestions based
on its operating condition, helping them improve their brand image. These measures were widely accepted and
recognized by a large number of cooperative brands, and enabled us to become a benchmark enterprise in the home
improvement and furniture industry which can truly provide value-added services.

RESPONSIBILITY TO OUR CUSTOMERS

Upholding the belief that “Customers are the base of a corporation”, we are committed to offering customers
high-quality services. Promoting the “Word of Mouth Advertising” project, we aim to satisfy customers’ demands in
price, service, quality, workforce and environment, so as to win satisfaction and loyalty from customers and to build a
strong brand.

The year of 2017 marked the fifth year for the “Leading Green Brand Campaign”, during which, we were determined
to incorporate environmental protection into our mission and promised that every product we sold meet environmental
standards. Based on national and industry standards and advanced quality management systems established both at
home and abroad, the Leading Green brand appraisal gave comprehensive assessment on selected brands and was
recognized by customers and the industry.
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RESPONSIBILITY TO OUR STAFF

Following an open and fair employment principle, Red Star Macalline offered equal opportunities to talents and
attached importance to the diversity of workforce. We are opposed to any form of discrimination and protect our staff
from any racial, religious and gender discrimination.

Upholding the philosophy of high pay for high performance, Red Star Macalline offers its staff competitive remuneration
and benefits. We also care about development of our staff, and establish management school to improve the staff
training system. The management school was honored “2017 CEFE - Best Learning Ecosystem Operation (2017 &
CEFEEFEL £ rEEZ5E)” and was named “CCFA Top 10 Corporate Universities (CCFATER % KE)” for seven
consecutive years.

Red Star Macalline is devoted to building a safe, healthy and comfortable working and living environment for its staff.
We build roof-top farms to offer balanced diet to staff, offer subsidized houses, gyms and libraries to improve life quality
of staff, and hold sport meetings to relieve staff from pressure and make a balance between work and life. We also set
up Red Star Macalline Caring Fund (AL22E X %) to provide financial support to staff or their families who suffer from
disease, thereby relieving them from worries.

RESPONSIBILITY TO ENVIRONMENT AND SOCIAL PUBLIC

Paying high attention to resource conservation and environmental protection, Red Star Macalline incorporates
environmental protection into the decision making process, management and corporate culture, giving top priority to
environmental protection in all aspects and stages of business operation. We develop a series of energy conservation
and emission reduction strategies against the major consumed energy resources including water, electricity, gas and
construction materials, reduce emission of greenhouse gas and play a part in combating global warming.

In the pursuit of growth and quality improvement, Red Star Macalline builds close relation with communities, shares
its development achievements with the society, and never forgets to perform its social responsibilities. As a leader in
the home furnishing industry, we spare no effort to spread home culture with our expertise, and propagandize home
aesthetics and family concept through “YUDAO” WeChat Official Account. We also built green showroom in shopping
malls and, by displaying the 15 steps for home decoration, offer advice to customers on how to select products that fit
their needs in a cost-effective way.

Red Star Macalline also takes an active part in public welfare undertakings. Total charitable donations amounted to
RMB10.9 million in 2017.

THE MAIN AWARDS OF RED STAR MACALLINE ON PERFORMING
THE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY IN 2017

Awards/honors Issuing organization

Top 10 Companies with Best After-sales Services (2 BT H{EEZ RS ELL)
CCFA Staff’'s Favorite Chain Enterprise (CCFAFREIEHEE B THET N 1))
Best Employer of 2017(2017F E & EET)

Top Human Resources Management Awards (A 71 & RE I £ H 45)

CCFA Top 10 Corporate Universities (CCFAT ¥ K &)

2017 China Charitable Company (2017 FEHR B Azt %)
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Auditor’s Report

For the year ended 31 December 2017

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS RED STAR MACALLINE GROUP CORPORATION LTD.,

1. OPINION

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Red Star Macalline Group Corporation Ltd.
(hereinafter referred as “the Company”), which comprise the consolidated and the company’s balance sheets
as at 31 December 2017, the consolidated and the company’s income statements, the consolidated and the
company’s statements of changes in shareholders’ equity and the consolidated and the company’s cash flow
statements for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements.

In our opinion, the financial statements of the Company present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
and the company’s financial position for the year ended 31 December 2017, and the consolidated and the
company’s results of operations and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises (“ASBESs”).

2. BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with China Standards on Auditing (“CSAs”). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the
Code of Ethics for Chinese Certified Public Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

3. KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. We have determined the matters described below to be key audit matters to be communicated
in our report.

(i) Recognition of revenue from the consulting and management service titled the Company’s
name in the early stage of the project

Description

The Group recognizes revenue from the consulting and management service titled the Company’s name
in the early stage of the project on the condition that contract terms are satisfied and that there is no
material uncertainty about the recoverability of revenue from the consulting and management service
titled the Company’s name in the early stage of the project. During the year, revenue from the consulting
and management service titled the Company’s name in the early stage of the project of the Group
amounts to RMB1,587,200,094.98. For details, please refer to Note (V).39.

In view of the large amount, we identify the recognition of revenue from the consulting and management
service titled the Company’s name in the early stage of the project as a key audit matter.
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3.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

)

(I

Recognition of revenue from the consulting and management service titled the Company’s
name in the early stage of the project (Continued)

Audit response

Audit procedures we have performed in respect of the recognition of revenue from the consulting and
management service titled the Company’s name in the early stage of the project include:

1) Review agreements signed between the Group and partners under the Managed Shopping Malls,
and get informed of relevant transaction terms;

2) Get informed of the procedures which the management adopts to analyze whether revenue from
the consulting and management service titled the Company’s name in the early stage of the
project for each project is qualified for revenue recognition; test key control procedures related to
recognition of revenue from the consulting and management service titled the Company’s name in
the early stage of the project, including the management’s regular review of ongoing projects;

3) Obtain evidence which the management relies on to assess the progress of relevant projects
(including whether to obtain land use right certificates), and pay visit to some of the projects on a
random basis to check the actual progress;

4) Select collection information related to revenue from the consulting and management service titled
the Company’s name in the early stage of the project on a random basis, review bank statements
and bank slips, and check the payer against the signing party of relevant contract;

5) Assess the reasonability of the management’s estimate about whether economic benefits related
to the transaction would probably flow into the Group.

Impairment of accounts receivable related to revenue from the consulting and management
service titled the Company’s name in the early stage of the project

Description

As at the end of the year, balances of accounts receivable related to revenue from the consulting and
management service titled the Company’s name in the early stage of the project (“accounts receivable in
early stage of management”) reach RMB1,220,255,000.00, and provision for impairment loss amounts to
RMB438,194,750.00. For details, please refer to Note (V).3.

In view of the large amount and the judgements and estimates involved in the assessment of
recoverability of accounts receivable by the management of the Group, we identify impairment of
accounts receivable in early stage of management as a key audit matter.
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3. KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

(I

(1)

Impairment of accounts receivable related to revenue from the consulting and management
service titled the Company’s name in the early stage of the project (Continued)

Audit response

Audit procedures we have performed in respect with impairment of accounts receivable in early stage of
management include:

1) Get informed of the policy regarding impairment of accounts receivable in early stage of
management and the approach adopted by the management to estimate impairment amount,
and test key control procedures related to impairment of accounts receivable in early stage of
management;

2) Obtain and verify evidence of project progress, further determine whether there exists objective
evidence for the necessity of provision for impairment loss, and assess the reasonability of major
assumption applied by the management to determine whether it is necessary to make provision for
impairment loss on accounts receivable in early stage of management;

3) Analyze provision for impairment loss made by the Group with reference to the collection of
accounts receivable in early stage of management after the balance sheet date, and have a
sampling check on bank slips and other documents related to collection of accounts receivable
after the balance sheet date;

4) Assess the reasonability of provision for impairment loss on accounts receivable in early stage of
management made by the management.

Impairment of receivables related to minority shareholders of the Portfolio Shopping Malls and
partners under the Managed Shopping Malls (collectively as “partners”)

Description

As at the end of the year, receivables related to partners (excluding entrusted loan and advances)
include other receivables with initial carrying amount of RMB141,085,384.40 and provision for impairment
loss of RMB7,596,808.77, and long-term receivables with initial carrying amount of RMB507,525,250.00.
For details, please refer to Note (V).5 and 9.

In view of the large amount and the judgements and estimates involved in the assessment of
recoverability of receivables related to partners by the management of the Group, we identify impairment
of receivables related to partners as a key audit matter.
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3. KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

(I Impairment of receivables related to minority shareholders of the Portfolio Shopping Malls and
partners under the Managed Shopping Malls (collectively as “partners”) (Continued)

Audit response
Audit procedures we have performed in respect of impairment of receivables related to partners include:

1) Get informed of the approach adopted by the management to estimate and determine the
amount of provision for impairment loss, and test key control procedures related to impairment of
receivables related to partners;

2) Obtain the management’s estimate about the recoverability of receivables related to partners, and
assess the reasonability of major assumption applied by the management to determine whether it
is necessary to make provision for impairment loss on receivables related to partners by getting
informed of the progress of projects related to such receivables, obtaining financial statements of
partners and checking whether such funds are secured or guaranteed;

3) Review the management’s calculation of expected future cash flows, and assess the reasonability
of provision for impairment loss on such receivables made by the management.

4. OTHER INFORMATION

The management of the Company is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

110 2017 Annual Report




Auditor’s Report

For the year ended 31 December 2017

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of the Company is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with ASBEs, and designing, implementing and maintaining the internal control that is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern assumption unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with CSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with CSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

(1) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

(2) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances. But the purpose is not to express an opinion on the effectiveness of
internal control.

(3) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

(4) Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of going concern assumption and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required by CSAs to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Auditor’s Report

For the year ended 31 December 2017

6. AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with CSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: (continued)

(5) Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

(6) Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Company to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA LLP. Chinese Certified Public Accountants:
(The engagement partner)

Shanghai, China

Chinese Certified Public Accountants:

28 March 2018
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

At 31 December 2017

RMB
Item Notes Closing balance Opening balance
Current Assets:
Cash and bank balances (W)1 10,626,917,788.54 6,137,865,114.87
Notes receivable (V)2 3,000,000.00 900,000.00
Accounts receivable (V)3 1,167,430,013.77 799,810,037.69
Prepayments (V)4 267,777,107.29 164,841,803.45
Other receivables (V)5 1,734,498,124.83 978,680,238.37
Inventories (V)6 120,291,360.44 45,423,343.28
Non-current assets due within one year (V)7 120,000,000.00 45,000,000.00
Other current assets (V)7 527,577,887.53 623,564,454.04
Total Current Assets 14,567,492,282.40 8,796,084,991.70
Non-current Assets:
Available-for-sale financial assets (V)8 3,062,451,062.40 544,401,221.29
Long-term receivables (V)9 1,301,785,294.30 827,660,977.03
Long-term equity investments (V)10 1,613,818,294.75 1,012,646,573.83
Investment properties (V)11 70,831,000,000.00 66,948,000,000.00
Fixed assets (W12 158,862,688.00 141,662,812.14
Construction in progress (V)13 66,100,052.88 65,975,322.44
Intangible assets (V)14 458,617,045.42 428,854,402.41
Development expenditure (V)15 29,418,402.19 38,967,363.83
Goodwill (V)16 16,592,357.41 16,592,357.41
Long-term prepaid expenses (W17 229,333,419.48 171,207,612.77
Deferred tax assets (V)18 718,579,066.08 594,604,457.35
Other non-current assets (V)19 3,960,574,126.00 1,948,746,010.92
Total non-current assets 82,447,131,808.91 72,739,319,111.42
Total assets 97,014,624,091.31 81,535,404,103.12
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

At 31 December 2017

RMB
ltem Notes Closing balance Opening balance
Current liabilities:

Short-term loans (V)20 300,010,000.00 500,010,000.00
Accounts payable (V)21 491,215,018.66 353,219,391.21
Advance from customers (V)22 3,068,282,301.16 2,067,113,177.08
Payroll payable (V)23 800,537,116.04 540,096,177.35
Taxes payables (V)24 927,266,639.50 453,974,032.68
Interest payables (V)25 178,691,354.69 120,291,237.11
Dividends payable (V)26 61,960,000.00 138,500,000.00
Other payables (V)27 7,338,709,537.17 5,158,966,317.83
Non-current liabilities due within one year (V)28 9,550,075,473.97 4,210,031,348.15
Total current liabilities 22,716,747,441.19 13,542,201,681.41
Non-current liabilities:

Long-term loans (V)29 11,372,664,484.81 8,447,537,245.75
Bonds payable (V)30 4,896,478,160.15 8,434,100,693.31
Long-term payables (V)31 1,415,698,075.42 1,475,711,651.18
Deferred income (V)32 192,141,221.74 195,413,309.31
Deferred tax liabilities (V)18 9,714,400,823.89 9,104,345,882.92
Other non-current liabilities (V)33 2,774,520,500.00 415,320,500.00

Total non-current liabilities

30,365,903,266.01

28,072,429,282.47

Total liabilities

53,082,650,707.20

41,614,630,963.88
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

At 31 December 2017

RMB
Item Notes Closing balance Opening balance
Equity:
Share capital (V)34 3,623,917,038.00 3,623,917,038.00
Capital reserve (V)35 5,362,115,385.55 5,620,013,738.96
Other comprehensive income (V)36 1,562,965,633.10 -
Surplus reserve (V)37 1,623,080,808.19 1,226,111,855.65
Retained earnings (V)38 28,254,693,080.77 26,095,809,439.81
Total equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 40,426,771,945.61 36,565,852,072.42
Non-controlling interests 3,505,201,438.50 3,354,921,066.82
Total equity 43,931,973,384.11 39,920,773,139.24
Total liabilities and equity 97,014,624,091.31 81,535,404,103.12

The notes are an integral part of these financial statements

The financial statements set forth from page 113 to 425 are signed by the following persons-in-charge:

Person in charge of the
Legal representative: Person in charge of accounting: accounting department:
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Consolidated Income Statement

For the year ended 31 December 2017

Amount for

RMB

Amount for

the current period

the prior period

I. Revenue (V)39 10,959,512,669.77 9,436,081,755.29
Less: Costs of sales (V)39 3,163,193,516.38 2,612,767,511.67
Taxes and surcharges (V)40 317,329,519.05 413,922,513.42
Distribution and selling expenses (V)41 1,513,829,389.14 1,205,697,587.59
General and administrative expenses (V)42 1,361,788,199.04 935,078,887.46
Financial expenses (V)43 1,131,840,043.65 877,707,890.38
Impairment loss of assets (V)44 283,436,250.82 572,890,325.59
Add: Gain on fair value changes (V)45 1,996,188,694.30 1,754,032,308.00
Investment income (V)46 633,897,111.33 130,896,456.03

Including: Investment income from associates
and joint ventures 129,258,920.85 136,217,986.32
Gains/(Losses) from disposal of assets (V)47 35,964,572.41 (4,615,478.68)
Other income (V)48 62,288,005.83 -
Il.  Operating profit 5,916,434,135.56 4,698,330,324.53
Add: Non-operating income (V)49 112,250,229.35 119,076,037.54
Less: Non-operating expenses (V)50 42,647,769.39 15,888,661.20
Il.  Total profit 5,986,036,595.52 4,801,517,700.87
Less: Income tax expenses (V)51 1,708,022,775.23 1,128,075,879.79

Net profit
(1) According to the classification of continuity of
operation
1. Net profit from continuing operations
2. Net profit from discontinued operations
(2) According to the classification of ownership
1. Non-controlling interests
2. Net profit attributable to owners of the
Company

4,278,013,820.29

4,278,013,820.29

200,116,070.83

4,077,897,749.46

3,673,441,821.08

3,673,441,821.08

276,258,5686.76

3,397,183,234.32
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Consolidated Income Statement

For the year ended 31 December 2017

RMB

Amount for Amount for

the current period the prior period

V. Other comprehensive income (after tax) 1,736,628,481.22 -
Other comprehensive income (after tax) attributable

to owners of the Company 1,562,965,633.10 -

(1) Other comprehensive income that will not be
reclassified to profit or loss - -
(2) Other comprehensive income that will be

reclassified to profit or loss 1,562,965,633.10 -
1. Gain or loss on changes in fair value of
available-for-sale financial assets 1,562,965,633.10 -
Other comprehensive income (after tax) attributable
to non-controlling interests 173,662,848.12 -
VI. Total comprehensive income 6,014,642,301.51 3,673,441,821.08
Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of
the Company 5,640,863,382.56 3,397,183,234.32
Total comprehensive income attributable to non-
controlling interests 373,778,918.95 276,258,586.76

VII. Earnings per share:
(1) Basic earnings per share (V)52 1.13 0.94
(2) Diluted earnings per share (V)52 N/A N/A
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 December 2017

I.  Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Cash received from the sales of goods and rendering
of services

Amount for

the current period

12,184,489,800.57

RMB

Amount for
the prior period

9,429,560,443.73

Other cash received relating to operating activities (V)53(1) 2,272,530,770.97 653,445,383.04
Sub-total of cash inflow from operating activities 14,457,020,571.54 10,0883,005,826.77
Cash payments for goods purchased and services

received 1,353,768,114.19 931,576,478.69
Cash payments to and on behalf of employees 2,731,713,050.70 2,012,983,198.59
Payments of various types of taxes 1,439,972,395.48 1,681,409,743.73
Other cash payments relating to operating activities  (V)53(2) 2,413,208,082.34 1,473,107,648.81
Sub-total of cash outflow from operating activities 7,938,661,642.71 6,099,077,069.82
Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities (V)54(1) 6,518,358,928.83 3,983,928,756.95

Il.  Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Cash received from disposal of investments 86,800,000.00 34,567,187.71
Cash received from investment income 1,025,000.00 3,060,000.00
Net cash received from disposal of fixed assets,

intangible assets and other long-term assets 38,051,932.66 490,241.82
Net cash received from disposal of subsidiaries

and other business units (V)54(3 2,781,119,596.23 -

Other cash received relating to investing activities (V)53(3

Sub-total of cash inflow from investing activities

1,322,168,756.14
4,229,165,285.03

1,061,139,192.43
1,099,256,621.96

Cash paid to purchase and construct fixed assets,
intangible assets and other long-term assets

Cash paid for investments

Net cash paid for acquisition of subsidiaries and
other business units

Net cash paid for disposal of subsidiaries and other

business units (V)54(3

Other cash paid relating to investing activities
Sub-total of cash outflow from investing activities

5,840,426,576.29
1,607,414,912.91

740,285,674.10

2,052,152,346.63
10,240,279,509.93

3,265,420,672.51
569,828,606.80

783,363,520.86
3,417,768.61

1,385,951,191.70
6,007,981,760.48

Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities

(6,011,114,224.90)

(4,908,725,138.52)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 December 2017

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:

Cash receipts from capital contributions

Including: cash receipts from capital contributions
from minority shareholders of subsidiaries

Cash received from borrowings

Other cash received relating to financing activities

Sub-total of cash inflow from financing activities

(V)53(5)

Amount for

the current period

134,457,880.00

134,457,880.00
12,894,832,370.23
6,099,043.31
13,035,389,293.54

RMB

Amount for
the prior period

10,000,000.00

10,000,000.00
8,123,460,188.66
10,350,000.00
8,143,810,188.66

Cash repayments of borrowings

Cash payments for distribution of dividends or
profits or settlement of interest expenses

Including: payments for distribution of dividends or
profits to minority shareholders of subsidiaries

Other cash payments relating to financing activities

Sub-total of cash outflow from financing activities

(V)53(6)

6,038,656,350.99
2,808,194,256.59
173,249,654.35

314,901,264.13
9,161,751,871.71

3,753,847,777.65
2,881,381,326.74
85,063,283.72

239,824,396.92
6,875,053,5601.31

Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities

3,873,637,421.83

1,268,756,687.35

Effect of Foreign Exchange Rate Changes on Cash
and Cash Equivalents

(4,013,093.73)

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Add: Opening balance of cash and cash equivalents

(V)54(4)

4,376,869,032.03
5,892,424,707.42

343,960,305.78
5,548,464,401.64

VL.

Closing balance of cash and cash equivalents

(V)54(4)

10,269,293,739.45

5,892,424,707 .42
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2017

RMB

Amount for the current period

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

Other
comprehensive Non-controlling
Share capital ~ Capital reserve income  Surplus reserve  Retained earnings Sub-total ICIE Total equity

| Balance at the beginning of the year ~ 3,623,917,038.00  5,620,013,738.96

1,226,111,855.65  26,095,800,439.81 36,565,852,072.42  3,354,921,066.82 39,920,773,139.24

Il Changes in the current year

(1) Net profi - - - - 407789774946  4,077,897,74946  200,116,070.83  4,278,013,820.29
(Il) Total comprehensive income - - 1,562,965,633.10 - - 1562965633.10  173662,848.12  1,736,628,481.22
Sub-fotal of (1) and (I - - 1,562,965,633.10 - 4077807,74946 5064086338256  373,778918.95  6,014,642,301.51

(I1l) Owners' contributions and
reduction in capital
1. Capital contributions
from owners - - - - - - 134457,880.00  134,457,880.00
2. Others (Mofe) (257,898,353.41) - - - (257,898,35341)  (261,246,772.92)  (519,145,126.33)
(V) Profit distribution
1. Transfer to surplus reserve - - 396,968,952.54  (396,968,952.54) - - -
2. Distributions to shareholders - - - - (1522,045,155.96) (1522,045,155.96)  (96,709,654.35) (1,618,754,810.31)

IIl. Balance at the end of the year 3623917,038.00  5362,115,385.65  1,562,965,633.10  1,623,080,808.19 28,254,693,080.77 40,426,771,945.61  3,505,201,438.50 43,931,973,384.11

Note:  Changes in 2017 are primarily attributable to the effect of transactions with minority shareholders. For details, please refer to Note (VII)2.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2017

RMB

Amount for the prior period

Attributable to shareholders of the Company Non-controling

Share capital Capital reserve Surplus reserve  Retained earnings Sub-total interest Total equity

| Balance at the beginning of the year 362391703800 5062697520420  1030.718,136.69  24,597,260932.31  34878,871311.20  3317,398,984.32  38,196,270,295.52

Il. Changes in the current year

(1) Nt profit - - - 3307,183234.32  3,397,183,234.32 276,258586.76  3,673441,821.08
(1) Other comprehensive income - - - = = = =
Sub-total of (1) and (1l) - - - 3307,183234.32  3,397,183,234.32 276,258586.76  3,673441,821.08
(111)Owners' contributions and reduction in capital
1. Capital contributions from owners - - - - - 10,000,000.00 10,000,000.00
2. Others (Motg) - (6,961,465.24) - - (6,961465.24)  (54,023,220.54) (60,984,685.78)
(IV)Profit distribution
1. Transfer to surplus reserve - - 19539371896 (195,393,718.96) - - -
2. Distributions to shareholders - - - (1703,241,007.86) (1,703,241,007.86)  (194,713,283.72)  (1,897,954,291.58)
Ill. Balance at the end of the year 362391703800 562001373896  1226,111,855.65  26,095809,430.81  36,565,852,07242  3354921,086.82  39,920,773,139.24

Note:  Changes in 2016 are mainly attributable to the effect of contribution to subsidiaries at premium during the year and the effect of
acquisition of non-controlling interest in subsidiaries at discount/premium. For details, please refer to Note (VII)2.
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Company’s Balance Sheet

At 31 December 2017

RMB

Iltem Notes Closing balance Opening balance
Current Assets:

Cash and bank balances 1,969,876,777.44 1,505,388,102.38
Accounts receivable (XIV)1 484,757,225.91 512,471,830.88
Other receivables (XIV)2 18,405,457,235.10 17,245,244 177.58
Prepayments 48,766,995.40 485,019,571.78
Dividends receivable 3,131,960,000.00 988,680,000.00
Inventories 5,730,984.40 2,676,389.90
Other current assets 49,830,391.58 127,180,170.73
Total Current Assets 24,096,379,609.83 20,866,660,243.25
Non-current Assets:

Available-for-sale financial assets 669,543,221.29 189,051,221.29
Long-term receivables 808,560,382.87 622,071,328.39
Long-term equity investments (XIV)3 11,388,694,251.59 10,887,097,479.63
Fixed assets 25,497,724.38 15,059,226.68
Construction in progress 13,762,311.97 10,333,657.91
Intangible assets (XIV)4 418,061,037.62 425,166,329.80
Long-term prepaid expenses 21,357,637.10 22,089,620.75
Deferred tax assets 384,913,111.65 346,183,868.71
Other non-current assets (XIV)5 1,908,490,377.66 964,936,869.68
Total Non-current Assets 15,638,880,056.13 13,481,989,602.84
TOTAL ASSETS 39,735,259,665.96 34,348,649,846.09
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Item

Current Liabilities:
Short-term loans
Accounts payable
Advance from customers
Payroll payable

Taxes payable

Interest payable

Other payables

Non-current liabilities due within one year

Closing balance

300,010,000.00
121,642,406.76
731,167,637.28
287,449,474.82
172,165,530.70
101,305,582.17
11,689,985,295.61
5,486,714,288.88

Company’s Balance Sheet

At 31 December 2017

RMB

Opening balance

500,010,000.00
110,234,392.05
668,558,019.54
179,716,855.22
126,615,139.07
106,215,655.01
6,582,526,311.12
2,929,468,073.32

Total current liabilities

18,890,440,216.22

11,203,344,445.33

Non-current liabilities
Long-term loans

Bonds payable

Long-term payables

Other non-current liabilities

2,210,000,000.00
2,972,912,335.65
34,621,903.57
304,520,500.00

1,460,000,000.00
8,434,100,693.31
31,663,866.41
344,420,500.00

Total non-current liabilities

5,522,054,739.22

10,270,185,059.72

Total liabilities

24,412,494,955.44

21,473,529,505.05

Equity

Share capital
Capital reserve
Surplus reserve
Retained earnings
Total equity

3,623,917,038.00
5,784,981,095.88
1,443,262,240.96
4,470,604,335.68
15,322,764,710.52

3,623,917,038.00
5,784,981,095.88
1,046,293,288.42
2,419,928,918.74
12,875,120,341.04

Total liabilities and equity

39,735,259,665.96

34,348,649,846.09
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Company’s Income Statement

For the year ended 31 December 2017

RMB

Amount for
the prior period

Amount for

the current period

l. Revenue (XIV)8 1,883,634,069.86 1,504,091,874.91
Less: Costs of sales (XIV)8 276,523,553.00 205,762,466.67
Taxes and surcharges (XIV)9 10,792,314.26 25,855,093.15

Distribution and selling expenses
General and administrative expenses
Financial expenses

377,277,042.14
649,245,347.45
357,214,111.15

176,138,932.31
471,165,423.41
339,822,456.65

124

Impairment loss of assets

Add: Gain on fair v

alue changes

247,590,661.48

831,163,567.23

2,341,984,767.94

Investment income (XIV)10 4,012,981,415.45
Including: Investment income from associates

and joint ventures 93,420,154.33 131,140,153.93
Gains from disposal of assets 358,379.26 20.94
Other income 4,489,199.06 -
Il.  Operating profit 3,982,820,034.15 1,796,168,724.37
Add: Non-operating income 4,194,339.21 51,847,809.13
Less: Non-operating expenses 10,911,170.27 2,780,419.08
IIl.  Total profit 3,976,103,203.09 1,845,236,114.42
Less: income tax expenses (benefits) (XIV)11 6,413,677.65 (114,201,985.82)

IV. Net profit

(1) Net profit from continuing operations
(2) Net profit from discontinued operations

V. Other comprehensive income (after tax)

VI. Total comprehensiv

e income

3,969,689,525.44
3,969,689,525.44

3,969,689,525.44

1,959,438,100.24
1,959,438,100.24

1,959,438,100.24
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Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

Cash received from the sales of goods and
rendering of services

Other cash received relating to operating activities

Sub-total of cash inflow from operating activities

Amount for

the current period

1,777,718,452.65
32,229,405.94
1,809,947,858.59

Company’s Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 December 2017

RMB

Amount for
the prior period

913,451,252.86
40,893,634.54
954,344,887.40

Cash payments for goods purchased and services
received

Cash payments to and on behalf of employees

Payments of various types of taxes

Other cash payments relating to operating activities

Sub-total of cash outflow from operating activities

93,571,215.65
517,453,347.16
170,876,989.77
408,387,376.23
1,190,288,928.81

103,178,723.10
369,114,807.06
158,951,584.07
302,465,532.64
933,710,646.87

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities

(XIv)y12 619,658,929.78

20,634,240.53

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Cash received from disposal of investments

Cash received from investment income

Net cash received from disposal of fixed assets,
intangible assets and other long-term assets

Net cash received from acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries and other business units

Other cash received relating to investing activities

Sub-total of cash inflow from investing activities

250,000.00
111,195,000.00

450,976.92
156,700,000.00

30,929,543,209.74
31,198,139,186.66

271,059,000.00
1,506,859,000.00

20.94

9,846,939,246.00
11,624,857,266.94

Cash paid to purchase and construct fixed assets,
intangible assets and other long-term assets

Cash paid for investments

Net cash paid for acquisition of subsidiaries

Other cash paid relating to investing activities

Sub-total of cash outflow from investing activities

1,203,754,596.19
2,012,432,356.51
30,197,086,276.26
33,413,273,228.96

22,471,426.43
991,948,924.29
787,598,402.78
15,069,198,031.13
16,871,216,784.63

Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities

(2,215,134,042.30)

(5,246,359,517.69)

Red Star Macalline Group Corporation Ltd.

125




126

Company’s Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 December 2017

Amount for

the current period

RMB

Amount for
the prior period

Ill.  Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Cash received from borrowings
Other cash received relating to financing activities
Sub-total of cash inflow from financing activities

1,050,010,000.00
32,884,755,382.04
33,934,765,382.04

5,157,510,000.00
64,441,304,947.50
69,598,814,947.50

Cash repayments of borrowings

Cash payments for distribution of dividends or
profits or settlement of interest expenses

Other cash payments relating to financing activities

Sub-total of cash outflow from financing activities

3,440,010,000.00

2,377,372,996.83
26,057,418,597.63
31,874,801,594.46

1,410,000,000.00

2,296,354,955.67
61,339,265,270.56
65,045,620,226.23

Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities

2,059,963,787.58

4,5653,194,721.27

IV. Effect of Foreign Exchange Rate Changes on Cash
and Cash Equivalents

V. Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Add: Opening balance of cash and cash equivalents

(XIV)12

464,488,675.06
1,505,388,102.38

(672,530,555.89)
2,177,918,658.27

VI. Closing balance of cash and cash equivalents

(XIv)12

1,969,876,777.44

1,505,388,102.38
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Company’s Statement of Changes in Equity

Share capital

For the year ended 31 December 2017

RMB

Amount for the current period

Capital reserve

. Balance at the beginning of the year

. Changes in the current year
(I) Net profit
(I1) Other comprehensive income
Sub-total of (I) and (II)
(I11) Owners' contributions and
reduction in capital
1. Capital contributions from owners
(IV) Profit distribution
1. Transfer to surplus reserve
2. Distributions to shareholders

[1l. Balance at the end of the year

3,623,917,038.00

3,623,917,038.00

5,784,981,095.88

5,784,981,095.88

Surplus reserve Retained earnings Total equity

1,046,293,288.42 2,419,928 918.74 12,875,120,341.04

- 3,969,689,525.44 3,969,689,525.44

- 3,969,689,525.44 3,969,689,525.44

396,968,952.54 (396,968,952.54) -
- (1,522,045,155.96)  (1,522,045,155.96)

1,443,262,240.96 4,470,604,335.68 15,322,764,710.52
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Company’s Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2017

. Balance at the beginning of the year

II. Changes in the current year

(I) Net profit

(I) Other comprehensive income

Sub-total of (I) and (II)

(IIT) Owners’ contributions and

reduction in capital

1. Capital contributions from owners
2. Others

(IV) Profit distribution
1. Transfer to surplus reserve
2. Distributions to shareholders

[1l. Balance at the end of the year

Share capital

3,623,917,038.00

3,623,917,038.00

Capital reserve

5,784,981,095.88

5,784,981,095.88

Amount for the prior period

Surplus reserve

850,899,569.46

195,393,718.96

1,046,293,288.42

Retained earnings

2,359,125,545.32

1,959,438,100.24

1,959,438,100.24

(195,393,718.96)
(1,703,241,007.86)

2,419,928 918.74

RMB

Total equity

12,618,923,248.66

1,959,438,100.24

1,959,438,100.24

(1,703,241,007.86)

12,875,120,341.04
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2017

GENERAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY

Red Star Macalline Group Corporation Ltd. (formerly known as Shanghai Red Star Macalline Home Furnishing
Company Limited* (EBA 22X EREXRMmMBMRAR]) and Shanghai Red Star Macalline Enterprise
Management Company Limited* ( E/B4AL 23X EREEIR AR A A]), hereinafter referred to as the “Company”)
is a limited liability company jointly established by Shanghai Red Star Macalline Investment Company Limited*
(BB EEEEREAR AT, renamed to Red Star Macalline Holding Group Company Limited* (4 2383
TS BB R AF]) in December 2016, hereinafter referred to as “RSM Holding”) and Red Star Furniture Group
Co., Ltd* ((IERAEEABR A7) (hereinafter referred to as “Red Star Furniture Group”) on 18 June 2007 in
Shanghai, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), with a term of operation of 10 years and an original
registered capital and paid-in capital of RMB120,000,000.00.

On 2 November 2007, Red Star Furniture Group transferred all the 90% equity held by it to RSM Holding, and
completed the business registration for such change on 16 November 2007, after which, RSM Holding held
100% equity of the Company.

According to the resolution passed at the general meeting of the Company on 21 November 2008 and as
approved by Shanghai Municipal Commission of Commerce in its document dated 12 December 2008(Hu Shang
Wai Zi Pi [2008] No.519), the Company decided to increase its registered capital by RMB24,578,313.00, which
was contributed by Candlewood Investment SRL and Springwood Investment SRL, two new foreign shareholders.
As such, the Company changed in nature from a domestic enterprise into a Sino-foreign joint venture, with its
name changed from Shanghai Red Star Macalline Home Furnishing Company Limited to Shanghai Red Star
Macalline Enterprise Management Company Limited. After such capital increase, the registered capital and
paid-in capital of the Company amounted to RMB144,578,313.00.

According to the absorption and merger agreement of the Company dated 8 August 2009 and the provisions
of the Articles of Association as amended, the Company applied to absorb and merge with Tianjin Red Star
Macalline Home Decoration Co., Ltd.* (KZ4EXEIERMERAF]) (hereinafter referred to as “Tianjin Red
Star”). Tianjin Red Star is a limited liability company established in Tianjin, the PRC on 1 June 2007, with a
term of operation of 10 years and an original registered capital of RMB40,000,000.00, and is mainly engaged
in the wholesale and retail of and investment management, investment consultation and commodity information
consultation in relation to furniture and construction materials, as well as the provision of design planning
and management services for the shopping malls under operation. According to the resolution passed at the
general meeting of Tianjin Red Star on 1 November 2007 and as approved by Tianjin Municipal Commission
of Commerce in its document dated 24 December 2007(Jin Shang Wu Zi Guan [2008] N0.680), Tianjin Red
Star decided to increase its registered capital by RMB11,880,674.00, which was contributed by Candlewood
Investment SRL and Springwood Investment SRL, two new foreign shareholders. As such, Tianjin Red Star
changed in nature from a domestic enterprise into a Sino-foreign joint venture. After such capital increase, the
registered capital and paid-in capital of Tianjin Red Star amounted to RMB51,880,674.00. The Company had
paid its equity to the shareholders of Tianjin Red Star as the aggregate consideration upon the absorption and
merger of Tianjin Red Star, after which, the registered capital and paid-in capital of the Company amounted to
RMB196,458,987.00.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2017

(1)

GENERAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

According to the proposal passed at the Board meeting of the Company on 28 March 2010 and the provisions
of the Articles of Association as amended, the Company applied to increase its registered capital by
RMB25,960,651.00 to RMB222,419,638.00. Such increase in the registered capital had been contributed in full
by the new shareholders, namely Beijing Ruibang Beite Entrepreneur Investment Center (Limited Partnership)
(hereinafter referred to as “Beijing Ruibang”), WHWH Group Company Limited (hereinafter referred to as
“WHWH?”), Beijing Yaxiang Xingtai Investment Company Limited (hereinafter referred to as “Beijing Yaxiang”),
Tianjin Jinkai Equity Investment Fund Partnership (Limited Partnership) (hereinafter referred to as “Tianjin
Jinkai”), Lianyungang Fairbay Infrastructure Construction Company Limited (hereinafter referred to as
“Lianyungang Fairbay”), Mianyang Science and Technology Park Industry Fund (Limited Partnership) (hereinafter
referred to as “Mianyang Industry Fund”), Beijing Bainian Decheng Entrepreneur Investment Center (Limited
Partnership) (hereinafter referred to as “Beijing Bainian”), Shanghai Yinping Investment Management Company
Limited (hereinafter referred to as “Shanghai Yinping”), Shanghai Junyi Investment Consultancy Company
Limited (hereinafter referred to as “Shanghai Junyi”), Shanghai Ping’an Pharmacy Company Limited (hereinafter
referred to as “Ping’an Pharmacy”) and Nantong Qianjun Construction Material Company Limited (hereinafter
referred to as “Nantong Qianjun”). After such capital increase, the registered capital and paid-in capital of the
Company amounted to RMB222,419,638.00, and the Company completed the business registration in respect of
such change on 1 June 2010.

According to the proposal passed at the Board meeting of the Company on 22 June 2010 and the provisions
of the Articles of Association as amended, the Company applied to increase its registered capital by
RMB5,866,965.00 to RMB228,286,603.00. Such increase in the registered capital had been contributed in full by
the new shareholders, namely Shanghai Meilong Assets Management Company Limited (hereinafter referred to
as “Shanghai Meilong”), Shanghai Xingkai Business Administration Company Limited (hereinafter referred to as
“Shanghai Xingkai”) and Shanghai Hongmei Investment Management Company Limited (hereinafter referred to
as “Shanghai Hongmei”). After such capital increase, the registered capital and paid-in capital of the Company
amounted to RMB228,286,603.00, and the Company completed the business registration in respect of such
change on 28 July 2010.

According to the approval of the Ministry of Commerce of the People’s Republic of China dated 23 December
2010 (Shang Zi Pi [2010] No. 1266), the resolution of the Board, and the provisions of the sponsor agreement
and Articles of Association of the Company, the Company was converted into a foreign-invested joint stock
limited company in accordance with laws and changed its name to Red Star Macalline Group Corporation Ltd. (4L
EXYEREEERMDARAR]). The Company converted RMB3,000,000,000.00 out of the audited net assets of
RMB3,260,932,367.04 of Shanghai Red Star Macalline Enterprise Management Company Limited as at 30 June
2010 at a conversion rate of 1:1 into a registered capital of RMB3,000,000,000.00, divided into 3,000,000,000
shares in total with a par value of RMB1 each, and paid the registered capital of RMB3,000,000,000.00,
representing 100% of the Company’s registered capital. The Company completed the business registration in
respect of such change on 6 January 2011.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2017

GENERAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

According to the resolution at the second extraordinary general meeting of the Company in 2015, the Articles
of Association as amended and the approval of Shanghai Municipal Commission of Commerce (Hu Shang Wai
Zi Pi [2015] No. 398), the Company applied to increase its registered capital by RMB80,329,038.00 by way of
capital contribution from Candlewood Investment SRL and Springwood Investment SRL of RMB60,917,952.00
and RMB19,411,086.00, respectively. After such capital increase, the registered capital and paid-in capital of
the Company amounted to RMB3,080,329,038.00. In the meanwhile, Beijing Ruibang, WHWH, Beijing Yaxiang,
Tianjin Jinkai, Lianyungang Fairbay, Mianyang Industry Fund, Beijing Bainian, Shanghai Yinping, Shanghai
Junyi and Nantong Qianjun, all being the original shareholders of the Company, transferred their shares in the
Company to RSM Holding, the controlling shareholder of the Company. The Company completed the business
registration in respect of such change on 6 February 2015.

Pursuant to the proposal of the Board, as approved at the fourth extraordinary general meeting of the Company
in 2015, and as permitted by China Securities Regulatory Commission on 8 May 2015 via the Approval on the
Issuance of Foreign Preference Shares by Red Star Macalline Group Corporation Ltd. (Zheng Jian Xu Ke [2015]
No.822), the Company publicly issued no more than 1,180,792,000 overseas-listed foreign shares (H Shares) to
overseas investors and became listed on the Main Board of Hong Kong Stock Exchange. As at 26 June 2015,
the Company completed the issuance of 543,588,000 overseas-listed foreign shares (H Shares) with a par value
of RMB1.00 per share to overseas investors at a price of HK$13.28 per share. After such issuance, the paid-in
capital (share capital) of the Company amounted to RMB3,623,917,038.00, representing 3,623,917,038 ordinary
shares of RMB1.00 per share, including 2,561,103,969 domestic shares with restrictive conditions for sale and
1,062,813,069 overseas-listed foreign shares (H Shares) with no restrictive conditions for sale. On 26 June 2015,
such overseas-listed foreign shares (H Shares) publicly issued were listed and traded on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. The Company completed the business registration in respect of such change on 7 September 2015.

Approved at the second extraordinary general meeting of 2016 and permitted on 22 December 2017 in Reply
on Approval of Initial Public Offering of Shares by Red Star Macalline Group Corporation Ltd. Zheng Jian Xu
Ke [2017] No. 2373 Document issued by the China Securities Regulatory Commission, the Company carried
out public offering of no more than 315,000,000 RMB-denominated ordinary shares (A shares), which were
listed and traded at the Shanghai Stock Exchange. As at 17 January 2018, the Company completed the public
offering of RMB-denominated ordinary shares (A shares) totaling 315,000,000 shares with a nominal value of
RMB1.00 per share, and the issue price per share amounted to RMB10.23. Upon completion of the offering, the
paid-in capital (share capital) of the Company amounted to RMB3,938,917,038.00, among which, the amount
of RMB-denominated shares (A shares) subject to trading moratorium was 2,561,103,969 shares; the amount of
RMB-denominated shares (A shares) not subject to trading moratorium was 315,000,000 shares, and the amount
of overseas listed foreign shares (H shares) not subject to trading moratorium was 1,062,813,069 shares. The
Company completed the business registration in respect of such change on 20 March 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2017

(1)

(I1)

GENERAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

The business scope of the Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as the “Group”) mainly includes
providing investees with management service, enterprise management and product information consulting;
providing business stores with design planning and management services, wholesale of furniture, building
materials and decoration materials, and relevant supporting services.

The parent company of the Company is RSM Holding, and our actual controller is Che Jianxing.

For details of the scope of combined financial statements, please refer to Note (VII) “Interests in Other Entities”.
For details of the changes in the scope of combined financial statements, please refer to Note (VI) “Changes in
the Consolidation Scope”.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Basis of preparation

The Group applies the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises and relevant requirements (hereinafter
referred to as the “Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises”) as well as Public Issuance of Securities
Company Information Disclosure Rules 15 — General Financial Report (revised in 2014) to disclose relevant
financial information. In addition, these financial statements contain relevant disclosures required by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Listing
Hong Kong Limited.

Basis of Preparation and Principle of Measurement

The Group adopts the accrual basis as the basis of book-keeping in accounting. Except investment properties
and certain financial instruments which are measured at fair value, these financial statements have been
prepared at historical cost. In case of any impairment of any asset, corresponding impairment provision will be
made in accordance with relevant requirements.

Where the historical cost is adopted as the measurement basis, assets are recorded at the amount of cash or
cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the consideration given to acquire them at the time of their acquisition.
Liabilities are recorded at the amount of proceeds or assets received or the contractual amounts for assuming
the present obligation, or at the amounts of cash or cash equivalents expected to be paid to settle the liabilities
in the normal course of business.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using valuation technique. Fair value measurement and/or disclosure in the financial
statements are determined according to the above basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2017

() BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Basis of Preparation and Principle of Measurement (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements are categorised into three Levels based on the degree to which the inputs to the
fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement date.

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
Going concern

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s current liabilities in aggregate exceeded its current assets in aggregate
with an amount of RMB8.149 billion. The management of the Group had assessed its ongoing operation for the
12 months starting from 1 January 2018, and after taking into account unutilized bank facilities, proceeds from
subsequent public offering of RMB-denominated ordinary shares (A Shares) and expected net cash inflows from
operating activities as at 31 December 2017, believes that the liquidity risk arising from the fact that its current
assets is less than its current liabilities as at the end of Reporting Period that the Group is exposed to falls within
the range of control, and thus has no material effect on the ongoing operation of the Group. Therefore, these
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2017

() SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES

Reminder of specific accounting policies and accounting estimates:

The Group decides to adopt a number of specific accounting policies and accounting estimates according to
the characteristics of its production and operation activities, for which please see Note (Ill). (11) Method of bad
debt provision and Note (lI1). (25) Time point for the recognition of revenue and other notes.

1. Declaration following ASBE (Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises)

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with ASBE, and present
truly and completely, the consolidated and the company’s financial position as at 31 December 2017, the
consolidated and the company’s operating results and the consolidated and the company’s cash flows
for the year then ended.

2. Accounting period
The Group has adopted the calendar year as its accounting year i.e. from 1 January to 31 December.
3. Operating cycle

Operating cycle refers to the period from the purchase of assets used for processing to the realization of
cash or cash equivalents. The Group’s consulting and management service titled the Company’s name for
the early stage of the project has an operating cycle that starts from the permission for relevant managed
shopping malls to use the brands that are intangible assets of the Group and ends upon the opening
of such managed shopping malls. The Group’s commercial management and consultation service for
construction project has an operating cycle that starts from the provision of relevant consultation service
for the construction of managed shopping malls and ends upon the opening of such managed shopping
malls. The Group’s business of Owned/Leased Portfolio Shopping Malls, business relating to managed
shopping malls other than the consulting and management service titled the Company’s name for the
early stage of the project, business of product sales and relevant services as well as other businesses
have an operating cycle of or less than 12 months. The Group takes 12 months as the criterion to
categorize assets and liabilities.

4. Functional currency

Renminbi (“RMB”) is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company and its
domestic subsidiaries operate. Therefore, the Company and its domestic subsidiaries choose RMB as
their functional currency. The Company’s foreign subsidiaries choose HKD as its functional currency
based on the currency in the main economic environment where they operate. The Group adopts RMB to
prepare the financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2017

(1) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

5

Accounting treatment of business combination under or not under the common control

Business combinations are classified into business combinations involving enterprises under common
control and business combinations not involving enterprises under common control.

5.1

5.2

Business combinations involving enterprises under common control

A business combination involving enterprises under common control is a business combination in
which all of the combining enterprises are ultimately controlled by the same party or parties both
before and after the combination, and that control is not transitory.

Assets and liabilities obtained are measured at their respective carrying amounts as recorded by
the combining entities at the date of the combination. The difference between the carrying amount
of the net assets obtained and the carrying amount of the consideration paid for the combination
is adjusted to the share premium in capital reserve. If the share premium is not sufficient to absorb
the difference, any excess is adjusted against retained earnings.

Costs that are directly attributable to the combination are charged to profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Business combinations not involving enterprises under common control

A business combination not involving enterprises under common control is a business combination
in which all of the combining enterprises are not ultimately controlled by the same party or parties
before and after the combination.

The cost of combination is the aggregate of the fair values, at the acquisition date, of the assets
given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity securities issued by the acquirer in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Where a business combination not involving enterprises under common
control is achieved in stages that involve multiple transactions, the cost of combination is the sum
of the consideration paid at the acquisition date and the fair value at the acquisition date of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree. The intermediary expenses incurred by the
acquirer in respect of auditing, legal services, valuation and consultancy services, etc. and other
associated general and administrative expenses attributable to the business combination are
recognized in profit or loss when they are incurred.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, acquired by the acquirer
in a business combination, that meet the recognition criteria are measured at fair value at the
acquisition date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2017

(I SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

58 Accounting treatment of business combination under or not under the common control
(Continued)

5.2

Business combinations not involving enterprises under common control (CONTINUED)

Where the cost of combination exceeds the acquirer’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets, the difference is treated as an asset and recognized as goodwill, which is
measured at cost on initial recognition. Where the cost of combination is less than the acquirer’s
interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets, the acquirer firstly reassesses
the measurement of the fair values of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities and measurement of the cost of combination. If after that reassessment, the cost of
combination is still less than the acquirer’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets, the acquirer recognizes the remaining difference immediately in profit or loss for the
current period.

Goodwill arising on a business combination is measured at cost less accumulated impairment
losses, and is presented separately in the consolidated financial statements.

6. Preparation of consolidated financial statement

The scope of consolidation in the consolidated financial statements is determined on the basis of control.
Control exists when the investor has power over the investee; is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its
returns. The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes of the above elements of the definition of control.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases
when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.

For a subsidiary disposed of by the Group, the operating results and cash flows before the date
of disposal (the date when control is lost) are included in the consolidated income statement and
consolidated statement of cash flows, as appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2017

(1) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

6.

Preparation of consolidated financial statement (Continued)

For a subsidiary acquired through a business combination not involving enterprises under common
control, the operating results and cash flows from the acquisition date (the date when control is obtained)
are included in the consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of cash flows, as
appropriate.

No matter when the business combination occurs in the reporting period, subsidiaries acquired through
a business combination involving enterprises under common control or the party being absorbed under
merger by absorption are included in the Group’s scope of consolidation as if they had been included in
the scope of consolidation from the date when they first came under the common control of the ultimate
controlling party. Their operating results and cash flows from the beginning of the earliest reporting
period or from the date when they first came under the common control of the ultimate controlling
party are included in the consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of cash flows, as
appropriate.

The significant accounting policies and accounting periods adopted by the subsidiaries are determined
based on the uniform accounting policies and accounting periods set out by the Company.

The effects of all intra-group transactions are eliminated on consolidation.

The portion of subsidiaries’ equity that is not attributable to the Company is treated as non-controlling
interest and presented as “non-controlling interest” in the consolidated balance sheet within shareholders’
equity. The portion of net profits or losses of subsidiaries for the period attributable to non-controlling
interest is presented as “non-controlling interest” in the consolidated income statement below the “net
profit” line item.

When the amount of loss for the period attributable to the minority shareholders of a subsidiary exceeds
the minority shareholders’ portion of the opening balance of owners’ equity of the subsidiary, the excess
amount is still allocated against non-controlling interest.

Acquisition of non-controlling interest or disposal of interest in a subsidiary that does not result in the
loss of control over the subsidiary is accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Company’s interests and non-controlling interest are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiary. The difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interest are
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is adjusted to capital reserve under
owners’ equity. If the capital reserve is not sufficient to absorb the difference, the excess is adjusted
against retained earnings.

Where equity interests in an acquiree are acquired in stages through multiple transactions ultimately
constituting a business combination not involving entities under common control, the acquirer determines
if these transactions are considered to be “a bundled transaction”. If yes, these transactions are
accounted for as a single transaction where control is obtained. If no, these transactions are accounted
for as multiple transactions where control is obtained at the acquisition date; In this case, the acquirer
remeasures its previously-held equity interests in the acquiree at their fair value on the acquisition date
and recognizes any differences between such fair value and carrying amounts in profit or loss for the
period. Where equity interests in an acquiree held before the acquisition date involve changes in other
comprehensive income or changes in other owners’ equity under equity method, they are transferred to
income for the period that the acquisition date belongs to.
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(I SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

6.

Preparation of consolidated financial statement (Continued)

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary due to disposal of certain equity interest or other
reasons, any retained interest is re-measured at its fair value at the date when control is lost. The
difference between (i) the aggregate of the consideration received on disposal and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the share of the former subsidiary’s net assets cumulatively calculated
from the acquisition date according to the original proportion of ownership interest is recognized as
investment income for the period of losing control, and at the same time adjusted against goodwill. Other
comprehensive income associated with investment in the former subsidiary is reclassified to investment
income in the period in which control is lost.

Classification of joint arrangements and accounting treatment for joint ventures

There are two types of joint arrangements — joint operations and joint ventures. The type of joint
arrangements is determined based on the rights and obligations of joint operator to the joint arrangements
by considering the factors, such as the structure, the legal form of the arrangements, and the contractual
terms, etc. A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the joint operators have rights to the assets,
and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. A joint venture is a joint arrangement
whereby the joint ventures have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

The Group adopts the equity method to account the investment in joint ventures. Please specifically refer
to Note (Ill) “14.3.2. Long-term equity investment accounted for by equity method”.

The Group as a joint operator recognizes the following items in relation to its interest in a joint operation:
its solely-held assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; its solely-assumed liabilities, including
its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from
the joint operation; its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and its
solely-incurred expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly. The Group accounts for
the recognized assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in
accordance with the requirements applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017

(1) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

8.

Standards for determining cash and cash equivalent

Cash comprises cash on hand and deposits that can be readily withdrawn on demand. Cash equivalents
are the Group’s short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Translation of transactions and financial statements denominated in foreign Currencies

9.1

9.2

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies

A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition, by applying the spot exchange
rate on the date of the transaction.

At the balance sheet date, foreign currency monetary items are translated into RMB using the
spot exchange rates at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising from the differences
between the spot exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date and those on initial
recognition or at the previous balance sheet date are recognized in profit or loss for the period,
except that exchange differences related to a specific-purpose borrowing denominated in foreign
currency that qualify for capitalization are capitalized as part of the cost of the qualifying asset
during the capitalization period.

When the consolidated financial statements include foreign operation(s), if there is foreign
currency monetary item constituting a net investment in a foreign operation, exchange difference
arising from changes in exchange rates are recognized as “exchange differences arising on
translation of financial statements denominated in foreign currencies” in shareholders’ equity, and
in profit and loss for the period upon disposal of the foreign operation.

Foreign currency non-monetary items measured at historical cost are translated to the amounts in
functional currency at the spot exchange rates on the dates of the transactions and the amounts in
functional currency remain unchanged.

Translation of financial statements denominated in foreign currencies

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements, financial statements of a
foreign operation are translated from the foreign currency into RMB using the following method:
assets and liabilities on the balance sheet are translated at the spot exchange rate prevailing at
the balance sheet date; equity items are translated at the spot exchange rates at the dates on
which such items arise; all items in the income statement as well as items reflecting the distribution
of profits are translated at spot exchange rates on the dates of the transactions; The difference
between the translated assets and the aggregate of liabilities and shareholders’ equity items is
recognized as other comprehensive income and included in shareholders’ equity.
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(I SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

9.

10.

Translation of transactions and financial statements denominated in foreign Currencies
(Continued)

9.2

Translation of financial statements denominated in foreign currencies (Continued)

Cash flows arising from a transaction in foreign currency and the cash flows of a foreign subsidiary
are translated at an exchange rate which approximates the spot exchange rate on the date of the
cash flows. The effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents is regarded as a
reconciling item and presented separately in the cash flow statement as “effect of exchange rate
changes on cash and cash equivalents”.

The opening balances and the comparative figures of prior year are presented at the translated
amounts in the prior year’s financial statements.

Financial Instrument

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. For financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs
are immediately recognized in profit or loss. For other financial assets and financial liabilities, relevant
transaction costs are included in their initial recognized amounts.

10.1

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a
financial liability (or a group of financial assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest
income or interest expense over the relevant period, using the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset or financial liability.

When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates future cash flows considering
all contractual terms of the financial asset or financial liability (without considering future credit
losses), and also considers all fees paid or received between the parties to the contract giving rise
to the financial asset and financial liability that are an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs, and premiums or discounts, etc.
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(1) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

10.  Financial Instrument (Continued)
10.2 Classification, recognition and measurement of financial assets

On initial recognition, the Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the four categories,
including financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments, loans
and receivables, and available-for-sale financial assets. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognized and derecognized on a trade date basis. Financial assets of the
Group include loans and receivables, and available-for-sale financial assets.

10.2.1 Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. Financial assets classified as loans and
receivables by the Group include notes receivable, accounts receivable, other receivables,
other current assets, other non-current assets and long-term receivables.

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method. Gain or loss arising from derecognition, impairment or amortization is
recognized in profit or loss.

10.2.2 Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets include financial assets that are not classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables or held-to-maturity
investments.

Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value, and gains
or losses arising from changes in the fair value are recognized as other comprehensive
income, except for impairment losses and exchange difference related to monetary
financial assets in foreign currency and amortized cost which are recognized in profit or
loss until the financial assets are derecognized for the period, and upon the derecognition,
the gains or losses are released and recognized in profit or loss.

Interests obtained and the dividends declared by the investee during the period in which
the available-for-sale financial assets are held, are recognized in investment gains.

For investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active
market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at cost.

Red Star Macalline Group Corporation Ltd.

141




142

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2017

(I SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

10.  Financial Instrument (Continued)

10.83 Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date the carrying amounts of financial assets other
than those at fair value through profit or loss. If there is objective evidence that a financial asset
is impaired, the Group determines the amount of any impairment loss. Objective evidence that a
financial asset is impaired is evidence that, arising from one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset, which can be
reliably measured, have been affected.

Objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired includes the following observable events:

(1)

(2)
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Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;

A breach of contract by the borrower, such as a default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments;

The Group, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
granting a concession to the borrower;

It becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisations;

The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial
difficulties of the issuer;

Upon an overall assessment of a group of financial assets, observable data indicates
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from the group of
financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot
yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the group. Such observable data
includes:

- Adverse changes in the payment status of borrower in the group of assets;

- Economic conditions in the country or region of the borrower which may lead to a
failure to pay the group of assets;



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2017

(1) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

10.  Financial Instrument (Continued)
10.83 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(7) Significant adverse changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment in
which the equity instrument issuer operates, indicating that the cost of the investment in the
equity instrument may not be recovered by the investor;

(8) A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument
below its cost;

(9) Other objective evidence indicating there is an impairment of a financial asset.
- Impairment of financial assets measured at amortized cost

If financial assets carried at amortized cost are impaired, the carrying amounts
of the financial assets are reduced to the present value of estimated future cash
flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The amount of reduction is
recognized as an impairment loss in profit or loss. If, subsequent to the recognition
of an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortized cost, there is objective
evidence of a recovery in value of the financial assets which can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment is recognized, the previously
recognized impairment loss is reversed. However, the reversal is made to the extent
that the carrying amount of the financial asset at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortized cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognized.

For a financial asset that is individually significant, the Group assesses the asset
individually for impairment. For a financial asset that is not individually significant,
the Group assesses the asset individually for impairment or includes the asset in
a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. If the Group determines that no objective evidence
of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset (whether significant
or not), it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively reassesses them for impairment. Assets for which
an impairment loss is individually recognized are not included in a group of
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics for collective assessment of
impairment.
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(I SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

10.  Financial Instrument (Continued)
10.83 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
9) Other objective evidence indicating there is an impairment of a financial asset. (Continued)
- Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

When an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, the cumulative loss arising
from decline in fair value previously recognized directly in capital reserve is
reclassified from the capital reserve to profit or loss. The amount of the cumulative
loss that is reclassified from capital reserve to profit or loss is the difference
between the acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortization) and
the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously
recognized in profit or loss.

If, subsequent to the recognition of an impairment loss on available-for-sale financial
assets, there is objective evidence of a recovery in value of the financial assets
which can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment is
recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed. The amount of
reversal of impairment loss on available-for-sale equity instruments is recognized
as other comprehensive income, while the amount of reversal of impairment loss on
available-for-sale debt instruments is recognized in profit or loss.

- Impairment of financial assets measured at cost

If an impairment loss has been incurred on an investment in unquoted equity
instrument (without a quoted price in an active market) whose fair value cannot
be reliably measured, or on a derivative financial asset that is linked to and must
be settled by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument, the carrying amount
of the financial asset is reduced to the present value of estimated future cash
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
The amount of reduction is recognized as an impairment loss in profit or loss. The
impairment loss on such financial asset is not reversed once it is recognized.
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(1) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

10.  Financial Instrument (Continued)

10.4

10.5

Transfer of financial assets

The Company derecognizes a financial asset if one of the following conditions is satisfied: (1)
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire; (2) the financial asset has
been transferred and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset is
transferred to the transferee; (3) although the financial asset has been transferred, the Company
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset
but has not retained control of the financial asset.

If the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a financial asset, and it retains control of the financial asset, it recognizes the financial asset to the
extent of its continuing involvement in the transferred financial asset and recognizes an associated
liability. The extent of the Company’s continuing involvement in the transferred asset is the extent
to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset.

For a transfer of a financial asset in its entirety that satisfies the derecognition criteria, the
difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset transferred; and the sum of the
consideration received from the transfer and any cumulative gain or loss that has been recognized
in other comprehensive income, is recognized in profit or loss.

If a part of the transferred financial asset qualifies for derecognition, the carrying amount of
the transferred financial asset is allocated between the part that continues to be recognized
and the part that is derecognized, based on the respective fair values of those parts. The
difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part derecognized; and the sum of the
consideration received for the part derecognized and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to
the part derecognized which has been previously recognized in other comprehensive income, is
recognized in profit or loss.

Classification, recognition and measurement of financial liabilities

Financial instruments issued by the Group are classified in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements instead of the legal form and in line with the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument; on initial recognition, financial instruments or their component
parts are classified as either financial liabilities or equity instruments.

On initial recognition, financial liabilities are classified into financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss and other financial liabilities.
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(I SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

10.  Financial Instrument (Continued)

10.5 Classification, recognition and measurement of financial liabilities (Continued)

10.5.1 Financial liabilities at FVTPL
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Financial liabilities at FVTPL consist of financial liabilities held for trading and those
designated as at FVTPL on initial recognition.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if one of the following conditions is
satisfied: (1) it has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing in the near
term; (2) on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that
the Group manages together and there is objective evidence that the Group has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; (3) it is a derivative, except for a derivative that
is a designated and effective hedging instrument, or a financial guarantee contract, or a
derivative that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of an unquoted equity instrument
(without a quoted price in an active market) whose fair value cannot be reliably measured.

A financial liability may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition only when one
of the following conditions is satisfied: (1) such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise result from
measuring liabilities or recognizing the gains or losses on them on different bases; (2) the
financial liability forms part of a group of financial liabilities or a group of financial assets
and financial liabilities, which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair
value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is reported to key management personnel on
that basis; (3) it is a qualifying hybrid instrument containing embedded derivatives.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are subsequently measured at fair value. Any gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair value or any dividend or interest expenses related to the
financial liabilities are recognized in profit or loss.
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(1) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

10.  Financial Instrument (Continued)
10.5 Classification, recognition and measurement of financial liabilities (Continued)
10.5.2 Other financial liabilities

For a derivative liability that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of an unquoted
equity instrument (without a quoted price in an active market) whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured, it is subsequently measured at cost. Other financial liabilities other than
financial guarantee contract obligations are subsequently measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest method, with gain or loss arising from derecognition or amortization
recognized in profit or loss.

10.5.3 Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract by which the guarantor and the lender agree
that the guarantor would settle the debts or bear obligations in accordance with terms of
the contract in case the borrower fails to settle the debts. Financial guarantee contracts
that are not designated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, are initially
measured at their fair values less the directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, they are measured at the higher of: the amount determined in
accordance with Accounting Standard for Business Enterprises No. 13 — Contingencies;
and the amount initially recognized less cumulative amortization recognized in accordance
with the principles set out in Accounting Standard for Business Enterprises No. 14 —
Revenue.

10.6 Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes a financial liability (or part of it) only when the underlying present
obligation (or part of it) is discharged. An agreement between the Group (an existing borrower)
and an existing lender to replace the original financial liability with a new financial liability with
substantially different terms is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability
and the recognition of a new financial liability.

When the Group derecognizes a financial liability or a part of it, it recognizes the difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability (or part of the financial liability) derecognized
and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or new financial liabilities
assumed) in profit or loss.
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(I SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

10.  Financial Instrument (Continued)

10.7

10.8

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

When the Group has a legal right that is currently enforceable to set off the recognized financial
assets and financial liabilities, and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the financial
asset and settle the financial liability simultaneously, financial assets and financial liabilities are
offset with the net amounts presented on the balance sheet. Otherwise, financial assets and
financial liabilities are separately presented on the balance sheet without offsetting.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group
after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued (including refinanced), repurchased,
sold or cancelled by the Group are treated as changes in equity. Changes in the fair value of
equity instruments are not recognized. Transaction costs related to equity transactions are
deducted from equity.

The Group’s distribution to holders of equity instruments are treated as a distribution of profits,
payment of stock dividends does not affect total shareholders’ equity.

11. Receivables

111

Receivables at individually significant amount and for which bad debts are provided
individually

The criterion of individually A receivable that exceeds RMB5,000,000 and other receivables
significant amount exceeds RMB10,000,000 are deemed as an individually
significant receivable by the Group.

Method of bad debt provision For receivables that are individually significant, the Group tests
in respect of receivables at the receivables individually for impairment. Any receivable not
individually significant amount impaired in the individual test for impairment is included in a

group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
to be tested for impairment collectively. Any receivable with
impairment loss recognized in the individual test is not is
included in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics to be tested for impairment collectively.
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(1) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

11. Receivables (Continued)

11.2 Receivables for which bad debts are provided by portfolio of credit risk characteristics

Basis for determining The Group classifies receivables other than accounts
receivables for which bad receivable and other receivables for which bad debts are
debt are provided by credit provided individually, in accordance with their credit risk
risk portfolio characteristics and relevance as different types of financial

assets. These credit risks usually reflect the ability of debtor
in repaying all debts due based on the contractual terms of
relevant assets, and are related to the forecast on future cash
flows of asset under assessment.

Receivables are classified by the Group based on the historical
loss experience, current economic performance and available
security guarantees for repayments relating to the portfolio
of receivables with similar credit risk characteristics in prior
years as well as estimated losses existing in the portfolio of
receivables into (1) credit portfolio of accounts receivable; (2)
credit portfolio | of other receivables; (3) credit portfolio Il of
other receivables; (4) credit portfolio Ill of other receivables;
and (5) portfolio of loans extended.

Policies of bad debt provision o Credit portfolio for accounts receivable: it is to be
in respect of receivables for determined based on historical loss experience and
which bad debts are provided current economic performance according to similar
by credit risk portfolio credit risk characteristics as well as estimated losses

existing in the portfolio of such accounts receivable,
and for which bad debt is provided by aging analysis;

. Credit portfolio | of other receivables: it consists of sales
proceeds collected on behalf of the tenants due from
third party payment institutions. The Group believes, this
portfolio has minor credit risks, thus for which no bad
debt is provided;
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(I SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

11. Receivables (Continued)

11.2 Receivables for which bad debts are provided by portfolio of credit risk characteristics
(Continued)

° Credit portfolio Il of other receivables: it consists of
other receivables within the normal collection period with
adequate securities/guarantees or other evidence of
recoverability. It is to be determined based on historical
loss experience and current economic performance
according to similar credit risk characteristics as well
as estimated losses existing in the portfolio of such
receivables, and for which bad debt is provided by
balance percentage;

. Credit portfolio Il of other receivables: it consists of
other receivables other than those covered by credit
portfolio | and Il of other receivables. The proportions
of bad debt provided for different age groups of such
portfolio in the current period are determined based
on the loss rate of such type of receivables and with
reference to the status quo, and for which bad debt is
provided by aging analysis;

° Portfolio of loans: it consists of microfinance loans
granted to third parties by a microfinance company of
the Group with its self-owned funds; and for which risk
reserve is provided at 1% of the balance of loans being
granted.

Please see tables below for details of proportions of bad debt
provided by aging analysis and balance percentage.
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(I SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

11. Receivables (Continued)

11.2 Receivables for which bad debts are provided by portfolio of credit risk characteristics
(Continued)

Portfolios for which bad debts are provided by aging analysis:
Aging analysis method

Proportions of bad debt provided (%)

Credit portfolio Il of
Accounts receivable other receivables

Within 1 year 5 5
110 2 years 10 10
2 to 3 years 20 20
310 4 years 50 50
410 5 years 80 80
Over 5 years 100 100

Portfolios for which bad debts are provided by balance percentage:

Proportions of bad
Name of portfolios debt provided

(%)

Credit portfolio Il of other receivables 5%

11.83 Receivables not at individually significant amount but for which bad debts are provided
individually:

Reason for individual bad debt Objective evidence of impairment
provision
Policy of bad debt provision Test for impairment is conducted individually, and the
difference between estimated recoverable amount and book
value is recognized in bad debt provision.
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(I SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

12.

Inventory

121

12.2

12.3

12.4

12.5

Categories of inventories

The Group’s inventories mainly include low-value consumables and goods in inventory, etc.
Inventories are initially measured at cost. Cost of inventories comprises all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other expenditures incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

Valuation Methods of the Inventory delivered

When the inventories are delivered, the actual costs of the delivered inventories are determined
using the method of moving weighted average.

Basis for determining net realizable value of inventories and policies of impairment provisions
for inventories

On the balance sheet date, the inventories shall be calculated by the lower of cost and net
realized value. When the net realizable value is less than the cost, inventory provision is required.
The net realizable value represents the amount derived by deducting the potential cost, estimated
sale cost and relative taxes to the completion date from the estimated selling price of the inventory
in daily activities. The company determined net realizable value of inventories, made the obtained
conclusive evidence as basis, and considered the purposes of holding inventories, events after
the balance sheet date and other factors.

The provision for inventory shall be provided by the difference between the cost of the individual
inventory and its net realized value.

In case the factors impacting the inventory provision are eliminated, making the net realizable
value be higher than the book value, the write-down amount should be recovered from the
previous write-down amount of inventory provision and the corresponding amount shall be
reversed to current profit and loss.

The inventory system for Inventory

The inventory system is a perpetual inventory system.

Amortization method of low-value consumables materials

Low-price easily-worn materials are amortized by the one-time writing-off method.
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(1) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

13.

Classified as assets held for sale

The Company shall classify a non-current asset or disposal group as held for sale if its carrying amount
will be recovered principally through a sale transaction (including a non-monetary asset exchange of
commercial substance) rather than through continuous use.

Non-current assets or disposal group classified as held for sale shall meet the following criteria: (1)
Disposable immediately under current conditions based on similar transactions for disposals of such
assets or practices for the disposal group; (2) Probable disposal; that is, a decision has been made on a
plan for disposal and an undertaking to purchase has been obtained, and the disposal is expected to be
completed within a year.

Where the Group has lost control of a subsidiary due to reasons such as disposal of investment in
a subsidiary, regardless of the Group retaining part equity investment after the disposal, upon the
investment in subsidiary intended to be disposed of satisfying the conditions for classification as held as
available-for-sale, the investment in subsidiary will be generally classified as held as available-for-sale in
the parent’s separate financial statements, and all assets and liabilities of the subsidiary is classified as
held as available-for-sale in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group measured held for sale non-current assets and disposal group at the lower of the fair value
less costs to sell and the carrying amount. Where book value is higher than the net value of fair value
less disposal expenses, the difference between book value and the net value of fair value less disposal
expenses is recognized as asset impairment loss in profit and loss in the current period, and at the same
time, provision is made for impairment of held as available-for-sale asset. Where there is increase in net
value of fair value less disposal expenses for non-current assets held as available-for-sale on subsequent
balance sheet dates, the previously charged difference should be recovered and reversed in asset
impairment loss recognized after classification as held as available-for-sale investment, with the reversal
amount recognized in profit and loss in the current period. Asset impairment loss recognized before
classification as held as available-for-sale investment is not reversible.

No depreciation or amortization is provided for a non-current asset in the non-current assets or disposal
groups held for sale. Interest and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a disposal group held for
sale shall continue to be recognized.

Equity investments in associates or joint ventures are all or partially classified as assets held for sale, the
portion classified as held for sale will no longer accounted for using the equity method from the date on
which it is classified as held for sale.
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(I SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

14. Long-term Equity Investment

141

14.2

Basis for determining joint control and significant influence over the investee

Control exists when the investor has power over the investee; is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee; and has the ability to use its power over the investee
to affect its returns. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of
the parties sharing control. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.
When determining whether an investing enterprise is able to exercise control or significant
influence over an investee, the effects of potential voting rights of the investee (for example,
warrants and convertible debts) held by the investing enterprises or other parties that are currently
exercisable or convertible have been considered.

Determination of investment cost

For a long-term equity investment acquired through a business combination involving enterprises
under common control, the initial investment cost of the long-term equity investment is the
attributable share of the carrying amount of the shareholders’ equity of the acquiree at the date
of combination in the consolidated financial statements of the ultimate controlling party. The
difference between the initial investment cost and the carrying amount of cash paid, non-cash
assets transferred and liabilities assumed is adjusted to capital reserve. If the balance of capital
reserve is not sufficient, any excess is adjusted to retained earnings. If the consideration of the
combination is satisfied by the issue of equity securities, the initial investment cost of the long-term
equity investment is the attributable share of the carrying amount of the shareholders’ equity of the
acquiree in the consolidated financial statements of the ultimate controlling party. The aggregate
face value of the shares issued is accounted for as share capital. The difference between the
initial investment cost and the aggregate face value of the shares issued is adjusted to capital
reserve. If the balance of capital reserve is not sufficient, any excess is adjusted to retained
earnings.

For a long-term equity investment acquired through business combination not involving
enterprises under common control, the initial investment cost of the long-term equity investment
is the cost of acquisition at the date of combination. For a business combination realized by two
or more transactions of exchange and ultimately not under the same control, different accounting
methods are adopted by the criteria of whether those transactions are classified as “a bundle
of transactions” or not. If yes, all exchange transactions are deemed as one transaction getting
control of the invested entity and are dealt with the relative accounting method. If no, the Company
regards the sum of book value of the equity investment of the invested entity plus added cost of
investment as the initial cost of investment. For such book value of the equity investment, if it is
accounted by method of equity, then the relative other comprehensive income is not accounted
for the period; if it is classified as available-for-sale financial asset, the difference between its fair
value and book value, together with the accumulated change to fair value which was originally
accounted as other comprehensive income will be taken into Profit & Loss for the current period.
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(1) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

14. Long-term Equity Investment (Continued)

14.2

14.3

Determination of investment cost (Continued)

The intermediary fees incurred by the absorbing party or acquirer such as audit, legal, valuation
and consulting fees, etc. and other related general and administrative expenses attributable to the
business combination are recognized in profit or loss when they are incurred.

The long-term equity investment acquired otherwise than through a business combination is
initially measured at its cost. When the entity is able to exercise significant influence or joint
control (but not control) over an investee, the cost of long-term equity investments is the sum of
the fair value of previously held equity investments determined in accordance with Accounting
Standard for Business Enterprises No. 22 — Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
(CAS 22) and the additional investment cost.

Subsequent measurement and recognition of profit or loss
14.3.1 Long-term equity investment accounted for by cost method

Long-term equity investments in subsidiaries are accounted for using the cost method in
the Company’s separate financial statements. A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled
by the Group.

Under the cost method, a long-term equity investment is measured at initial investment
cost. When additional investment is made or the investment is recouped, the cost of the
long-term equity investment is adjusted accordingly. Investment income is recognized in
the period in accordance with the attributable share of cash dividends or profit distributions
declared by the investee.
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(I SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

14. Long-term Equity Investment (Continued)

14.3 Subsequent measurement and recognition of profit or loss (Continued)

14.3.2 Long-term equity investment accounted for by equity method

2017 Annual Report

Except for all of part of the investment in associates and joint ventures classified as assets
held for sale, the Group accounts for investment in associates and joint ventures using the
equity method. An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence; a
joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the Group has rights to the net assets of the
arrangement.

Under the equity method, where the initial investment cost of a long-term equity investment
exceeds the Group’s share of the fair value of the investee’s identifiable net assets at the
time of acquisition, no adjustment is made to the initial investment cost. Where the initial
investment cost is less than the Group’s share of the fair value of the investee’s identifiable
net assets at the time of acquisition, the difference is recognized in profit or loss for the
period, and the cost of the long-term equity investment is adjusted accordingly.

Under the equity method, the Group recognizes its share of the net profit or loss and
other comprehensive income made by the investee as investment income and other
comprehensive income respectively, and adjust the carrying amount of the long-term equity
investment accordingly; the carrying amount of the investment is reduced by the portion
of any profit distributions or cash dividends declared by the investee that is distributed
to the Group; the share of the changes in owners’ equity of the investee other than
those arising from net profit or loss, other comprehensive income and profit distribution
are recognized in the capital reserve and the carrying amount of the long- term equity
investment is adjusted accordingly. The Group recognizes its share of the investee’s net
profit or loss after making appropriate adjustments based on the fair value of the investee’s
individual separately identifiable assets, etc. at the acquisition date. Where the accounting
policies and accounting period adopted by the investee are not consistent with those of
the Group, the Group shall adjust the financial statements of the investee to conform to its
own accounting policies and accounting period, and recognize investment income and
other comprehensive income based on the adjusted financial statements. For the Group’s
transactions with its associates and joint ventures where assets contributed or sold does
not constitute a business, unrealized intra-group profits or losses are recognized as
investment income or loss to the extent that those attributable to the Group’s proportionate
share of interest are eliminated. However, unrealized losses resulting from the Group’s
transactions with its associates and joint ventures which represent impairment losses on
the transferred assets are not eliminated.
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(1) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

14. Long-term Equity Investment (Continued)

14.3

14.4

Subsequent measurement and recognition of profit or loss (Continued)

The Group discontinues recognizing its share of net losses of the investee after the carrying
amount of the long-term equity investment together with any long-term interests that in substance
form part of its net investment in the investee is reduced to zero. If the Group has incurred
obligations to assume additional losses of the investee, a provision is recognized according to
the expected obligation, and recorded as investment loss for the period. Where net profits are
subsequently made by the investee, the Group resumes recognizing its share of those profits only
after its share of the profits exceeds the share of losses previously not recognized.

Disposal of long-term equity investments

For the disposal of a long-term equity investment, the difference between the proceeds actually
received and the book value is recognized in profit or loss for the period. For a long-term equity
investment accounted for by equity method, if the remaining equity after disposal is still accounted
for by equity method, relevant other comprehensive income recognized under the equity method
is accounted for on the same basis that the investee follows in disposing of relevant asset or
liability directly and is carried forward to profit or loss for the period proportionately; other equity
recognized for changes in equity relating to the investee except for net profit or loss, other
comprehensive income and profit distribution is carried forward to profit or loss for the period
proportionately.

For a long-term equity investment accounted for by cost method, if the remaining equity after
disposal is still accounted for by cost method, relevant other comprehensive income recognized
under equity method or under the standard for the recognition and measurement of financial
instruments before the control over investee being secured is accounted for on the same basis
that the investee follows in disposing of relevant asset or liability directly and is carried forward
to profit or loss for the period proportionately; other changes in equity recognized under equity
method in the net assets of the investee except for net profit or loss, other comprehensive income
and profit distribution is carried forward to profit or loss for the period proportionately.
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(I SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

14. Long-term Equity Investment (Continued)

14.4

Disposal of long-term equity investments (Continued)

In event that the Group loses control over an investee due to disposal of part of equity investments,
during preparing separate financial statement, if the remaining equity after disposal entitles joint
control or significant influence over the investee, such equity is accounted for by equity method
instead of other methods and adjusted as if it has been accounted for by equity method from the
date of its acquisition; if remaining equity after disposal cannot entitle joint control or significant
influence over the investee, such equity is accounted for by standard for the recognition and
measurement of financial instruments instead of other methods, and the difference between its fair
value and book value on the date of losing control is recognized in profit or loss for period. Other
comprehensive income recognized under equity method or under standard for the recognition
and measurement of financial instruments before the Group takes control over an investee is
accounted for on the same basis that the investee follows in disposing of relevant asset or liability
directly upon the Group losing control over the investee; other changes in equity recognized under
equity method in the net assets of the investee except for net profit or loss, other comprehensive
income and profit distribution is carried forward to profit or loss for the period upon the Group
losing control over the investee. Meanwhile, other comprehensive income and other equity are
carried forward proportionately if the remaining equity after disposal is accounted for by equity
method; and will be carried forward in full amount if the remaining equity is accounted for by
standard for the recognition and measurement of financial instruments instead of other methods.

In event that the Group loses joint control or significant influence over an investee due to disposal
of part of equity investments, remaining equity after disposal is accounted for by standard for
the recognition and measurement of financial instruments instead of other methods, and the
difference between its fair value and book value on the date of losing joint control or significant
influence is recognized in profit or loss for period. For other comprehensive income recognized
in the original equity investment due to the equity method is adopted, it shall be treated using
the same accounting basis as the investee used for direct disposal of relevant assets or liabilities
when ceasing to use the equity method. All owner’s equities which are recognized due to other
changes of owner’s equity except for net profits and losses, other comprehensive income and
profit distributions shall be transferred into the current profit or loss when ceasing to use the equity
method.
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(1) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

15.

16.

Investment Property

Investment property is any property held for rental earnings or capital appreciation or both. It includes
investment properties being leased out and buildings being leased out.

An investment property is measured initially at cost. Expenditure subsequently incurred for such
investment property is recognized in its cost if the economic benefits associated with such investment
property are probable to flow out and relevant costs can be measured reliably. Other subsequent
expenditures are recognized in profit or loss for the period of their occurrence.

There exists an active property trading market at the pace of the investment properties of the Group and
the market price of and other information relating to identical or similar properties are available to the
Group on the property trading market, which makes it possible to estimate the fair value of investment
properties in a reasonable manager. As such, the Group measures its investment properties by adopting
the fair value model with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss for the period.

Where an investment property is sold, transferred, retired or damaged, the income from its disposal net
of the book value and related taxes is recognized in profit or loss for the period.

Fixed Assets
16.1 The conditions of recognition

Fixed assets are tangible assets that are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and have useful lives of more than
one accounting year. A fixed asset is recognized only when the economic benefits associated with
the asset are probable to flow into the Group and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.
Fixed assets are initially measured at cost.

Subsequent expenditures incurred for the fixed asset are included in the cost of the fixed asset
if the economic benefits associated with the asset are probable to flow into the Group and the
subsequent expenditures can be measured reliably. Meanwhile the carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognized. Other subsequent expenditures except for above expenditures
that included in the cost of the fixed asset are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which
they are incurred.
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(I SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

16. Fixed Assets (Continued)

16.2

16.3

Depreciation method

A fixed asset is depreciated over its useful life using the straight-line method since the month
subsequent to the one in which it is ready for intended use. The useful life, estimated net residual
value rate and annual depreciation rate of each category of fixed assets are as follows:

Depreciation Residual Annual

Category period value rate depreciation rate

(years) (%)

Dedicated equipment 10 5 9.5
Electronic equipment,

appliances and furniture 3-5 5 19-31.67

Transportation equipment 5 5 19

Estimated net residual value of a fixed asset is the estimated amount that the Group would
currently obtain from disposal of the asset, after deducting the estimated costs of disposal, if the
asset were already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.

Others

If a fixed asset is upon disposal or no future economic benefits are expected to be generated from
its use or disposal, the fixed asset is derecognized. When a fixed asset is sold, transferred, retired
or damaged, the amount of any proceeds on disposal of the asset net of the carrying amount and
related taxes is recognized in profit or loss for the period.

The Group reviews the useful life and estimated net residual value of a fixed asset and the
depreciation method applied at least once at each financial year-end, and account for any change
as a change in an accounting estimate.
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(1) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

17.

18.

19.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress is measured at its actual costs. The actual costs include various construction
expenditures during the construction period, borrowing costs capitalized before it is ready for intended
use and other relevant costs. Construction in progress is not depreciated. Construction in progress is
transferred to a fixed asset when it is ready for intended use.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying asset are
capitalized when expenditures for such asset and borrowing costs are incurred and activities relating
to the acquisition, construction or production of the asset that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale have commenced; Capitalization of borrowing costs ceases when the qualifying asset
being acquired, constructed or produced becomes ready for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing
costs are recognized as expenses in the period when they are incurred.

Where funds are borrowed under a specific-purpose borrowing, the amount of interest to be capitalized
is the actual interest expense incurred on that borrowing for the period less any bank interest earned
from depositing the borrowed funds before being used on the asset or any investment income on the
temporary investment of those funds; Where funds are borrowed under general-purpose borrowings,
the Group determines the amount of interest to be capitalized on such borrowings by applying a
capitalization rate to the weighted average of the excess of cumulative expenditures on the asset over the
amounts of specific-purpose borrowings. The capitalization rate is the weighted average of the interest
rates applicable to the general-purpose borrowings.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets include software and trademark use rights.

An intangible asset is measured initially at cost. When an intangible asset with a finite useful life is
available for use, its initial carrying amount net of estimated net residual value and accumulated amount

of impairment provision is averagely amortized over its estimated useful life period by period using the
straight-line method.
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(I SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

19.

Intangible Assets (Continued)

The amortization method, useful life and estimated net residual value rate of each category of intangible
assets are as follows:

Category Amortization method Useful life Residual value rate
(years)

Trademark use rights Straight-line method 30 years 0%

Softwares Straight-line method 2-10 years 0%

Others Straight-line method 3 years 0%

At the end of the year, the Group reviews the useful life and amortization method of intangible assets, and
makes adjustments when necessary.

Research and development expenses

Expenditure on the research phase is recognized in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Expenditure on the development phase is capitalized as intangible assets only if all of the following

conditions are satisfied, expenditure on the development phase which cannot met all of the following

conditions are recognized in current profit or loss:

(1) It is technically feasible to complete the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

(2) Management intends to complete the intangible asset, and to use or sell it;

(3) It can be demonstrated how the intangible asset will generate economic benefits, including
demonstrating that there is an existing market for products produced by the intangible asset

or there is an existing market for the intangible asset itself, if the intangible asset is to be used
internally, the usage of it can be demonstrated;
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(1) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

19.

20.

Intangible Assets (Continued)
Research and development expenses (Continued)

(4) There are adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and the
ability to use of sell the intangible assets;

(5) The expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development phase can be reliably
measured.

Expenditures on research and development which cannot be distinguished between the research phase
and development phase are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

Impairment of Long-term Assets

The Group reviews the long-term equity investments, investment properties, fixed assets, construction
in progress, intangible assets with finite useful life at each balance sheet date to determine whether
there is any indication that they have suffered an impairment loss. If an impairment indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated.

Recoverable amount is estimated on individual basis. If it is not practical to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the recoverable amount of the asset group to which the asset belongs will
be estimated. The recoverable amount of an asset or asset group is the higher of its fair value less costs
of disposal and the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset or asset

group.

If such recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, a provision for impairment losses in respect
of the deficit is recognized in profit or loss for the period.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least at the end of each year. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill is considered together with the related assets groups, i.e., goodwill is reasonably allocated
to the related assets group(s) or each of assets group(s) expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. An impairment loss is recognized if the recoverable amount of the assets group or sets of
assets groups (including goodwill) is less than its carrying amount. The impairment loss is firstly allocated
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to such assets group or sets of assets groups,
and then to the other assets of the group pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset (other
than goodwill) in the group.

Once an impairment loss is recognized for above-mentioned assets, it will not be reversed in any
subsequent period.
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(I SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

21. Long-term Prepaid Expenses

Long-term prepaid expenses represent expenses incurred that should be borne and amortized over
the current and subsequent periods (together of more than one year). Long-term prepaid expenses are
amortized using the straight-line method over the expected periods in which benefits are derived.

22. Employee Benefits
22.1 Accounting treatment of short-term remuneration

Actually occurred short-term employee benefits are recognized as liabilities, with a corresponding
charge to the profit or loss for the period or in the costs of relevant assets in the accounting period
in which employees provide services to the Group. Staff welfare expenses incurred by the Group
are recognized in profit or loss for the period or the costs of relevant assets based on the actually
occurred amounts when it actually occurred. Non-monetary staff welfare expenses are measured
at fair value.

Payment made by the Group of social security contributions for employees such as premiums
or contributions on medical insurance, work injury insurance and maternity insurance, etc.
and payments of housing funds, as well as union running costs and employee education costs
provided in accordance with relevant requirements, are calculated according to prescribed bases
and percentages in determining the amount of employee benefits and recognized as relevant
liabilities, with a corresponding charge to the profit or loss for the period or the costs of relevant
assets in the accounting period in which employees provide services.

22.2 Accounting treatment of post-employment benefits
Post-employment benefits of the Group are defined contribution plans.

During the accounting period of rendering service to employees of the Group, amount which
should be paid according to defined contribution plans is recognized as liabilities, and recognized
in current profit or loss or related costs of assets.

22.3 Accounting treatment of termination benefits

When the Group provides termination benefits to employees, employee benefit liabilities are
recognized for termination benefits, with a corresponding charge to the profit or loss for the period
at the earlier of: when the Group cannot unilaterally withdraw the offer of termination benefits
because of the termination plan or a curtailment proposal; and when the Group recognizes costs
or expenses related to restructuring that involves the payment of termination benefits.
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ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

23.

24.

25.

Estimated liabilities

Estimated liabilities are recognized under the circumstance that the Group has a present obligation
related to a contingency, associated economic benefits are probable to flow out for the settlement of the
obligation, and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the balance sheet date, taking into account factors pertaining to a contingency
such as the risks, uncertainties and time value of money. Where the effect of the time value of money is
material, the amount of the provision is determined by discounting the related future cash outflows.

Share-based payments

The Group’s share-based payment is a transaction that grants an equity instrument or bears a liability
determined on the basis of an equity instrument in order to obtain services provided by employee. The
Group’s share-based payments are equity-settled share-based payments.

24.1 Equity-settled share-based payments

An equity-settled share-based payment in return for employee services is measured by the Group
at the fair value of the equity instrument granted to employee at the grant date. Such fair value is
expensed to relevant costs or expenses on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the best estimate of the number of equity instruments under exercisable rights, and the capital
reserve is increased accordingly. On each balance sheet date during the vesting period, the
Group makes the best estimation by referring to the latest available information on changed in the
number of employees with exercisable rights and other subsequent information, and revises the
estimate of the number of equity instruments under exercisable rights. The impact of the above
estimates is recognized in relevant cost or expense for the period and the capital reserve is
adjusted accordingly.

Revenue
25.1 Revenue from sales of goods and home decoration
25.1.1 Revenue from sale of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognized when the Group has transferred to the buyer
the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods; the Group retains neither
continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor
effective control over the goods sold; the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; it is
probable that the associated economic benefits will flow to the Group; and the associated
costs incurred or to be incurred can be measured reliably.
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ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

25. Revenue (Continued)
25.1 Revenue from sales of goods and home decoration (Continued)
25.1.2 Revenue from home decoration

It refers to the revenue received by the Group from home design and decoration works
provided by the Group. The revenue is recognized by the Group under the circumstance
that associated economic benefits are probable to flow into the Group after relevant
services have been provided and settled.

25.2 Revenue from the lease and management of Owned/Leased Portfolio Shopping Malls

It refers to the revenue received by the Group from provision of booth leases and related services
for tenants who signed up lease contracts to run business at its Owned/Leased Portfolio Shopping
Malls. The revenue is determined according to the rental area, unit price, contractual term and so
on stipulated in the relevant contract or agreement and recognized on a straight-line basis within
the contractual period.

25.3 Revenue Relating to Managed Shopping Malls

25.3.1 Revenue from the consulting and management service titled the Company’s name for
the early stage of the project

It refers to the revenue received by the Group under the relevant contract or agreement,
pursuant to which relevant Managed Shopping Malls are permitted to use the brands that
are intangible asset of the Group, and from the provision of consultation, tenant sourcing
and other services to partners of or project companies under the Managed Shopping Malls.

Before the opening of Managed Shopping Malls, the Group shall, pursuant to relevant
contract or agreement, permit the relevant Managed Shopping Malls to use the brands
that are intangible assets of the Company in the preparatory work prior in early stage
of their construction. The initial revenue from the consulting and management services
titled the Company’s name for the early stage of the projects is recognized by the Group
at the amount agreed in the contract, under the circumstance that there is no significant
uncertainty about the recoverability of the amount under the right to payment collection
acquired in the contract and that the following conditions are satisfied: (1) the Group and
the partners have entered into management framework agreement or contract; (2) the
partners have obtained land transaction confirmation or land use right certificate;

166 2017 Annual Report




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2017

(1) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

25. Revenue (Continued)

25.3 Revenue Relating to Managed Shopping Malls (Continued)

25.3.1 Revenue from the consulting and management service titled the Company’s name for

2532

the early stage of the project (Continued)

Upon the opening of Managed Shopping Malls, the Group shall, pursuant to relevant
contract or agreement, permit the Managed Shopping Malls to mark the brands that are
intangible assets of the Company upon the opening of business, and conclude relevant
consultation services in early stage. The rest revenue from the consulting and management
service titled the Company’s name for the early stage of the project is recognized by the
Group at the amount agreed in the contract, under the circumstance that the Managed
Shopping Malls have opened for business and there is no significant uncertainty about the
recoverability of the amount under the right to payment collection acquired in the contract.

The Group provides tenant sourcing services to Managed Shopping Malls before their
opening of the business and the commissions for which is recognized at the amount agreed
in the contract upon the opening of the business and upon the satisfaction of completion
rate for tenant sourcing agreed in the contract.

Revenue from annual consulting and management service titled the Company’s name
for the project

After the opening of business of Managed Shopping Malls, the Group shall, on the terms
and within the validity period of relevant contract, permit the Managed Shopping Malls to
continuously mark the brands that are intangible assets of the Group, and continuously
provide management services (covering layout, planning, tenant sourcing, leasing,
business planning, advertising, operation and after-sales service, etc.) to the Managed
Shopping Malls, while the Managed Shopping Malls may, within the validity period of
relevant contract, continuously use the brands that are intangible assets of the Group.
Relevant management services are provided on an on-going basis within the validity period
of the contract. The revenue arising there from is recognized by the Group in the period
that the management services are provided at the amount calculated and determined in
accordance with charging methods agreed in the contract.
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25. Revenue (Continued)

25.3 Revenue Relating to Managed Shopping Malls (Continued)

25.3.3 Revenue from commercial management and consultation service for construction

25.3.4

project

It refers to revenue received by the Group from the provision of management and
consultation services of Red Star Macalline to builders for the construction of some
Managed Shopping Malls, including shopping mall design, consultation on construction
and decoration solution, coordination and supervision on the site of construction as well
as control of project cost and progress. The amount thereof is determined by the Group
in consultation with the builders in line with the realities of the project. The revenue is
recognized by the Group at the amount agreed in the contract under the circumstance
that relevant service has been provided, relevant Managed Shopping Mall has been
constructed and reached operational status, and relevant service confirmation issued by
the builder is obtained.

Revenue from commercial consultation fees and tenant sourcing commissions

It refers the revenue received by the Group from the provision of commercial consultation
services and tenant sourcing consultation services in the stage of development planning
for properties in operation other than Owned/Leased/JV/associate Portfolio Shopping Malls
and Managed Shopping Malls. The revenue is recognized by the Group at the amount
agreed in the contract under the circumstance that relevant service has been provided,
relevant service confirmation issued by the builder is obtained and associated economic
benefits are probable to flow into the Group.

25.4 Other revenues

Other revenues received by the Group mainly include: strategic consultation fee, joint marketing
income and project construction income.

25.4.1
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Revenue from strategic consultation fees

It refers the revenue received by the Group for the continuous provision of operational
analysis, information consultation, brand rating and assessment consultation, tenant
sourcing and matching and booth coordination and other services on the terms and within
the validity period of the agreement entered into between the Group and home decoration
companies and furniture manufacturers. The revenue is recognized by the Group at the
amount agreed in the agreement a straight-line basis within the validity period of the
agreement.
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25. Revenue (Continued)
25.4 Other revenues (Continued)
25.4.2 Joint marketing income

It refers to the revenue received by the Group for the provision of business planning
service, media production and other services during the joint marketing activities with
brand manufacturers and tenants. The revenue is recognized by the Group at the amount
agreed by the parties under the circumstance that relevant service has been provided,
amount of service fees is confirmed by brand manufacturers and tenants and associated
economic benefits are probable to flow into the Group.

25.4.3 Project construction income

The revenue received by the Group from external project construction works undertaken
by the Group is recognized pursuant to construction contracts. The revenue is recognized
as contractual revenue and contractual expenses by the method of completion percentage
at the balance sheet date under the circumstance that the outcome of the construction
contract can be estimated reliably. The progress of contract is determined according to
the proportion of actual contractual costs being accrued cumulatively to the total estimated
contractual costs.

Where the outcome of the construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, if the
contractual cost is recoverable, the contractual revenue is recognized to the extent of
recoverability of the actual contractual c